## Inverse spectral theory and relative determinants of elliptic operators on surfaces with cusps

Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Doktortitels (Dr. rer. nat.)

 $\operatorname{der}$ 

 $Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen\ Fakult \"at$ 

 $\operatorname{der}$ 

Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

vorgelegt von

Clara Lucía Aldana Domínguez

aus

 $Bogot\acute{a}$ 

Bonn 2008

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn.

1. Referent: Prof. Dr. Werner Müller

2. Referent: Prof. Dr. Sylvie Paycha.

Tag der Promotion: 16 Januar 2009.

Diese Dissertation ist auf dem Hochschulschriftenserver der ULB Bonn unter http://hss.ulb.uni-bonn.de/diss\_online\_elektronisch publiziert.

Erscheinungsjahr: 2009.

# Summary

This thesis concerns relative determinants for Laplacians on surfaces with asymptotically cusps ends and the inverse spectral problem on surfaces with cusps. We consider (M, g), a surface with cusps, and a metric on the surface that is a conformal transformation of the initial metric  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$ .

In the first part we find conditions  $\varphi$  that make it possible to define the relative determinant of the pair  $(\Delta_h, \Delta_g)$ . We prove Polyakov's formula for the relative determinant and study the extremal values of this determinant as a function of unit area metrics inside a conformal class. We prove that if the maximum exists it has to be attained at the metric of constant curvature. We discuss necessary conditions for the existence of a maximizer.

In the second part we restrict our attention to hyperbolic surfaces of fixed genus and a fixed number of cusps. We study the relative determinant as a function on the moduli space for this kind of surfaces and use the results in [19] to prove that it tends to zero at the boundary of the moduli space.

In the third part we return to general surfaces with cusps. We prove a splitting formula for the relative determinant and use it to prove compactness in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology of sets of isospectral metrics in a given conformal class. We assume that the conformal factors  $\varphi$  have support in a fixed compact set of M.

# Contents

1	Background theory		1
	1.1 Notation and some definitions		1
	1.2 Spectral theory of surfaces with cusps		3
	1.3 Conformal transformations		5
	1.4 Injectivity radius		6
	1.5 Heat kernels and estimates		7
	1.5.1 The heat kernel on a surface with cusps		8
	1.5.2 Other heat kernels $\ldots$		9
	1.6 Duhamel's Principle		11
	1.7 Gauss-Bonnet formula		12
	1.8 Regularized determinants on compact manifolds		12
	1.9 Relative determinants		14
2	Trace class property of relative heat operators		15
_	2.1 Trace class property for relative heat operators of conformal transformations		16
	2.1.1 Trace class property of $(\Delta_q - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}$		18
	2.1.2 Trace class property of $e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_a T^{-1} - \Delta_h)$		21
	2.2 Operators on the cusp $\ldots$		22
3	Expansion of relative heat traces for small time		26
	3.1 Expansion of the trace of $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}$		26
	3.2 Expansion for other relative heat traces.		40
4	Polyakov's formula for the relative determinant, extremals		42
	4.1 Definition of the relative determinant	•••	42
	4.2 Polyakov's formula	• •	44
	4.3 Extremal properties of the relative determinant	•••	51
<b>5</b>	Boundedness and comparison		53
6	Splitting formula for the relative determinant		60
	6.1 Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator for $\Delta_g$		60
	6.1.1 Definition and properties		60
	6.1.2 Existence and properties for $\mathcal{N}$		64
	6.2 Splitting formula for the relative determinant		66

7	Compactness of isospectral sets of conformal metrics	73
Α	Sobolev spaces         A.1 Closed manifolds	<b>83</b> 83 84
в	Spectral shift functionsB.1Spectral shift function for a surface with cuspsB.2Spectral shift function for $(\Delta, \Delta_{1,0})$	<b>86</b> 87 92

# Introduction

In this thesis we study the relative (regularized) determinant of the Laplace operator on surfaces with cusps. Regularized determinants of elliptic operators play an important role in many fields of mathematics and mathematical physics. They were initially introduced by D. B. Ray and M. I. Singer in [41] in relation to *R*-torsion. Let *A* be a self-adjoint non-negative elliptic pseudodifferential operator of order *m* on a compact Riemannian manifold of dimension *n*. Then *A* has pure point spectrum consisting of a sequence of eigenvalues  $0 \le \lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \le \cdots$  of finite multiplicities. The regularized determinant of *A* is defined through the zeta function

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{\lambda_j \neq 0} \lambda_j^{-s}, \quad \operatorname{Re}(s) > n/m.$$

After Seeley [38] it is well known that the zeta function admits a meromorphic extension to the complete complex plane that is regular at s = 0. Then the regularized determinant is defined as:

$$\det(A) = \exp\left(-\left.\frac{d}{ds}\zeta(s)\right|_{s=0}\right).$$

The zeta function can also be expressed in terms of the heat semigroup associated to A:

$$\zeta(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tA}) - \dim \operatorname{Ker}(A)) t^{s-1} dt.$$

This formula is only valid in the half-plane  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > n/m$ . In section 1.8 we explain in detail how to derive this formula when A is the Laplacian on a closed manifold.

The regularized determinant of the Laplacian on a compact Riemannian manifold is an important spectral invariant. For instance, in the 2-dimensional case, Osgood, Phillips and Sarnak (to whom we refer as OPS from now on) in [33] showed that the determinant, considered as a functional on the space of metrics, has very interesting extremal properties. They proved the following result: let M be a closed surface of genus p. Then in a given conformal class, among all metrics of unit area, there exists a unique metric of constant curvature at which the regularized determinant attains a maximum. They also proved a corresponding statement for compact surfaces with boundary and suitable conditions at the boundary.

This determinant can also be restricted to a function on the moduli space of hyperbolic metrics on a closed surface of genus p,  $\mathcal{M}_p$ :

$$\det \Delta_{\cdot} : \mathcal{M}_p \to \mathbb{R}, \ [\tau] \mapsto \det \Delta_{\tau},$$

where  $\tau$  is a metric of constant curvature and unit area. Sarnak in [37] made the very interesting conjecture that the function that assigns to an isometry class  $\hat{g}$  its "height", given by  $-\log \det \Delta_{\hat{q}}$ ,

has a unique global minimum. If this conjecture is true, the global minimum could be taken as a "distinguished metric" on the surface.

The regularized determinant of the Laplacian can be used to study inverse spectral problems such as isospectral problems. Isospectral problems go back to 1960 when Leon Green asked if a Riemannian manifold was determined by its spectrum. The question was rephrased by Kac for planar domains in the very suggestive way: "Can one hear the shape of a drum?" see [20]. An important result is the well known existence of non-isometric manifolds that are isospectral, see [40] and the references therein. We also refer to [46] for a comprehensive survey of inverse spectral problems in geometry.

The isospectral problem on closed surfaces and simply connected planar domains was studied by OPS in [34]. In that paper the authors prove compactness of isospectral sets of isometry classes of metrics in the corresponding  $C^{\infty}$ -topology. Two metrics  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  are called isospectral if the spectrum of the Laplacians  $\Delta_{g_1}$  and  $\Delta_{g_2}$  are the same including multiplicities. In particular the heat invariants  $a_j$  for  $j \ge 0$  and the determinant det  $\Delta$  have the same values at  $g_1$  and  $g_2$ . As the authors remark in the paper, the use of the regularized determinant of the Laplacian is essential in order to obtain compactness, since the heat invariants are not enough. On planar domains the problem has been studied by R. Melrose in [27] and OPS in [35], and for compact surfaces with boundary by Y. Kim in [22].

The isospectral problem also makes sense for certain non-compact manifolds. There scattering theory comes into play and we need to deal with inverse scattering theory. For example, on exterior planar domains the isospectral problem was studied by A. Hassell and S. Zelditch in [18]. There two exterior planar domains are called isophasal if they have the same scattering phase. Hassell and Zelditch prove that each class of isophasal exterior planar domains is sequentially compact in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology. In the proof they define a regularized determinant of the Laplacian that plays a fundamental role.

The goal of this thesis is to study how to extend the results of OPS in [33] and [34] to surfaces with cusps. As suggested by the work of Hassell and Zelditch, it is important to find a good definition of the determinant of the Laplace operator.

In the first part we study the definition of the determinant for surfaces with cusps and asymptotically cusps ends and its possible extremal values. Let (M, g) be a surface with cusps. This means that it is a smooth 2-dimensional Riemannian manifold of finite area such that outside a compact set the metric is hyperbolic. The hyperbolic ends are called cusps. The first thing to do is to define the determinant of the Laplacian  $\Delta_g$  on M. It is well known that  $\Delta_g$  has continuous spectrum therefore its zeta regularized determinant can not be defined. To solve this problem we use relative determinants. The relative determinant of a pair of non-negative self-adjoint operators (A, B) in a Hilbert space was introduced by W. Müller in [30]. If the operators (A, B) satisfy certain given conditions the relative determinant can be defined through a zeta function using the trace of  $e^{-tA} - e^{-tB}$ .

We start by fixing a class of metrics on M that are conformal to g and that satisfy suitable conditions. For any metric  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$  in the conformal class [g] we obtain a Laplacian which we denote by  $\Delta_h$ . We will consider relative determinants of pairs  $(\Delta_h, \Delta_g)$  and also of pairs  $(\Delta_h, \bar{\Delta}_{\beta,0})$ , where  $\bar{\Delta}_{\beta,0}$  is an operator over M that is associated to the cusps. We have to take into account the following technical detail: the operator  $\Delta_h$  acting on  $L^2(M, dA_g)$  is not self-adjoint. We therefore consider a unitary map  $T : L^2(M, dA_g) \to L^2(M, dA_h)$  and the corresponding transformed operators. The map T then appears in all the corresponding statements and proofs.

For the relative determinant  $det(\Delta_h, \Delta_g)$  to make sense, the relative heat operator  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{t\Delta_g}$  must be trace class for t > 0 and the trace must have suitable asymptotic expansions for large and small values of t. This is the case if the conformal factor  $\varphi$  has a specific decay at infinity. Chapters 2 and 3 are devoted to finding these decay conditions and to proving the properties required above. The first main result is:

**Theorem 2.3** Let  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$  and let i(z) be a function on M satisfying i(z) = 1 if  $z \in M_0$ , and  $i(z) = y_j$  if  $z = (x_j, y_j) \in Z_j$ , for j = 1, ..., m. If  $\varphi(z)$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi(z)$  are  $O(i(z)^{-1})$  as  $i(z) \to \infty$ , then  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}$  is a trace class operator for all t > 0.

Theorem 2.3 implies that the continuous spectra of the Laplacians  $\Delta_h$  and  $\Delta_g$  coincide. Since  $\sigma_c(\Delta_g) = [1/4, \infty)$ , it follows from [30, Lemma 2.2] that there exists a constant  $\kappa > 0$  such that the relative trace has the following asymptotic expansion as  $t \to \infty$ :

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}) = O(e^{-\kappa t}).$$
(1)

The second main result is about the asymptotic expansion of the relative heat trace as  $t \to 0$ :

**Theorem 3.4** Let us use the notation of Theorem 1. If the functions  $\varphi(z)$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi(z)$  are  $O(i(z)^{-32})$  as  $i(z) \to \infty$ , then there exists an expansion up to order two in t of  $\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g})$  as  $t \to 0$ .

In the proof of Theorem 3.4 we use mainly classical methods such as parametrices, Duhamel's principle, upper bounds of heat kernels and covering spaces.

We are now ready to define  $det(\Delta_h, \Delta_g)$  using the relative zeta function. By Theorem 3.4 and equation (1) we may define:

$$\zeta(s;\Delta_h,\Delta_g) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g})t^{s-1} dt,$$

that converges in the a half plane  $\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq 1$ . This formula for  $\zeta(s; \Delta_h, \Delta_g)$  is analogous to the formula in the compact case that expresses the zeta function in terms of the trace of the heat operator. The asymptotic expansions for the trace described above ensure that the relative zeta function has a meromorphic continuation to  $\mathbb{C}$  that is analytic at s = 0. The relative determinant is then defined by:

$$\det(\Delta_h, \Delta_g) = \exp\left(-\left.\frac{d}{ds}\zeta(s; \Delta_h, \Delta_g)\right|_{s=0}\right).$$

Although Theorem 3.4 allows us to define the relative determinant  $det(\Delta_h, \Delta_g)$ ; the result is not optimal since we would like to obtain a complete asymptotic expansion of the relative heat trace requiring lower decay. It seems possible to improve the statement using methods borrowed from Melroses' *b*-calculus but that will be part of another project.

In Chapter 4 we define the relative determinant for the pair  $(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0})$ . We study it as a functional on the space of metrics of a given fixed area inside the conformal class and look for its extremal values. The main result of Chapter 4 is a Polyakov-type formula for det $(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0})$ :

**Theorem 4.5** Let (M, g) be a surface with cusps and let  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$  be a conformal transformation of g with  $\varphi(z)$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi(z)$  being  $O(i(z)^{-32})$  as  $y = i(z) \to \infty$ . For the corresponding relative determinants we have the following formula:

$$\log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) = -\frac{1}{12\pi} \int_M |\nabla_g \varphi|^2 \ dA_g - \frac{1}{6\pi} \int_M K_g \ \varphi \ dA_g + \log A_h + \log \det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{1,0}).$$

The proof of this formula follows the same lines as the proof in the compact case in [33]. The formula is the same as the one obtained by R. Lundelius in [26] for heights of pairs of admissible surfaces. Let us point out however that our methods are different from the ones in [26]. As in [33] and [26], we see that if there exists a maximum it is attained at the metric of constant curvature. The equation relating the curvature of the metrics g and  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$  is  $K_h = e^{-2\varphi}(\Delta_g \varphi + K_g)$ . The study of this differential equation for  $\varphi$  together with the conditions of constant curvature in the cusps for g and constant curvature everywhere for h leads to a precise decay for the function  $\varphi$ at infinity. Unfortunately this decay is not included in the conditions required to define the determinant. Therefore the metric of constant curvature will not be in the conformal class that we consider unless we start with a metric of constant curvature.

In Chapter 5 we study the relative determinant as a function on the moduli space of hyperbolic surfaces with cusps. We work in  $\mathcal{M}_{p,m}$ , the moduli space of compact Riemann surfaces of genus pwith m punctures and think of it as a space of complete hyperbolic metrics on a topological surface of genus p with m punctures. We define the free Laplacian as the Laplacian  $\overline{\Delta}_{1,0}$  associated to the union of m cusps all starting at 1; notice that the Laplacian  $\overline{\Delta}_{1,0}$  is chosen independently of [g]. Hence the relative determinant defines a function on the moduli space in the same way as in the compact case:  $[g] \in \mathcal{M}_{p,m} \mapsto \det(\Delta_g, \overline{\Delta}_{1,0}) \in \mathbb{R}^+$ , where  $g \in [g]$  is hyperbolic. We start by analyzing the behavior of  $\det(\Delta_g, \overline{\Delta}_{1,0})$  as [g] approaches the boundary of  $\mathcal{M}_{p,m}$ . It is well known that each point of the boundary can be reached through a degenerating family of metrics. The degeneration arises from closed geodesics whose length converges to zero. Comparing the relative determinant with the determinant defined in [19] we prove the following theorem:

**Theorem 5.4** Let  $\mathcal{M}_{p,m}$  be the moduli space of hyperbolic surfaces with cusps. Consider the relative determinant det $(\Delta_g, \overline{\Delta}_{1,0})$  as a function on  $\mathcal{M}_{p,m}$ . Then det $(\Delta_g, \overline{\Delta}_{1,0})$  tends to zero if [g] approaches  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{m,p} \setminus \mathcal{M}_{p,m}$ , the boundary of the moduli space.

This will imply that  $det(\Delta_g, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0})$  attains its maximum in the interior of the moduli space. The determinant as a function of the moduli space of hyperbolic surfaces of finite area was studied in [26] in terms of the heights of a degenerating family of hyperbolic surfaces and a fixed surface. There the author proves an asymptotic formula for the degeneration of the height. The regularized determinant as a function of the moduli space of metrics on surfaces with smooth boundary was studied by H. H. Khuri in [23] and by Y-H. Kim [22], obtaining different results under different conditions.

Finally, we study the isospectral problem inside a conformal class of the metric in a surface with cusps. In this setting, two metrics are isospectral if the resonances are the same for both metrics including multiplicities. For hyperbolic surfaces of finite area, W. Müller proved in [29] that the resonance set associated to the surface determines the surface up to finitely many possibilities. We restrict our attention to metrics inside a given conformal class. The main result of this part is the

following theorem:

**Theorem 7.5** Let (M, g) be a surface with cusps,  $K \subset M$  be compact and let  $[g]_K = \{e^{2\varphi}g \mid \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(M), \operatorname{supp}(\varphi) \subset K\}$  be the K-compactly supported conformal class of g. Then isospectral sets in  $[g]_K$  are compact in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology.

In the proof of Theorem 7.5 we use a splitting formula for the relative determinant. This formula relates det( $\Delta_g, \Delta_{\beta,0}$ ) (with  $\beta$  big enough) to the determinant of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator acting on a submanifold of M homeomorphic to  $S^1$ . We prove this formula in Chapter 6. We finally discuss the possibility of generalizing Theorem 7.5 to conformal classes including metrics that have asymptotically cusp-ends.

In Chapter 1 we introduce notation and most of the background theory we use throughout the document. We include two appendices. Appendix A about Sobolev spaces and Appendix B with an explicit computation of the spectral shift function of the pair of operators  $(\Delta_q, \Delta_{1,0})$ .

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to thank my adviser Werner Müller for his guidance through the world of geometric analysis and inverse spectral problems. I learnt a lot from him and there are not words to express my gratefulness towards him. He has always answered my questions with patience, always found time for our discussions (in spite of all his duties) and always found financial support for me. It has been great to be his student. Second, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Bödigheimer and the Bonn International Graduate School in Mathematics (BIGS) who made it possible for me to come to Bonn for my studies. Mathematically, I would like to thank Rafe Mazzeo for the useful conversations and explanations about several topics related with this thesis. I would also like to thank Sylvie Paycha, for accepting to read and referee this thesis and for the interest she has always shown in my work. I am also grateful with Alexander Strohmaier for having explained and discussed with me many little things during his time in Bonn. Thanks to Eugenie Hunsicker for reading the whole document and her comments to improve it: her support and motivation during the difficult times have been very meaningful for me. I would like to thank the members of the group of Global Analysis in Bonn for being open to discussions; also thanks to the secretaries of the BIGS and to the staff of the Mathematics Institute of the University of Bonn for helping me in diverse matters. On the personal level, I want to express my gratefulness to Georg, for his love and unconditional support and for keep reminding me that my main objective during all these years was to work on my thesis. I want to thank my parents; their support and constant presence in my life have been fundamental for me. Finally, I would like to thank my friends in Bonn for making my life there nicer.

To my parents, Clara Inés and Camilo

# Chapter 1 Background theory

In this chapter we introduce the notation, definitions and main results we use throughout this thesis. We start by defining the spaces over which we work and the operators in which we are interested. In the second section we state the main known results about spectral theory of surfaces with cusps. In the other sections we define conformal transformations of metrics, the injectivity radius of a Riemannian manifold, we state the Gauss-Bonnet formula for surfaces with cusps. We dedicate a section to summarizing some results we will use about heat kernels and their estimates. In the last section we give the definition of the regularized determinant of the Laplace operator on a closed manifold.

#### **1.1** Notation and some definitions

A surface with cusps is a 2-dimensional Riemannian manifold that is complete, non-compact, has finite volume and is hyperbolic in the complement of a compact set. It admits a decomposition of the form

$$M = M_0 \cup Z_1 \cup \cdots \cup Z_m,$$

where  $M_0$  is a compact surface with smooth boundary and for each i = 1, ..., m we assume that

$$Z_i \cong [a_i, \infty) \times S^1, \quad g|_{Z_i} = y_i^{-2} (dy_i^2 + dx_i^2), \quad a_i > 0$$

The subsets  $Z_i$  are called cusps. Sometimes we denote  $Z_i$  by  $Z_{a_i}$  to indicate the "starting point"  $a_i$ . Instances of surfaces with cusps are quotients of the form  $\Gamma(N) \setminus \mathbb{H}$ , where  $\mathbb{H}$  is the upper half plane and  $\Gamma(N) \subseteq \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$  is a congruence subgroup, i.e.  $\Gamma(N) = \{\gamma \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) | \gamma \equiv \mathrm{Id} \pmod{N}\}$ . These quotients play an important role in the theory of automorphic forms.

To any surface with cusps (M, g) we can associate a compact surface  $\overline{M}$  such that (M, g) is diffeomorphic to the complement of m points in  $\overline{M}$ . Let p denote the genus of the compact surface  $\overline{M}$ ; then the pair (p, m) is called the conformal type of M. In many of the proofs we set m = 1and  $a_1 = 1$ , to simplify the equations.

For any oriented Riemannian manifold (M, g) the Laplace-Beltrami operator on functions is defined as  $\Delta f = -\operatorname{div} \operatorname{grad} f$ . It is equal to  $\Delta = d^*d$ . Note that we consider positive Laplacians. In local coordinates the Laplacian has the form

$$\Delta f = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\det(g_{ij})}} \,\partial_j(\sqrt{\det(g_{ij})} \,g^{ij}\partial_i f),$$



Figure 1.1: A surface with cusps

where  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(M)$ . On a cusp Z, the Laplacian is given by

$$\Delta_Z = -y^2 \left( \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \right)$$

If (M, g) is complete,  $\Delta$  has a unique closed extension that we denote by  $\Delta_g$ . The gradient in coordinates is given by grad  $f = (g^{ij}\partial_j f)\partial_i$  and the Laplacian of the product of two functions  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  is given by

$$\Delta(f_1 f_2) = (\Delta f_1) f_2 + f_1(\Delta f_2) - 2 \langle \operatorname{grad} f_1, \operatorname{grad} f_2 \rangle$$
(1.1)

**Definition 1.1.** Let a > 0, let  $\Delta_{a,0}$  denote the self-adjoint extension of the operator

$$-y^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} : C_c^{\infty}((a,\infty)) \to L^2([a,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$$

obtained after imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions at y = a. The domain of  $\Delta_{a,0}$  is then given by  $\text{Dom}(\Delta_{a,0}) = H_0^1([a,\infty)) \cap H^2([a,\infty))$ , where  $H_0^1([a,\infty)) = \{f \in H^1([a,\infty)) : f(a) = 0\}$ .

Let  $\bar{\Delta}_{a,0} = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} \bar{\Delta}_{a_j,0}$  be defined as the direct sum of the self-adjoint operators operators  $\Delta_{a_j,0}$  defined above. The operator  $\bar{\Delta}_{a,0}$  acts on a subspace of  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} L^2([a_j,\infty), y_j^{-2} dy_j)$ .

Now, let a > 0, let  $Z_a$  be endowed with the hyperbolic metric g and let  $\Delta_{Z_a,D}$  be the self-adjoint extension of

$$-y^2\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}\right) : C_c^{\infty}((a,\infty) \times S^1) \to L^2(Z_a, dA_g)$$

obtained after imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions at  $\{a\} \times S^1$ . The operator  $\Delta_{Z_a,D}$  can be decomposed as follows. Put

$$L_0^2(Z_a) = \{ f \in L^2(Z_a, dA_g) | \int_{S^1} f(y, x) dx = 0 \text{ for a. e. } y \ge a \}.$$
 (1.2)

The orthogonal complement of  $L_0^2(Z_a)$  in  $L^2(Z_a, dA_g)$  consists of functions that are independent of  $x \in S^1$ . Indeed, let  $f \in L_0^2(Z_a)^{\perp}$ , then  $\int_{Z_a} f(y, x)\psi(y, x)dA_g(z) = 0$  for all  $\psi \in L_0^2(Z_a)$ , in particular for  $\psi_n(x) = e^{-2\pi i n x}$  with  $n \neq 0$ . This implies that in the Fourier decomposition of f,  $f(y, x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_a} a_n(f, y)e^{2\pi i n x}$ , all the terms but the constant term are zero. Therefore  $f(y, x) = a_0(f, y) = \int_{S^1} f(y, x)dx$ , i.e. f is independent of x. The other inclusion is obvious. Then we can decompose  $L^2(Z_a, dA_g)$  as the orthogonal direct sum

$$L^{2}(Z_{a}, dA_{g}) = L^{2}([a, \infty), y^{-2}dy) \oplus L^{2}_{0}(Z_{a}).$$

This decomposition is invariant under  $\Delta_{Z_a,D}$  so in terms of this decomposition we can write  $\Delta_{Z_a,D} = \Delta_{a,0} \oplus \Delta_{Z_a,1}$ , where  $\Delta_{Z_a,1}$  acts on  $L^2_0(Z_a)$ .

**Remark 1.2.** The operator  $\Delta_{Z_a,1}$  has compact resolvent; in particular it has only point spectrum, see Lemma 7.3 in [32]. In addition, the counting function for  $\Delta_{Z_a,1}$ ,  $N_{\Delta_{Z_a,1}}(\lambda) = \#\{\tilde{\lambda}_j \leq \lambda\}$ , where  $\{\tilde{\lambda}_j\}$  are the eigenvalues of  $\Delta_{Z_a,1}$ , satisfies  $N_{\Delta_{Z_a,1}}(\lambda) \sim \frac{\lambda}{4\pi}A_g$ . See [12, Thm.6]. This implies that the heat operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{Z_a,1}}$  is trace class.

#### **1.2** Spectral theory of surfaces with cusps

For spectral theory for manifolds with cusps we refer to [28], [12], and the references therein. The results in [28] hold for any dimension. For surfaces in particular we refer to [29]. Here we only recall the main facts and definitions that we use in this document.

For a surface with cusps (M, g), the spectrum of the Laplacian  $\sigma(\Delta_g)$  is the union of the point spectrum  $\sigma_p$  and the continuous spectrum  $\sigma_c$ . The point spectrum consist of a sequence of eigenvalues

$$0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \le \dots$$

Each eigenvalue has finite multiplicity, and the counting function  $N(\Lambda) = \#\{\lambda_j | \lambda_j \leq \Lambda^2\}$  for  $\Lambda > 0$  satisfies  $\limsup N(\Lambda)\Lambda^{-2} \leq A_g(4\pi)^{-1}$ , where  $A_g$  denotes the area of (M, g). Depending on the metric, the set of eigenvalues may be infinite or not.

The continuous spectrum  $\sigma_c$  of  $\Delta_g$  is the interval  $[\frac{1}{4}, \infty)$  with multiplicity equal to the number of cusps of M. For a proof of this fact, see for example [28, p.206]. The spectral decomposition of the absolutely continuous part of  $\Delta_g$  is described by the generalized eigenfunctions  $E_j(z, s)$ , for  $j = 1, \ldots, m$  with  $z \in M$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ . To each cusp we can associate such generalized eigenfunctions, also called Eisenstein functions by analogy with the Eisenstein series for hyperbolic surfaces. They are closely related to the wave operators  $W_{\pm}(\Delta_g, \bar{\Delta}_{a,0})$  and to the scattering matrix  $S(\lambda)$ . For details, see [28, sec.7].

Each Eisenstein function  $E_j(z,s)$  is smooth as a function of  $z \in M$  and is meromorphic as a function of  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ . It satisfies:

$$\Delta_g E_j(z,s) = s(1-s)E_j(z,s).$$

Its poles are contained in the union of the half-plane  $\operatorname{Re}(s) < \frac{1}{2}$  and the interval  $(\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ . The restriction of  $E_j(z, s)$  to the cusp  $Z_i$  satisfies

$$E_j((y_i, x_i), s) = \delta_{ji} y_i^s + C_{ji}(s) y_i^{1-s} + O(e^{-cy_i}), \quad \text{as } y_i \to \infty.$$

Let C(s) be the  $m \times m$  matrix  $(C_{ji}(s))$ . Then C(s) is a meromorphic function of  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ . The scattering matrix  $S(\lambda; \Delta_q, \overline{\Delta}_{a,0})$  given by the time-dependent approach to scattering theory is

related to C(s) by the equation  $S(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2) = C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)$ , for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . In this way  $S(\lambda)$  has an extension to the double covering of  $\mathbb{C}$  defined by  $\lambda = s(1-s)$ . This extension is meromorphic and we have that S(s(1-s)) = C(s), see [30, p.342]. From now on in this setting we refer to the matrix-valued function C(s) as the scattering matrix.

Let us summarize the main properties of the Eisenstein functions and the scattering matrix by recalling Theorem 7.24 in [28].

**Theorem 1.3.** ([28]) With the notation introduced above we have that the Eisenstein functions and the scattering matrix associated to the surface with cusps (M,g) satisfy the following properties:

- 1. (a) C(s) is meromorphic on  $\mathbb{C}$  with poles contained in the half-plane  $\operatorname{Re}(s) < \frac{1}{2}$  and the interval  $(\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ .
  - (b) The poles  $s_0 \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  of C(s) are simple.
  - (c) C(s) is holomorphic in a neighborhood of the line  $\operatorname{Re}(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ .
  - (d) The matrix C(s) is symmetric and satisfies the functional equation C(s)C(1-s) = Id.
- 2. For every j = 1, ..., m,
  - (a)  $E_j(z,s)$  is holomorphic in a neighborhood of the line  $\operatorname{Re}(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ .
  - (b) The poles  $s_0 \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  of  $E_j(z, s)$  are simple and if  $s_0$  is a pole of  $E_j$  then  $s_0$  is also a simple pole of  $C_{ij}(s)$ .
  - (c) If  $s_0$  is a pole of  $E_j(z_0, s)$  of order n then  $s_0$  is also a pole of  $E_j(z, s)$  of order n for all  $z \in M$ , and n is the maximal order of the pole of  $C_{ij}(s)$  at  $s_0$ , i = 1, ..., m.
  - (d) The system of Eisenstein functions satisfies the functional equations:

$$E_i(z,s) = \sum_{j=1}^m C_{ij}(s)E_j(z,1-s).$$

The scattering matrix also satisfies:

$$\overline{C(s)} = C(\overline{s})$$
 and  $C(s)^* = C(\overline{s}).$ 

Let  $L^2_d(M, dA_g)$  be the subspace of  $L^2(M, dA_g)$  spanned by the eigenfunctions of  $\Delta_g$ , and let  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \ldots$  be a basis of  $L^2_d(M, dA_g)$  composed of normalized eigenfunctions of  $\Delta_g$ . Then any  $f \in C^\infty_0(M)$  has the following Fourier type expansion:

$$f(z) = \sum_{k} (\varphi_k, f) \varphi_k + \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{j=1}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}} E_j(z, \frac{1}{2} + i\lambda) \int_M E_j(w, \frac{1}{2} - i\lambda) f(w) \, dA_g(w) \, d\lambda.$$

A quantity of interest is the determinant of the scattering matrix which we denote by  $\phi(s) = \det C(s)$ . It satisfies the following equations:

$$\phi(s)\phi(1-s) = 1, \quad \phi(s) = \phi(\bar{s}), \quad s \in \mathbb{C}.$$

The concept of resonance is very important in the spectral theory of surfaces with cusps. The definition of resonance is given in Chapter 7. The mathematical quantity that we use to define isospectral metrics here is the resonance set of the Laplacian. This set is defined as the union of the poles of the scattering matrix and the set  $\{s_i|s_i(1-s_i)\}$  is an eigenvalue}.

#### **1.3** Conformal transformations

In this section we explain how some geometrical quantities change under a conformal transformation of the metric, i.e., when we multiply a given metric by a function that is strictly positive in the complete manifold.

**Definition 1.4.** A conformal transformation of the metric g on M is a metric h defined by  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$ where  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(M)$ .

In this paper we consider conformal factors that are the exponential of smooth functions on M. These functions are often denoted by  $\varphi$ . Depending on the case they may have compact support or not. If the support is not compact we usually require some decay at infinity of the function as well as some of its derivatives. In what follows the metric h will always denote a conformal transformation of g.

**Definition 1.5.** Two metrics  $g_1$ ,  $g_2$  are quasi-isometric if there exist constants  $C_1, C_2 > 0$  such that

 $C_1g_1(z) \le g_2(z) \le C_2g_1(z), \quad for \ all \ z \in M,$ 

in the sense of positive definite forms.

Quasi-isometric metrics have equivalent geodesic distances. The associated  $L^2$ -spaces coincide as sets, thought the inner product is not the same.

**Remark 1.6.** If the function  $\varphi$  appearing in the conformal factor is bounded on M we have that the metrics g and  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$  are quasi-isometric and the geodesic distances  $d_g$  and  $d_h$  are equivalent. If in addition the metric g is complete, so is the metric h.

Let  $A_g$  denote the area of (M, g),  $dA_g$  the volume element, and  $K_g(z)$  its Gaussian curvature. Let  $A_h$ ,  $dA_h$  and  $K_h$  be the quantities corresponding to (M, h), for any conformal transformation h of g. Let  $\Delta_h$  be the Laplacian associated to h. Then for the metrics g and h we have the following relations:

$$dA_h = e^{2\varphi} dA_g$$
  

$$K_h = e^{-2\varphi} (\Delta_g \varphi + K_g)$$
  

$$\Delta_h = e^{-2\varphi} \Delta_g$$

The domains of the Laplacians  $\Delta_g$  and  $\Delta_h$  lie in different Hilbert spaces. Thus sometimes it is necessary to consider a unitary map between the spaces  $L^2(M, dA_g)$  and  $L^2(M, dA_h)$ . From the definition of the metrics and the transformation of the area element we have that the unitary map is:

$$T: L^2(M, dA_q) \to L^2(M, dA_h), \ f \mapsto e^{-\varphi} f.$$
(1.3)

For the transformed Laplacians we have the following expressions:

$$T^{-1}\Delta_{h}Tf = \Delta_{h}f + 2\langle \nabla_{h}f, \nabla_{h}\varphi \rangle_{h} - (\Delta_{h}\varphi + |\nabla_{h}\varphi|_{h}^{2})f$$
  
$$= e^{-2\varphi} \left(\Delta_{g}f + 2\langle \nabla_{g}f, \nabla_{g}\varphi \rangle_{g} - (\Delta_{g}\varphi + |\nabla_{g}\varphi|_{g}^{2})f\right)$$
  
$$T\Delta_{g}T^{-1}f = e^{2\varphi} \left(\Delta_{h}f - 2\langle \nabla_{h}\varphi, \nabla_{h}f \rangle_{h} + (\Delta_{h}\varphi - |\nabla_{h}\varphi|_{h})f\right)$$
  
(1.4)

To see this notice that  $\Delta_h e^{-\varphi} = -e^{-\varphi} \Delta_h \varphi - e^{-\varphi} |\nabla_h \varphi|_h$ . Then by equation (1.1)

$$\begin{split} \Delta_h(e^{-\varphi}f) &= (\Delta_h e^{-\varphi})f + e^{-\varphi}(\Delta_h f) - 2\langle \nabla_h e^{-\varphi}, \nabla_h f \rangle_h \\ &= (-e^{-\varphi}\Delta_h \varphi - e^{-\varphi} |\nabla_h \varphi|_h)f + e^{-\varphi}(\Delta_h f) + 2e^{-\varphi}\langle \nabla_h \varphi, \nabla_h f \rangle_h \\ T^{-1}\Delta_h Tf &= \Delta_h f + 2\langle \nabla_h \varphi, \nabla_h f \rangle_h - (\Delta_h \varphi + |\nabla_h \varphi|_h)f \end{split}$$

As for g we have  $\Delta_g e^{\varphi} = e^{\varphi} \Delta_g \varphi - e^{\varphi} |\nabla_g \varphi|_g$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \Delta_g(e^{\varphi}f) &= (\Delta_g e^{\varphi})f + e^{\varphi}(\Delta_g f) - 2\langle \nabla_g e^{\varphi}, \nabla_g f \rangle_g \\ &= (e^{\varphi}\Delta_g \varphi - e^{\varphi} |\nabla_g \varphi|_g)f + e^{\varphi}(\Delta_g f) - 2e^{\varphi} \langle \nabla_g \varphi, \nabla_g f \rangle_g \\ T\Delta_g T^{-1}f &= \Delta_g f - 2\langle \nabla_g \varphi, \nabla_g f \rangle_g + (\Delta_g \varphi - |\nabla_g \varphi|_g)f \end{split}$$

Note that the operators  $T^{-1}\Delta_h T$  and  $T\Delta_g T^{-1}$  are self-adjoint in the corresponding transformed domain.

Let us first give a handwaving definition of what we mean by a surface with asymptotically cusps ends. The reason to do that is that we need flexibility in the conditions on the conformal factors:

A surface with asymptotically cusp ends is a surface (M, h) where the metric h is a conformal transformation of the metric on a surface with cusps (M, g) such that the conformal factor as well as some of its derivatives have a suitable decay in the cusps.

#### 1.4 Injectivity radius

Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold. The injectivity radius at a point  $z \in M$  is defined as the supremum of the radius of balls centered at  $0 \in T_z M$  such that the exponential function  $exp_z$  is defined and injective in such balls. (This is equivalent to defining it as the minimal distance from the point z to its cut locus). Let us denote the injectivity radius at a point  $z \in M$  by  $\inf_{g}(z)$ . The injectivity radius of M is the infimum of the injectivity radius at each point, i.e.  $\inf_{g}(M) = \inf_{z \in M} \inf_{g}(z)$ .

Let g and h be as above i.e.  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$ . We are particularly interested in the case where for  $(y, x) \in Z$ ,  $\varphi(y, x) = O(1/y)$  as  $y \to \infty$ . In this case, the metrics g and h are quasi-isometric and the geodesic distances are equivalent.

It is well known that on a surface with cusps (M, g) the injectivity radius is null. For an element in a cusp, z = (y, x), we have that  $\inf_g (z) \sim \frac{1}{y}$ . If we assume in addition that  $\Delta_g \varphi = O(1)$  as  $y \to \infty$ then the surface (M, h) has bounded Gaussian curvature. This implies that there exist constants c, c' > 0 such that

$$\operatorname{inj}_h(z) \ge \min\{c \, \operatorname{inj}_a(z), c'\}, \quad z \in M,$$

see [32, Prop. 2.1].

The injectivity radius is a very important quantity in geometry. Many generalizations of results in geometric analysis for compact manifolds hold for manifolds of bounded geometry, i.e. manifolds with bounded curvature and injectivity radius bounded away from zero. If the injectivity radius vanishes these results generally fail in their standard form. For example, the Sobolev embedding theorems and Rellich's lemma do not hold for surfaces with cusps.

#### **1.5** Heat kernels and estimates

Heat semigroups and heat kernels are very useful and important tools when working with regularized determinants via zeta function regularization. The heat semigroup associated to a closed selfadjoint operator can be constructed using the spectral theorem. For the existence and uniqueness of the heat kernel on a complete open manifold with Ricci curvature bounded from below see [15]. For the main properties of heat kernels see [15] and [9]. On a complete Riemannian manifold of dimension n with Ricci curvature bounded from below, the heat kernel K(x, y, t) is the smallest smooth positive fundamental solution of the heat equation on M, i.e.  $K(x, y, t) \leq p(x, y, t)$  for every positive fundamental solution p(x, y, t). The heat kernel is symmetric in the space variables and satisfies the conservation law  $\int_M K(x, y, t) dV(y) = 1$ , for all t > 0 and  $x \in M$ . Let (M, g)and  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$  be as above, and let  $e^{-t\Delta_h}$ ,  $e^{-t\Delta_g}$ ,  $e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  denote the heat semigroups associated to the Laplacians  $\Delta_h$ ,  $\Delta_g$  and  $\Delta_{1,0}$ , respectively. Since the Laplacians are positive, the heat equation is  $\Delta + \partial_t = 0$ . Let  $K_h(z, z', t)$  and  $K_g(z, z', t)$  denote the heat kernels corresponding to  $\Delta_h$  and  $\Delta_g$  respectively. We hope that this will not lead to confusions with the notation for the Gaussian curvatures and the heat kernels.

Like the Laplacians, the heat semigroups act on different spaces. The operator  $e^{-t\Delta_h}$  may act on  $L^2(M, dA_g)$ , but it is not self-adjoint with respect to this inner product. To make  $e^{-t\Delta_h}$  and  $e^{-t\Delta_g}$  act on the same space and preserve self-adjointness we use the unitary map  $T : L^2(M, dA_g) \to L^2(M, dA_h)$  defined by (1.3). The transformed operators  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T$  and  $Te^{-t\Delta_g}T^{-1}$  are self-adjoint on the corresponding space. Consider the integral kernel of the transformed operator  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T : L^2(M, dA_g) \to L^2(M, dA_g)$ . If  $f \in L^2(M, dA_g)$ , then

$$T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{h}}Tf(z) = T^{-1}\left(\int_{M} K_{h}(z, z', t)e^{-\varphi(z')}f(z') \, dA_{h}(z')\right)$$
  
=  $\int_{M} e^{\varphi(z)}K_{h}(z, z', t)e^{-\varphi(z')}f(z')e^{2\varphi(z')} \, dA_{g}(z')$   
=  $\int_{M} e^{\varphi(z)}K_{h}(z, z', t)e^{\varphi(z')}f(z') \, dA_{g}(z'),$ 

thus  $K_{T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T}(z, z', t) = e^{\varphi(z)}K_h(z, z', t)e^{\varphi(z')}$ . This also follows from the general transformation law in the product space:

$$L^{2}(M \times M, dA_{h} \times dA_{h}) \to L^{2}(M \times M, dA_{g} \times dA_{g}), f(z, z') \mapsto f(z, z')e^{\varphi(z)}e^{\varphi(z')}$$

The kernel of  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T$  restricted to the diagonal is  $K_{T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T}(z,z,t) = K_h(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)}$ .

For the details of the construction of the heat kernel on a compact Riemannian manifold M and its asymptotic expansion for small t, we refer to [9], [6] and the references therein. If the manifold is closed, there exists a constant c > 0 such that for any fixed  $0 < \tau < \infty$ , the heat kernel satisfies the following bounds

$$K(x, y, t) \ll t^{-n/2} e^{-\frac{d(x, y)^2}{ct}}, \quad \text{for } t \le \tau.$$
 (1.5)

If the manifold has boundary, consider the closed self-adjoint extension of the Laplacian with Dirichlet boundary conditions. For the Dirichlet heat kernel, and given a compact set  $K \subset M$  and a T > 0, there exists a positive constant c' such that

$$K_D(x, y, t) \le c' t^{-n/2} \left( e^{-\frac{d(x, y)^2}{ct}} + e^{\frac{d(y, \partial M)^2}{8t}} \right),$$

for  $(x, y, t) \in K \times M \times (0, T]$ , see [9, chapter VII].

#### 1.5.1The heat kernel on a surface with cusps

The heat kernel on a surface with cusps was constructed by W. Müller in [28]. Here we give a brief description of this construction and mention some of the main statements; for details see [28]. In this part we consider (M,q) with only one cusp,  $M = M_0 \cup Z$  and  $Z \cong [1,\infty) \times S^1$ . The kernel of a parametrix for the heat operator is constructed by gluing together the heat kernel in the complete cusp  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times S^1$  equipped with the hyperbolic metric and the heat kernel in a suitable compact manifold.

Let  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times S^1$  be the complete cusp with the hyperbolic metric  $y^{-2}(dy^2 + dx^2)$ . Let  $\Delta_1$  be the unique self-adjoint extension of the Laplacian defined on  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times S^1)$ . It is unique because  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times S^1$ with the hyperbolic metric is a complete Riemannian manifold. The notation for  $\Delta_1$  is arbitrary. Since the metric in the cusp  $Z_a$ , for any a > 0, is also the hyperbolic metric, the Laplacians  $\Delta_{Z_a,D}$ and  $\Delta_1$  coincide when acting on  $C_c^{\infty}((a, \infty) \times S^1)$ . The heat kernel for  $\Delta_1$  on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times S^1$  may be constructed using separation of variables and equals:

$$K_1((y,x),(y',x'),t) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \tilde{K}_n(y,y',t) e^{2\pi i n(x-x')},$$

where  $\tilde{K}_n(y, y', t)$  is the heat kernel corresponding to the operator

$$D_n = -y^2 \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} - 4\pi^2 n^2\right),$$

with domain containing  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ ; see [28, page 218].

Let  $M_2 = M_0 \cup ([1, 2] \times S^1)$ , let W be a closed Riemannian manifold containing  $M_2$  isometrically. Let  $\Delta_W$  be the Laplacian on W,  $e^{-t\Delta_W}$  be its corresponding heat operator and  $K_2(z, z', t)$  be the fundamental solution of the heat equation on W restricted to  $M_2 \times M_2 \times \mathbb{R}^+$ .

We define the gluing functions  $\phi_1, \phi_2$  and  $\psi_1, \psi_2$  as follows: let  $\varphi(b, c)$  denote any increasing  $C^{\infty}$  function of real variable u such that  $\varphi = 0$  for  $u \leq b$  and  $\varphi = 1$  for  $u \geq c$ , and let

$$\phi_1 = \varphi(1, 1 + \frac{1}{4}), \qquad \psi_1 = \varphi(1 + \frac{3}{8}, 1 + \frac{5}{8})$$
  
$$\phi_2 = 1 - \varphi(1 + \frac{3}{4}, 2), \qquad \psi_2 = 1 - \psi_1.$$

We consider each of these functions as defined on the cylinder  $Z = [1, \infty) \times S^1$  and extend them in the obvious way to M. Then we glue the two heat kernels together:

$$H(z, z', t) = \phi_1(z)K_1(z, z', t)\psi_1(z') + \phi_2(z)K_2(z, z', t)\psi_2(z').$$

The function H(z, z', t) is the kernel of a parametrix for the heat operator associated to g.

Let i(z) be the function given by:

$$i(z) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } z \in M \setminus Z; \\ y, & \text{if } z \in Z \text{ and } z = (y, x). \end{cases}$$
(1.6)

The kernels  $K_1$  and  $K_g$  satisfy the following estimates:

1. For  $K_1(z, z', t)$ , the heat kernel in the complete cusp, and for arbitrary T > 0 there exist constants  $C_1, c_2 > 0$  such that for 0 < t < T,  $y, y' \ge 1$ , and  $k, l, m \in \mathbb{N}$  one has:

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{k}}{\partial t^{k}}d_{z'}^{l}d_{z'}^{m}K_{1}(z,z',t)\right| \leq C_{1}(i(z)i(z'))^{\frac{1}{2}}t^{-1-k-l-m}\exp\left(-\frac{c_{2}d_{g}^{2}(z,z')}{t}\right)$$
(1.7)

where  $d_g(z, z')$  is the Riemannian distance in (M, g), that is the hyperbolic distance in the cusp. The constants depend on T.

2. For  $K_q(z, z', t)$ , we have: for T > 0 there exist  $C_1, c_2 > 0$  such that

$$|K_g(z, z', t)| \le C_1(i(z)i(z'))^{\frac{1}{2}}t^{-1}\exp\left(-\frac{c_2d_g^2(z, z')}{t}\right)$$
(1.8)

uniformly for 0 < t < T.

Note that the constants in the previous equations can be different but since we are dealing with inequalities we can choose the most convenient (the largest one in front of the inequalities and the smallest one in the exponents).

We also have that for every  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  and T > 0 there exist constants  $C_2, C_3$  such that

$$|K_g(z, z', t) - H(z, z', t)| \le C_2(i(z)i(z'))^{\frac{1}{2}}t^l \exp\left(-\frac{C_3d_g^2(z, z')}{t}\right),$$

uniformly for 0 < t < T. The constants  $C_2, C_3$  depend on  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  and T. This follows from equations (4.9) and (4.10) in [28].

Let us now go back to the metric  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$ . We can extend it to a metric on the complete cusp  $\widetilde{Z} = \mathbb{R}^+ \times S^1$  in the following way: On  $\widetilde{Z}$  we have the hyperbolic metric  $g_0$ . The metric  $g|_Z = g_0$ . We start by extending the function  $\varphi|_Z$  to a smooth function  $\widetilde{\varphi}$  on  $\widetilde{Z}$  that vanishes in a small neighborhood of 0. Then on  $(0, \infty) \times S^1$  we define h as  $h := e^{2\widetilde{\varphi}}g_0$ . It is a complete metric and  $h = g_0$  close to 0. In this way we can define the Laplacian on  $(\widetilde{Z}, h)$ . Denote its unique self-adjoint extension by  $\Delta_{1,h}$ . Clearly  $\Delta_{1,h} = e^{-2\widetilde{\varphi}}\Delta_1$ . The heat kernel associated to  $\Delta_{1,h}$  is denoted by  $K_{1,h}(z, z', t)$ , for  $z, z' \in \widetilde{Z}$  and t > 0.

#### 1.5.2 Other heat kernels

In this subsection we introduce the other heat operators that we will use throughout this document.

For a > 1 let  $\Delta_{a,0}$  be the operator defined in section 1.1. The heat kernel  $p_a(y, y', t)$  for  $\Delta_{a,0}$  can be computed explicitly, see [8, sec.14.2] or [28, p.258]. It is given by

$$p_a(y, y', t) = \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} (yy')^{1/2} \left\{ e^{-(\log(y/y'))^2/4t} - e^{-(\log(yy') - \log(a^2))^2/4t} \right\},$$
(1.9)

for y, y' > a. This is easy to verify by direct computation. Also note that for  $1 \le y \le a$ ,  $p_a(y, y', t) = 0$ .

The operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}}$  acts on  $L^2([a,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$ . However, we can regard it as an operator acting on  $L^2([1,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$ . In order to do so, let us consider the following linear transformations: Let

$$J_{1,a}: L^2([a,\infty), y^{-2}dy) \to L^2([1,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$$

be the inclusion and

$$\rho_{a,1}: L^2([1,\infty), y^{-2}dy) \to L^2([a,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$$

be the restriction. If  $f \in L^2([1,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$ , then  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}}f := J_{1,a}e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}}\rho_{a,1}f$ .

Conversely, the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  can be regarded as acting on  $L^2([a,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$  in the following way: Let  $f \in L^2([a,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$ ,  $e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}f := \rho_{a,1}e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}J_{1,a}f$ .

Now, let us assume that M can be decomposed as  $M = M_0 \cup Z$  with  $Z = [1, \infty) \times S^1$ . Then we can make the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}}$  act on  $L^2(M, dA_g)$  in the following way: let  $\Pi_a : L^2(M, dA_g) \to L^2([a, \infty), y^{-2}dy)$ , be the projection defined by  $\Pi_a f(y) = \int_{S^1} f|_{Z_a}(y, x)dx$ , where as before  $Z_a$  denotes the cusp  $[a, \infty) \times S^1$ , and let  $J_a : L^2([a, \infty), y^{-2}dy) \to L^2(M, dA_g)$  be the inclusion. By an abuse of notation, for  $f \in L^2(M, dA_g)$ , we write  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}}f := J_a e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} \Pi_a f$ . Explicitly,

$$e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}}f(z) = \int_a^\infty \int_{S^1} p_a(y, y', t) \ f|_{Z_a} (y', x') dx' \frac{dy'}{y'^2} \quad \text{ for } z = (y, x) \in Z_a$$

and is zero otherwise. From the symmetry of  $p_a(y, y', t)$ , is clear that the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}}$  acting on  $L^2(M, dA_g)$  is symmetric.

Recall the operator  $\Delta_{Z,D}$  defined in section 1.1. The kernel of the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{Z,D}}$  is constructed by a classical method (see [9, chapter VII]) and it is given by:

$$K_{Z,D}((y,x),(y',x'),t) = K_1((y,x),(y',x'),t) + p_{1,D}((y,x),(y',x'),t)$$
(1.10)

where  $y, y' \ge 1$ ,  $x, x' \in S^1$ , t > 0, and  $p_{1,D}((y, x), (y', x'), t)$  is a function that decays exponentially as  $t \to 0$  if (y, x) and (y', x') are away from the boundary. More precisely, for every T > 0 there exist constants C, c > 0 such that:

$$|p_{1,D}(z,z',t)| \le Ct^{-1}(i(z)i(z'))^{1/2}e^{-\frac{c(d_g(z,\partial Z)+d_g(z',\partial Z))^2}{t}}$$
(1.11)

for all  $z, z' \in Z$  and 0 < t < T. For manifolds of dimension n, the power of t is -n/2.

For upper estimates of heat kernels on complete Riemannian manifolds, we refer to [11], Theorems 4, 6 and 7. There, the authors work with the heat kernel of a complete Riemannian manifold with sectional curvature bounded from above and from below by constants C and -c, with  $C, c \ge 0$ . They state that the derivatives of the heat kernel K(x, y, t) are expected to satisfy similar inequalities as K(x, y, t) itself satisfies, except for the powers of the time variable t which will be different and the constants will depend on the curvature of M and its covariant derivatives. We state here some of their results. Let M be a complete Riemannian manifold with bounded curvature. Then there exists a constant c(n, k, T), with  $n = \dim M$ , k the lower bound of the curvature, and T > 0, such that for all  $p, x \in M$ , and for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , ([11, Thm 4])

$$K(p, x, t) \le c(n, k, T)(\tilde{\delta}(p))^{-\alpha(n)} t^{-n/2} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha(n)d^2(p, x)}{t}\right).$$

for some universal constant  $\alpha(n) > 0$ , where

$$\tilde{\delta}(p) = \min\left\{1, \delta(p), \frac{\pi}{12\sqrt{K}}\right\},\$$

and  $\delta(p)$  is the injectivity radius at p. For the derivatives of K one has, ([11, Thm 6])

$$|\nabla K|(x,p,t) \le c(n,k,T)(\tilde{\delta}(p))^{-\alpha(n)} t^{-(n+1)/2} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha(n)d^2(p,x)}{t}\right).$$

Finally, under the same hypothesis as above Theorem 7 in [11] states that there exists a constant  $C(n, A_0, A_1, T)$  such that for all  $p, x \in M$ , and for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$|\operatorname{hess} K|(p, x, t) \le C(n, A_0, A_1, T)(\tilde{\delta}(p))^{-\alpha(n)} t^{-(n+2)/2} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha(n)d^2(p, x)}{t}\right),$$

where  $A_0$  is a bound for the curvature tensor and  $A_1$  is a bound for its covariant derivative.

Now let us go back to the conformal transformation of the metric in a surface with cusps,  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$ . Let us assume that  $\varphi$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi$  decay in the cusp as O(1/y), as  $y \to \infty$ . Remember that in that case the metrics g and h are quasi-isometric, therefore the corresponding Riemannian distances are equivalent, i.e., there exist constants  $C_1, C_2 > 0$  such that

$$C_1 d_g(z, z') \le d_h(z, z') \le C_2 d_g(z, z').$$

Transferring the results of [11] to our case we have that for the power of the injectivity radius  $\alpha = 1/2$  and for  $z = (y, x) \in Z$ ,  $\delta(z) = \operatorname{inj}_g(z) \sim y^{-1} \sim \operatorname{inj}_h(z)$ . Therefore the kernel of the heat operator for the metric h satisfies the same estimate as the one corresponding to g:

$$K_h(z, z', t) \ll (i(z)i(z'))^{\frac{1}{2}}t^{-1}\exp\left(-\frac{c_0d_h^2(z, z')}{t}\right) \ll (i(z)i(z'))^{\frac{1}{2}}t^{-1}\exp\left(-\frac{c_1d_g^2(z, z')}{t}\right)$$
(1.12)

uniformly for 0 < t < T, where  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  are positive constants and the symbol  $\ll$  means  $\leq c$  times the expression, for some constant  $c \geq 0$ .

For the derivatives of the heat kernel  $K_*$ , where \* denotes the metric g or h, we obtain:

$$|\nabla K_*|(z, z', t) \le c(n, k, T) \ (i(z)i(z'))^{1/2}t^{-3/2} \exp\left(-\frac{c_1d_g^2(z, z')}{t}\right), \text{ and}$$
(1.13)

$$|\Delta_* K_*|(z, z', t) \le C(n, A_0, A_1, T) \ (i(z)i(z'))^{1/2} t^{-2} \exp\left(-\frac{c_1 d_g^2(z, z')}{t}\right).$$
(1.14)

Now let  $\Delta_{Z,h}$  be the self-adjoint extension of the operator

$$-e^{-2\varphi}y^2(\partial_y^2 + \partial_x^2) : C_c^{\infty}(Z) \to L^2(Z, dA_h)$$

obtained after imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions at  $\{1\} \times S^1$ . Let  $K_{Z,h}$  denote the kernel of the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{Z,h}}$ . As in the case of the heat kernel associated to the operator  $\Delta_{Z,D}$ , equation (1.10), the kernel  $K_{Z,h}$  is given by:

$$K_{Z,h}(z, z', t) = K_{1,h}(z, z', t) + p_{h,D}(z, z', t),$$
(1.15)

for  $z, z' \in Z$  and t > 0 where the term  $p_{h,D}(z, z', t)$  is determined by the boundary condition. By the same argument as above, we infer that  $p_{h,D}(z, z', t)$  satisfies, up to some constants, the same estimate as the one given by equation (1.11).

#### **1.6** Duhamel's Principle

There are several ways to state and use Duhamel's principle. In this section we refer to [9, VII.3]. Let  $\Omega$  be a regular domain in a fixed Riemannian manifold M and let  $\partial \Omega$  be its boundary. The

boundary carries the outward unit normal vector field  $\nu$ . A regular domain is a connected open subset which has compat closure and whose boundary is smooth.

Let  $u, v \in C^2(\Omega \times (0, t))$  be such that they extend continuously to  $\overline{\Omega}$ , and their gradients extend to continuous vector fields on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $[\alpha, \beta] \subseteq (0, t)$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} d\tau \int_{\Omega} \{ (Lu)(z,t-\tau)v(z,\tau) - u(z,t-\tau)(Lv)(z,\tau) \} dA(z) \\ &= \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} d\tau \int_{\partial\Omega} \left\{ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_x} (x,t-\tau)v(x,\tau) - u(x,t-\tau) \frac{\partial v}{\partial \nu_x} (x,\tau) \right\} dA(x) \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} u(z,t-\beta)v(z,\beta) - u(z,t-\alpha)v(z,\alpha) dA(z), \quad (1.16) \end{split}$$

where  $L = \Delta - \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ . In the notation of [9] the Laplacian is negative. Since we work with positive Laplacians we need to arrange the signs.

Duhamel's principle can be applied in the non-compact setting under certain assumptions on the decay of the functions. This is the case of the heat kernels on surfaces with cusps and asymptotically cusp ends. Using equation (1.16) and the properties of the heat kernels, we obtain the equations that we will use throughout this thesis. One of them is the following:

$$K_h(z, z', t)e^{2\varphi(z')} - K_g(z, z', t) = \int_0^t d\tau \int_M K_h(z, w, s)e^{2\varphi(w)}(\Delta_g - \Delta_h)K_g(w, z', t-s)dA_g(w)ds$$

In terms of the operators, Duhamel's principle can be written as:

$$T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g} = \int_0^t T^{-1}e^{-s\Delta_h}T(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-(t-s)\Delta_g} \, ds.$$

#### 1.7 Gauss-Bonnet formula

For a surface M with m cusps, the Euler characteristic is given by  $\chi(M) = (2 - 2p - m)$ , where p is the genus of the compact surface  $\overline{M}$  defined in section 1.1. A Gauss-Bonnet formula is valid in this setting:

$$\int_M K_g dA_g = 2\pi \chi(M),$$

where  $K_g$  denotes the Gaussian curvature of the metric g. The same formula is valid for the metric  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$  when  $\varphi$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi$  have a suitable decay at infinity, since:

$$\int_M K_h \ dA_h = \int_M e^{-2\varphi} (\Delta_g \varphi + K_g) e^{2\varphi} \ dA_g = \int_M \Delta_g \varphi \ dA_g + \int_M K_g \ dA_g = \int_M K_g \ dA_g.$$

#### **1.8** Regularized determinants on compact manifolds

On a *n*-dimensional orientable connected closed Riemannian manifold, the determinant of the Laplace operator is defined by a zeta regularization method. We know that the spectrum of the Laplacian  $\Delta$  consists of a discrete set  $0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \cdots$  of eigenvalues and that the corresponding eigenfunctions  $\{\phi_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$  form an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(M)$ . Let  $N(\lambda) = \sum_{\lambda_i < \lambda} 1$ ,

it is well known that it satisfies Weyl's asymptotic formula  $N(\lambda) \sim \frac{\omega_n \operatorname{vol}(M)}{(2\pi)^n} \lambda^{n/2}$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ , where  $\omega_n = \frac{(2\pi)^{n/2}}{\Gamma(n/2)}$ . This implies in particular that  $\lambda_j^{n/2} \sim \frac{(2\pi)^n j}{\omega_n \operatorname{vol}(M)}$ , for  $j \gg 1$ . The spectral zeta function associated to  $\Delta$  is defined by the series:

$$\zeta_{\Delta}(s) = \sum_{\lambda_j > 0} \lambda_j^{-s}.$$

Since for  $j \gg 1$ ,  $\lambda_j^{-s} \sim (C(n)j)^{-2s/n}$  with  $C(n) = 2\pi/w_n \operatorname{vol}(M)$ , it is clear that the series converges absolutely on  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > n/2$  and that the convergence is uniform on compact subsets of the same half plane. Using Mellin transform we obtain

$$\zeta_{\Delta}(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \sum_{j=1}^\infty e^{-\lambda_j t} t^{s-1} dt = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta}) - 1) t^{s-1} dt$$

Let  $F(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_j t} t^{s-1} dt$ . It converges absolutely and uniformly on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{C}$ . On the other hand the heat kernel has an asymptotic expansion at the diagonal as  $t \to 0$ :

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} e^{-t\lambda_j} \phi_j(x)^2 = (4\pi t)^{-n/2} \left( \sum_{j=0}^k t^j u_j(x,x) \right) + O(t^{k-\frac{n}{2}+1})$$

The coefficients are universal polynomials in the curvature and its derivatives; see [16]. The expansion of the heat kernel induces an asymptotic expansion on the trace of the heat operator as  $t \rightarrow 0^+$ :

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta}) \sim t^{-n/2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j t^j.$$

The numbers  $a_i$  are called the heat invariants. We use this asymptotic expansion to obtain:

$$\int_0^1 (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta}) - 1)t^{s-1}dt = -\frac{1}{s} + \sum_{k=0}^N \frac{a_k}{k+s - \frac{n}{2}} + O(1),$$

as  $t \to 0$ . Thus, we can continue  $\zeta_{\Delta}(s)$  to a meromorphic function on  $\mathbb{C}$  by using

$$\zeta_{\Delta}(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \left\{ -\frac{1}{s} + \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{a_k}{k+s-\frac{n}{2}} + \text{ analytic in s} \right\}.$$

The pole at s = 0 in the brackets cancels with the zero of  $\frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} = se^{\gamma s} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 + \frac{s}{n})e^{-\frac{s}{n}}$ . In this way we obtain an extension of  $\zeta_{\Delta}(s)$  that is analytic at s = 0. The regularized determinant of  $\Delta$ is then defined by:

$$\det \Delta = \exp\left(-\frac{d}{ds}\zeta_{\Delta}(s)\big|_{s=0}\right).$$
(1.17)

In the same way, one can define a regularized determinant for every self-adjoint non-negative elliptic operator P on a closed manifold.

#### **1.9** Relative determinants

The notion of relative determinant was introduced by W. Müller in [30]. The relative determinant is defined for two self-adjoint, nonnegative linear operators,  $H_1$  and  $H_0$ , in a separable Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfying the following assumptions:

- 1. For each t > 0,  $e^{-tH_1} e^{-tH_0}$  is a trace class operator.
- 2. As  $t \to 0$ , there is an asymptotic expansion of the relative trace of the form:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH_1} - e^{-tH_0}) \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{k(j)} a_{jk} t^{\alpha_j} \log^k t,$$

where  $-\infty < \alpha_0 < \alpha_1 < \cdots$  and  $\alpha_k \to \infty$ . Moreover, if  $\alpha_j = 0$  we assume that  $a_{jk} = 0$  for k > 0.

3.  $\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH_1} - e^{-tH_0}) = h + O(e^{-ct})$ , as  $t \to \infty$ , where  $h = \dim \operatorname{Ker} H_1 - \dim \operatorname{Ker} H_0$ .

These properties allow us to define the relative zeta function as:

$$\zeta(s; H_1, H_0) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH_1} - e^{-tH_0}) - h) t^{s-1} dt.$$

The relative determinant is then defined as:

$$\det(H_1, H_0) := e^{-\zeta'(0; H_1, H_0)}.$$

In a more general setting, condition 3) is replaced by an asymptotic expansion as  $t \to \infty$ . Then, in order to define the relative zeta function, the integral has to be split in two parts, see [30].

## Chapter 2

# Trace class property of relative heat operators

In this chapter we give a proof of Theorem 2.3, which says that the difference of the heat operators for g and h is trace class. As we know, none of the heat operators  $e^{-t\Delta_h}$  nor  $e^{-t\Delta_g}$  is trace class; which is the reason why we consider their difference. The trace class property is very important because it allows us to study the scattering theory of a pair of operators. In addition, it is the first step to define the relative determinant of the pair.

Let (M, g),  $M_0$ , Z as well as  $\Delta_g$ ,  $\Delta_{Z,D}$ , and  $\Delta_1$  be as in Chapter 1. Here again we consider the surface (M, g) only with one cusp so that it can be decomposed as  $M = M_0 \cup Z$  with  $M_0$  compact and  $Z = [1, \infty) \times S^1$ .

Recall that the product of a trace class operator with a bounded operator is trace class, the product of two Hilbert-Schmidt operators is a trace class operator and the product of a Hilbert-Schmidt operator with a bounded operator is Hilbert-Schmidt.

Let T be a trace class operator and T = RS with R, S Hilbert-Schmidt. Then

$$||T||_1 \le ||R||_2 ||S||_2,$$

where  $\|\cdot\|_1$  denotes the trace norm and  $\|\cdot\|_2$  denotes the Hilbert-Schmidt norm, see [21] for the corresponding definitions. For an integral operator R with integral kernel r(z, z') the Hilbert-Schmidt norm is giving by:

$$||R||_2^2 = \int_M \int_M |r(z, z')|^2 dA(z) dA(z').$$

In this chapter we need to make many estimates for which we repeatedly use the following lemmas:

**Lemma 2.1.** For any a > 0, and  $b, n, m \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have that:

$$\int_{n}^{m} e^{-ax^{2}-bx} dx = \frac{e^{b^{2}/4a}}{\sqrt{a}} \int_{\sqrt{a}(n+\frac{b}{2a})}^{\sqrt{a}(m+\frac{b}{2a})} e^{-v^{2}} dv \le \frac{\sqrt{\pi}e^{b^{2}/4a}}{\sqrt{a}}.$$

For any c > 0,  $0 < t \le T$ ,  $k, \ell \ge 0$  with  $k + \ell > 2$  we have:

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-k} y'^{-\ell} e^{-\frac{c}{t} \log(y/y')^2} dy dy' \le \sqrt{t} e^{(1-k)^2 t/c}.$$
(2.1)

*Proof.* Both results follow just from a change of variables. For the second part, for y' fixed, put  $v = \log(y/y')$ , so  $y'e^v = y$ , and since  $1 \le y' < \infty$ , then  $-\infty < -\log(y') \le 0$ , thus

$$\begin{split} \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-k} y'^{-\ell} e^{-\frac{c}{t} \log(y/y')^{2}} dy dy' &= \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{-\log(y')}^{\infty} y'^{-\ell-k+1} e^{(1-k)v} e^{-\frac{c}{t}v^{2}} dv dy' \\ &\leq \int_{1}^{\infty} y'^{-\ell-k+1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{(1-k)v} e^{-\frac{c}{t}v^{2}} dv dy' \ll \sqrt{t} e^{(1-k)^{2}t/c}. \end{split}$$

Note that for a, b, c > 0 the function  $f(t) = t^{-a}e^{-ct^{-b}}$  is bounded in  $(0, \infty)$  and  $\lim_{t\to 0} f(t) = 0$ . **Lemma 2.2.** Let  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(M)$ ,  $\psi = e^{-2\varphi} - 1$  and  $\tilde{\psi} = e^{2\varphi} - 1$ . If  $\varphi|_Z(y, x)$ ,  $\Delta_g \varphi|_Z(y, x)$  and  $|\nabla_g \varphi|_g|_Z(y, x)$  are  $O(y^{-k})$  as  $y \to \infty$ , then so are  $\psi|_Z(y, x)$ ,  $\Delta_g \psi|_Z(y, x)$ ,  $|\nabla_g \psi|_g|_Z(y, x)$  and the analogues functions corresponding to  $\tilde{\psi}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $z = (y, x) \in Z$ . Since  $\varphi = O(y^{-k})$ , as  $y \to \infty$ , there exist constants c > 0 and N > 1 such that  $|\varphi(y, x)| \leq cy^{-k}$ , for y > N. Then there exists a constant  $c_1 > 0$  such that for  $y \geq N$ :

$$\begin{split} |\widetilde{\psi}(x,y)| &= |e^{2\varphi} - 1| \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{(2|\varphi|)^{\ell}}{\ell!} \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{(2c)^{\ell}}{y^{k\ell}\ell!} \leq \frac{1}{y^{k}} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{(2c)^{\ell}}{y^{k\ell-k}\ell!} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{y^{k}} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{(2c)^{\ell}}{N^{k\ell-k}\ell!} = \frac{N^{k}}{y^{k}} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{(2c)^{\ell}}{N^{k\ell}\ell!} \leq y^{-k} (N^{k}e^{2c/N^{k}}). \end{split}$$

For the other statements, notice that

$$\nabla_g \psi = \nabla_g e^{-2\varphi} = -2e^{-2\varphi} \nabla_g \varphi$$
$$\Delta_g \psi = \Delta_g e^{-2\varphi} = -2e^{-2\varphi} \Delta_g \varphi - 4e^{-2\varphi} |\nabla_g \varphi|^2.$$

Later we will also use the fact that the Riemannian distance in the cusp Z satisfies  $d_g(z, z') \ge |\log(y/y')|$ , for z = (y, x), z' = (y', x'), see for example [28].

# 2.1 Trace class property for relative heat operators of conformal transformations

Take g as background metric on M. Let h be a conformal transformation of the metric g by a conformal factor  $e^{2\varphi}$ . We assume that on the cusp Z the functions  $\varphi(y, x)$ ,  $|\nabla_g \varphi(y, x)|$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi(y, x)$  are O(1/y) as y goes to infinity. Recall that this implies that g and h are quasi-isometric and h has bounded curvature.

Let  $e^{-t\Delta_h}$  and  $e^{-t\Delta_g}$  denote the heat operators corresponding to the Laplacians  $\Delta_h$  and  $\Delta_g$ , respectively. Let  $K_h(z, z', t)$  and  $K_g(z, z', t)$  denote their kernels. As we explained in Chapter 1 we need to consider the unitary map  $T : L^2(M, dA_g) \to L^2(M, dA_h), T(f) = e^{-\varphi}f$ . Recall the expression for  $T^{-1}\Delta_h T$  given by equation (1.4) which implies:

$$\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T = (1 - e^{-2\varphi})\Delta_g + e^{-2\varphi} (-2\langle \nabla_g \varphi, \nabla_g \cdot \rangle_g + \Delta_g \varphi + |\nabla_g \varphi|_g^2), \tag{2.2}$$

$$T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h = (e^{2\varphi} - 1)\Delta_h - 2e^{2\varphi} \langle \nabla_h \varphi, \nabla_h \cdot \rangle_h + (\Delta_g \varphi - |\nabla_g \varphi|_g^2).$$
(2.3)

Note that the functions  $e^{-2\varphi} - 1$  and  $1 - e^{2\varphi}$  are  $O(y^{-1})$  as  $y \to \infty$  and that the functions  $e^{2\varphi}$  and  $e^{-2\varphi}$  are bounded on M. In this section we use these facts, the decay at infinity of the function  $\varphi$ and its derivatives and the estimates for heat kernels and their derivatives given in Chapter 1.

**Theorem 2.3.** Let  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$ , and assume that on the cusp Z the functions  $\varphi(y, x)$ ,  $|\nabla_g \varphi(y, x)|$ and  $\Delta_g \varphi(y,x)$  are O(1/y) as  $y \to \infty$ . Then for any t > 0 the operator

$$T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}$$

is trace class.

To prove this statement we follow a procedure similar to that used by Müller and Salomonsen in [32]. We use Duhamel's principle which was stated in Section 1.6. Recall how it is given in terms of the operators:

$$T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g} = \int_0^t T^{-1}e^{-s\Delta_h}T(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-(t-s)\Delta_g} \, ds.$$
(2.4)

Let  $\|\cdot\|$  denote the operator norm and  $\|\cdot\|_{1,g}$ ,  $(\|\cdot\|_{1,h})$ , resp.), denote the trace norm in  $L^2(M, dA_q)$ , (in  $L^2(M, dA_h)$ , resp.), then:

$$\|T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{g}}\|_{1,g} \leq \int_{0}^{t/2} \|e^{-s\Delta_{h}}\| \|(\Delta_{g} - T^{-1}\Delta_{h}T)e^{-(t-s)\Delta_{g}}\|_{1,g} ds$$
$$+ \int_{t/2}^{t} \|e^{-s\Delta_{h}}(T\Delta_{g}T^{-1} - \Delta_{h})\|_{1,h} \|e^{-(t-s)\Delta_{g}}\| ds$$
$$\leq \int_{0}^{t/2} \|(\Delta_{g} - T^{-1}\Delta_{h}T)e^{-(t-s)\Delta_{g}}\|_{1,g} ds + \int_{t/2}^{t} \|e^{-s\Delta_{h}}(T\Delta_{g}T^{-1} - \Delta_{h})\|_{1,h} ds$$
(2.5)

When considering the trace of the operator in the right hand side of equation (2.4) as an integral using heat kernels and their estimates one has to take two aspects into account. One is related with the time singularity at t = 0 and the other one is related with the convergence of the space integral. The idea of breaking up the integral in equation (2.5) comes from the need to avoid the time singularities coming from the heat kernel  $K_h(z, z', s)$   $(K_q(z, z', t-s))$  close to s = 0 (t-s=t)that do not integrate to something finite in a neighborhood of 0 (of t).

Equation (2.5) reduces the proof of the theorem to the following Lemma:

**Lemma 2.4.** Let  $0 < a < b < \infty$ , under the same conditions of theorem 2.3 we have that for each  $t \in [a, b]$ , the operators

$$(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}$$
 and  $e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)$ 

are trace class and each trace norm is uniformly bounded on  $t \in [a, b]$ .

In the proof we will use a choice of auxiliary function  $\phi$  repeatedly, where  $\phi \in C^{\infty}(M)$ , satisfies  $\phi > 0$  and

$$\phi(y,x) = y^{-1/2}, \quad (y,x) \in Z.$$
 (2.6)

Let  $M_{\phi}$  and  $M_{\phi}^{-1}$  denote the operators multiplication by  $\phi$  and  $\phi^{-1}$ , respectively. The proof of Lemma 2.4 is presented in the following two subsections:

#### **2.1.1** Trace class property of $(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}$

Let us write

$$(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g} = ((\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-(t/2)\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1}) \circ (M_{\phi}e^{-(t/2)\Delta_g}).$$

Let us prove that for every t > 0,  $(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1}$  and  $M_{\phi}e^{-t\Delta_g}$  are Hilbert-Schmidt operators. The reason to include the auxiliary function  $\phi$  is that the heat operator  $e^{-t\Delta_g}$  itself is not Hilbert-Schmidt but when composed with  $M_{\phi}$  it is.

## The operator $(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1}$ is Hilbert-Schmidt.

We use equation (2.2) to write the operator as:

$$\begin{aligned} (\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1} &= ((1 - e^{-2\varphi(z)})\Delta_g)e^{-t\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1} \\ &+ e^{-2\varphi}(-2\langle \nabla_g\varphi, \nabla_g \cdot \rangle_g + (\Delta_g\varphi + |\nabla_g\varphi|_g^2))e^{-t\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1}. \end{aligned}$$

We start by proving the Hilbert-Schmidt property for  $((1 - e^{-2\varphi(z)})\Delta_g)e^{-t\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1}$ . In order to do that we just need to prove that the following integral is finite:

$$\int_M \int_M |(1 - e^{-2\varphi(z)})\Delta_{g,z} K_g(z, z', t)\phi(z')^{-1}|^2 dA_g(z) dA_g(z').$$

Let us use the decomposition of M as  $M = M_0 \cup Z$  to split the integral as:

$$\int_{M} \int_{M} \cdots dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') = \int_{M_{0}} \int_{M_{0}} \cdots dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') + \int_{M_{0}} \int_{Z} \cdots dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') + \int_{Z} \int_{M_{0}} \cdots dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') + \int_{Z} \int_{Z} \cdots dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') \quad (2.7)$$

and let us prove that each integral is finite. We use the estimates for the derivatives of heat kernel  $K_g(z, z', t)$  given in (1.14), the decay of the function  $1 - e^{-2\varphi(z)}$  at infinity, which by Lemma 2.2 is the same decay as the one of the function  $\varphi$ , and the definition of the function i(z) given in (1.6). To estimate the resulting integrals we use the lemmas given at the beginning of this chapter. For the sake of simplicity let us just write c instead of 2c for the constant in the exponential factor of the estimates of the heat kernels.

For the first term in the sum in equation (2.7) which involves  $z \in M_0$  and  $z' \in M_0$  we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} |(1 - e^{-2\varphi(z)}) \Delta_{g,z} K_g(z, z', t) \phi(z')^{-1}|^2 dA_g(z) dA_g(z') \\ \ll \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} t^{-4} e^{-\frac{c}{t} d_g^2(z, z')} \, dA_g(z) \, dA_g(z') \ll t^{-4}. \end{split}$$

For the second term in the sum in equation (2.7) which involves  $z' \in M_0$  and  $z \in Z$  we have:

$$\int_{M_0} \int_Z |(1 - e^{-2\varphi(z)}) \Delta_{g,z} K_g(z, z', t) \phi(z')^{-1}|^2 dA_g(z) dA_g(z') \\ \ll t^{-4} \int_{M_0} \int_{S^1} \int_1^\infty \frac{1}{y^3} e^{-\frac{c}{t} d_g^2((y, x), z')} dy dx dA_g(z') \ll t^{-4}.$$

The third term in the sum in equation (2.7) involves variables  $z \in M_0$  and  $z' \in Z$ . In this case we use that the Riemannian distance satisfies  $d_g(z, z') \ge d_g(\partial Z, z') \ge |\log(y')|$  from which we infer:

$$\begin{split} \int_{Z} \int_{M_{0}} |(1 - e^{-2\varphi(z)})\Delta_{g,z}K_{g}(z, z', t)\phi(z')^{-1}|^{2}dA_{g}(z)dA_{g}(z') \\ \ll t^{-4} \int_{S^{1}} \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{M_{0}} e^{-\frac{c}{t}d_{g}^{2}(z, (y', x'))} \ dA_{g}(z) \ dx' \ dy' \ll t^{-4} \int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{c}{t}(\log(y'))^{2}} \ dy' \\ = t^{-4} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{c}{t}u^{2}}e^{u} \ du \ll t^{-7/2}e^{t/c'}. \end{split}$$

Finally, the last term in the sum in equation (2.7) in which the variables z, z' lie in Z we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{Z} \int_{Z} |(1 - e^{-2\varphi(z)}) \Delta_{g,z} K_{g}(z, z', t) \phi(z')^{-1}|^{2} dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') \\ \ll t^{-4} \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-3} e^{-\frac{c}{t} (\log(y/y'))^{2}} \, dy \, dy' \ll t^{-7/2} e^{\frac{t}{c}}. \end{split}$$

Thus we obtain:

$$\|(1-e^{-2\varphi})\Delta_g e^{-t\Delta_g} M_{\phi}^{-1}\|_2^2 \ll t^{-4} \left(1+t^{1/2}e^{t/c}\right)$$

Now we prove that the operators  $e^{-2\varphi} \langle \nabla_g \varphi, \nabla_g \cdot \rangle_g e^{-t\Delta_g} M_{\phi}^{-1}$  and  $e^{-2\varphi} (\Delta_g \varphi + |\nabla_g \varphi|_g^2)) e^{-t\Delta_g} M_{\phi}^{-1}$  are Hilbert-Schmidt. Their integral kernels are given by

$$e^{-2\varphi(z)}\langle \nabla_{g,z}\varphi(z), \nabla_{g,z}K_g(z,z',t)\rangle_g\phi^{-1}(z') \text{ and } e^{-2\varphi(z)}(\Delta_g\varphi(z)+|\nabla_{g,z}\varphi(z)|_g^2)K_g(z,z',t)\phi^{-1}(z'),$$

respectively. For which we have respectively the following estimates:

$$|e^{-2\varphi(z)}\langle \nabla_{g,z}\varphi(z), \nabla_{g,z}K_g(z,z',t)\rangle_g \phi^{-1}(z')|^2 \ll t^{-3}i(z)i(z')|\nabla_g\varphi(z)|^2 e^{-\frac{c}{t}d_g^2(z,z')}\phi^{-1}(z')^2$$

$$\begin{split} |e^{-2\varphi(z)}(\Delta_g\varphi(z) + |\nabla_{g,z}\varphi(z)|_g^2 K_g(z,z',t)\phi^{-1}(z')|^2 \\ \ll t^{-2}(|\Delta_g\varphi(z)| + |\nabla_g\varphi(z)|_g^2)^2 i(z)i(z')e^{-\frac{c}{t}d_g^2(z,z')}\phi^{-1}(z')^2. \end{split}$$

We split the integrals on  $M \times M$  in the same way as in equation (2.7), and the integrals obtained are very similar to those carried out in the previous part for the operator  $(1 - e^{-2\varphi})\Delta_g e^{-t\Delta_g}$ . The main difference occurs in the power of t. For the operator  $e^{-2\varphi} \langle \nabla_g \varphi, \nabla_g \cdot \rangle_g e^{-t\Delta_g} M_{\phi}^{-1}$  we use the estimates in equation (1.13) and the decay of the function  $|\varphi|$  at infinity. Let us check the following two cases:

When  $z \in M_0, z' \in Z$ :

$$\begin{split} \int_{Z} \int_{M_{0}} |e^{-2\varphi(z)} \langle \nabla_{g,z}\varphi(z), \nabla_{g,z}K_{g}(z,z',t) \rangle_{g} \phi^{-1}(z')|^{2} dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') \\ \ll t^{-3} \int_{1}^{\infty} y'^{2} e^{-\frac{c}{t}(\log(y'))^{2}} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \ll t^{-5/2} e^{t/c'}. \end{split}$$

When  $z \in Z, z' \in Z$ :

$$\begin{split} \int_{Z} \int_{Z} |e^{-2\varphi(z)} \langle \nabla_{g,z}\varphi(z), \nabla_{g,z}K_{g}(z,z',t) \rangle_{g} \phi^{-1}(z')|^{2} dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') \\ \ll t^{-3} \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} yy' \frac{1}{y^{2}} y' e^{-\frac{c}{t} (\log(y/y'))^{2}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} = t^{-3} \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-3} e^{-\frac{c}{t} (\log(y/y'))^{2}} dy dy' \ll t^{-5/2} e^{\frac{t}{c}}. \end{split}$$

Now for the operator  $e^{-2\varphi}(\Delta_g \varphi + |\nabla_g \varphi|_g^2))e^{-t\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1}$  we use the estimate of the heat kernel given in equation (1.8) and the decay of the functions involving  $\varphi$ . Let us check only the integral on  $Z \times Z$ . For  $z \in Z$  we have  $(\Delta_g \varphi(z) + |\nabla_{g,z} \varphi(z)|_g^2)^2 \ll (y^{-1} + y^{-2})^2 \ll y^{-2}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \int_{Z} \int_{Z} |e^{-2\varphi(z)} (\Delta_{g}\varphi(z) + |\nabla_{g,z}\varphi(z)|_{g}^{2}) K_{g}(z,z',t)\phi^{-1}(z')|^{2} dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') \\ \ll t^{-2} \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-3} e^{-\frac{c}{t} (\log(y/y'))^{2}} dy dy' \ll t^{-3/2} e^{\frac{t}{c}}. \end{split}$$

Thus in the same way as above we obtain:

$$\|e^{-2\varphi} \langle \nabla_g \varphi, \nabla_g \cdot \rangle_g e^{-t\Delta_g} M_{\phi}^{-1}\|_2^2 \ll t^{-3} \left(1 + t^{1/2} e^{t/c}\right)$$
$$\|e^{-2\varphi} (\Delta_g \varphi + |\nabla_g \varphi|_g^2) e^{-t\Delta_g} M_{\phi}^{-1}\|_2^2 \ll t^{-2} \left(1 + t^{1/2} e^{t/c}\right)$$

#### The operator $M_{\phi}e^{-t\Delta_g}$ is Hilbert-Schmidt

In order to prove this, we have to prove that the following integral is finite:

$$\int_M \int_M |\phi(z)K_g(z,z',t)|^2 dA_g(z) dA_g(z').$$

We decompose the integral as in equation (2.7), and prove that each integral is finite. We use here the estimates for  $K_g(z, z', t)$  given in (1.8) and the definition of the functions  $\phi$  and i(z). Again, for the sake of simplicity we just write c instead of 2c in the exponential factor of the heat estimates. The computations are very similar to those in the previous case.

For the first term in which  $z, z' \in M_0$  we have:

$$\int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} |\phi(z)K_g(z,z',t)|^2 dA_g(z) dA_g(z') \ll \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} t^{-2} e^{-\frac{c}{t}d_g^2(z,z')} dA_g(z) dA_g(z') \ll t^{-2}.$$

For the second term which involves  $z' \in M_0$  and  $z \in Z$  we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{M_0} \int_Z |\phi(z) K_g(z, z', t)|^2 dA_g(z) dA_g(z') \\ \ll t^{-2} \int_{M_0} \int_{S^1} \int_1^\infty \frac{1}{y^2} \ e^{-\frac{c}{t} d_g^2((y, x), z')} \ dy \ dx \ dA_g(z') \ll t^{-2}. \end{split}$$

For the third term in the sum in which  $z \in M_0$  and  $z' \in Z$  we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{Z} \int_{M_{0}} |\phi(z)K_{g}(z,z',t)|^{2} dA_{g}(z) dA_{g}(z') \ll t^{-2} \int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{y'} e^{-\frac{c}{t} (\log(y'))^{2}} dy' \\ &= t^{-2} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{c}{t}u^{2}} du \ll t^{-3/2}. \end{split}$$

Finally, the last term in which the variables z, z' lie in Z satisfies:

$$\int_{Z} \int_{Z} |\phi(z)K_{g}(z,z',t)|^{2} dA_{g}(z') dA_{g}(z) \ll \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{y} y y' t^{-2} e^{\frac{-c}{t} (\log(y/y'))^{2}} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}}$$
(2.8)

$$= t^{-2} \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{y^2} \frac{1}{y'} e^{\frac{-c}{t} (\log(y/y'))^2} \, dy \, dy' \le t^{-3/2} e^{c't}.$$
(2.9)

Therefore

$$||M_{\phi}e^{-t\Delta_g}||_2^2 \ll t^{-2} + t^{-3/2}e^{t/4c}.$$

In this way we have that  $(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}$  is a trace class operator and

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}\|_{1,g} &\leq \|(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-(t/2)\Delta_g}M_{\phi}^{-1}\|_2 \cdot \|M_{\phi}e^{-(t/2)\Delta_g}\|_2 \\ &\ll (t^{-2} + t^{-3} + t^{-4})^{1/2} \left(1 + t^{1/2}e^{t/c}\right)^{1/2} \left(t^{-2} + t^{-3/2}e^{t/c'}\right)^{1/2} \end{aligned}$$

the last expression is integrable for t in compact subsets of  $(0, \infty)$ .

#### 2.1.2 Trace class property of $e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)$

The proof is very similar to the proof for  $(\Delta_g - T^{-1}\Delta_h T)e^{-t\Delta_g}$  since the heat kernels satisfy the same estimates, and the metrics are quasi-isometric. Let us write:

$$e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h) = (e^{-(t/2)\Delta_h} M_\phi) \circ (M_\phi^{-1} e^{-(t/2)\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)),$$

where  $\phi \in C^{\infty}(M)$  is as above. Then we have to prove that for every t > 0, the operators  $e^{-t\Delta_h}M_{\phi}$ and  $M_{\phi}^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)$  are Hilbert-Schmidt, i.e. that their kernels are square integrable.

## The operator $M_{\phi}^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)$ is Hilbert-Schmidt

First of all let us consider the kernel of the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)$ . Let  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(M)$ . Then we have:

$$(e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)f)(z) = \int_M K_h(z, z', t) \cdot (T\Delta_{g, z'}T^{-1} - \Delta_{h, z'})f(z')dA_h(z')$$
  
= 
$$\int_M ((T\Delta_{g, z'}T^{-1} - \Delta_{h, z'})K_h(z, z', t)) \cdot f(z')dA_h(z')$$

since the operators  $T\Delta_{g,z'}T^{-1}$  and  $\Delta_h$  are symmetric on  $L^2(M, dA_h)$ . Now, use equation (2.3):

$$M_{\phi}^{-1}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)e^{-t\Delta_h} = M_{\phi}^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}\{(e^{2\varphi} - 1)\Delta_h - 2e^{2\varphi}\langle \nabla_h\varphi, \nabla_h \cdot \rangle_h + (\Delta_g\varphi - |\nabla_g\varphi|_g^2)\}$$

It follows that  $M_{\phi}^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)$  is Hilbert-Schmidt if the following functions

- 1.  $\phi(z)^{-1}(e^{2\varphi}(z')-1)\Delta_{h,z'}K_h(z,z',t),$
- 2.  $\phi(z)^{-1}e^{2\varphi(z')}\langle \nabla_{h,z'}\varphi, \nabla_{h,z'}K_h\rangle_h$  and

3. 
$$\phi(z)^{-1}(\Delta_g \varphi(z') - |\nabla_{g,z'} \varphi|_g^2) K_h(z, z', t)$$

are in  $L^2(M \times M, dA_h dA_h)$ .

We split the integral in the same way as in equation (2.7) and use the estimates on the heat kernel  $K_h(z, z', t)$  and its derivatives given in equations (1.12), (1.13) and (1.14). We also use that since  $\varphi$  is bounded on M and since  $dA_h = e^{2\varphi} dA_g$ , then for any function  $f \in L^1(M, dA_h)$  we have:

$$\int_M |f| dA_h \ll \int_M |f| dA_g$$

For the first function listed above, the integrals are almost the same as the ones corresponding to the operator  $(1 - e^{-2\varphi})\Delta_g e^{-t\Delta_g} M_{\phi}^{-1}$ . We obtain:

$$\int_{M} \int_{M} |\phi(z)^{-1} (e^{2\varphi(z')} - 1) \Delta_{h,z'} K_h(z,z',t)|^2 dA_h(z) dA_h(z') \ll t^{-4} + t^{-7/2} e^{t/c}$$

for some constant c > 0. Similarly for the other two functions we get bounds by  $t^{-3}(1 + t^{1/2}e^{t/c})$  and  $t^{-2}(1 + t^{1/2}e^{t/c})$ , respectively. Combining these estimates we obtain:

$$\|M_{\phi}^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)\|_2^2 \ll (t^{-4} + t^{-3} + t^{-2})(1 + t^{1/2}e^{t/c}).$$

#### $e^{-t\Delta_h}M_{\phi}$ is Hilbert-Schmidt

The kernel of  $e^{-t\Delta_h}M_{\phi}$  is  $K_h(z, z', t)\phi(z')$ . Since the estimates for the kernel  $K_h(z, z', t)$  are, up to some constants, the same as the estimates for  $K_g(z, z', t)$ , we can use exactly the same proof as for the operator  $M_{\phi}e^{-t\Delta_g}$  to show that:

$$||e^{-t\Delta_h}M_{\phi}||_2^2 \ll t^{-2}(1+\sqrt{t}e^{\frac{t}{c}}).$$

Finally, for the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)$  we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} \|e^{-t\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)\|_{1,h} &\leq \|e^{-(t/2)\Delta_h} M_\phi\|_2 \cdot \|M_\phi^{-1} e^{-(t/2)\Delta_h}(T\Delta_g T^{-1} - \Delta_h)\|_2 \\ &\ll t^{-1}(t^{-4} + t^{-3} + t^{-2})^{1/2} \left(1 + \sqrt{t}e^{t/c}\right) \end{aligned}$$

This expression is clearly integrable for t on compact subsets of  $(0, \infty)$ .

This finishes the proofs of Lemma 2.4 and Theorem 2.3.

#### 2.2 Operators on the cusp

**Proposition 2.5.** The operator  $e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z,D}}$  is trace class for all t > 0, where  $e^{-t\Delta_{Z,D}}$  is considered as acting on  $L^2(M, dA_q)$ .

This is a corollary of Proposition 6.4 in [28]. The statement of that proposition can be rewritten in our notation as follows:

Assume that M can be decomposed as  $M = M_0 \cup Z$  with  $Z = [1, \infty) \times S^1$ . Let  $P_0$  be the orthogonal projection of  $L^2(M, dA_g)$  onto  $L^2([1, \infty), y^{-2}dy)$ . Then for every t > 0,  $e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}P_0$  is a trace class operator.

To see that Proposition 2.5 follows from this statement, recall what we explained in section 1.1: the operator  $\Delta_{Z,D}$  can be decomposed as  $\Delta_{Z,D} = \Delta_{1,0} \oplus \Delta_{Z,1}$ , where the heat operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{Z,1}}$  is trace class. So we have:

$$\|e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z,D}}\|_1 = \|e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}\|_1 + \|e^{-t\Delta_{Z,1}}\|_1$$

Now, let us consider the operator  $\Delta_{a,0}$  for a > 1. To see that  $e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}}$  is trace class, we will proceed by writing the difference as

$$e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} = e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}} + e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$$

By the proposition above, the first difference is trace class, so it suffices to show that  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  is trace class.

**Proposition 2.6.** For any a > 1 and t > 0 the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  acting on  $L^2([1,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$  is trace class and the trace is given by:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-t/4} \log(a).$$

As an operator on  $L^2([a,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$  the trace is given by:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) = -\frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \operatorname{Erf}(\log(a)/\sqrt{t}),$$

where  $Erf(s) = \int_0^s e^{-v^2} dv$ .

*Proof.* This proof uses a classical method and the explicit expression for each heat kernel, see Section 1.5.2. Recall equation (1.9):

$$p_a(y,y',t) = \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} (yy')^{1/2} \left\{ e^{-(\log(y/y'))^2/4t} - e^{-(\log(yy') - \log(a^2))^2/4t} \right\},$$

for y, y' > a; for  $1 \le y \le a$ ,  $p_a(y, y', t) = 0$ . First note that  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  is a Hilbert Schmidt operator:

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} |p_{a}(y, y', t) - p_{1}(y, y', t)|^{2} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} = \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} |p_{a}(y, y', t) - p_{1}(y, y', t)|^{2} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} + \int_{1}^{a} \int_{1}^{\infty} |p_{1}(y, y', t)|^{2} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} + \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{a} |p_{1}(y, y', t)|^{2} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}}$$
(2.10)

For the first integral in the right hand side of the previous equation we use that  $(\log(y/a) + \log(y'/a))^2 \ge \log(y/a)^2$  and a similar expression for y' to obtain:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} |p_{a}(y,y',t) - p_{1}(y,y',t)|^{2} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} \\ &= \frac{e^{-t/2}}{4\pi t} \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} (yy')^{-1} (-e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{4t}} + e^{-\frac{\log(yy')^{2}}{4t}})^{2} dy' dy \\ &\leq \frac{e^{-t/2}}{4\pi t} \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} (yy')^{-1} (e^{-\frac{(\log(y/a) + \log(y'/a))^{2}}{2t}} + e^{-\frac{\log(yy')^{2}}{2t}}) dy' dy \\ &\leq \frac{e^{-t/2}}{4\pi t} \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} (y^{-1}e^{-\frac{\log(y/a)^{2}}{4t}} y'^{-1}e^{-\frac{\log(y'/a)^{2}}{4t}} + y^{-1}e^{-\frac{\log(y)^{2}}{4t}} y'^{-1}e^{-\frac{\log(y')^{2}}{4t}}) dy' dy. \end{split}$$

All the integrals involved are clearly finite. For the other terms in the right hand side of equation (2.10), using the symmetry of the kernel  $p_1(y, y', t) = p_1(y', y, t)$  we have that

The second integral in the right hand side of last equation is computed in the same way as above. For the first integral in the right hand side, we make the usual change of variables:  $u = \log(y/y')$  to obtain:

$$\int_{1}^{a} \int_{1}^{\infty} (yy')^{-1} e^{-(\log(y/y'))^{2}/2t} dy' dy = \int_{1}^{a} y^{-1} dy \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-u^{2}/2t} du \ll \sqrt{t}.$$

Therefore the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  is Hilbert-Schmidt, for every t > 0.

The second step is to decompose the difference as the following sum:

$$e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}} = e^{-t/2\Delta_{a,0}} M_{\phi} \cdot M_{\phi}^{-1} (e^{-t/2\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t/2\Delta_{1,0}}) + (e^{-t/2\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t/2\Delta_{1,0}}) M_{\phi}^{-1} \cdot M_{\phi} e^{-t/2\Delta_{1,0}},$$

where  $M_{\phi}$  is multiplication by the function  $\phi$  defined in equation (2.6). We shall prove that each term is Hilbert Schmidt. Let us start with  $e^{-t/2\Delta_{a,0}}M_{\phi}$  and let us set s = t/2:

$$\begin{split} \|e^{-s\Delta_{a,0}}M_{\phi}\|_{2}^{2} &\leq \frac{e^{-s/2}}{4\pi s} \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} y'^{-2} y^{-1} (e^{-\frac{\log(y/y')^{2}}{2s}} + e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{2s}} \\ &+ 2e^{-\frac{\log(y/y')^{2}}{4s}} e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{4s}}) \ dy' dy \end{split}$$

The first integral in the right hand side is estimated by  $C\sqrt{t}$ , as in equation (2.1). For the other terms we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} y'^{-2} y^{-1} (e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{2s}} + 2e^{-\frac{\log(yy')^{2}}{4s}} e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{4s}}) \ dy'dy \\ \ll \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} y'^{-2} y^{-1} e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{4s}} \ dy'dy \ll \int_{a}^{\infty} y^{-1} e^{-\frac{\log(y/a^{2})^{2}}{4s}} \ dy < \infty. \end{split}$$

For  $M_{\phi}^{-1}(e^{-t/2\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t/2\Delta_{1,0}})$ , let s = t/2 then in the same way as above we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|M_{\phi}^{-1}(e^{-t/2\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t/2\Delta_{1,0}})\|_{2}^{2} &\leq \frac{e^{-s/2}}{4\pi s} \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} y'^{-1}(e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{2s}} + e^{-\frac{\log(yy')^{2}}{2s}})dy'dy \\ &+ \int_{1}^{a} \int_{1}^{\infty} |p_{1}(y,y',s)|^{2} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y} + \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{a} |p_{1}(y,y',s)|^{2} \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y} \\ &= \frac{e^{-s/2}}{4\pi s} \left( \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} y'^{-1} e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{2s}} dy'dy + \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y'^{-1} e^{-\frac{\log(yy')^{2}}{2s}} dy'dy \\ &+ \int_{1}^{a} \int_{1}^{\infty} y'^{-1} e^{-\frac{\log(yy')^{2}}{2s}} dy'dy + \int_{1}^{a} \int_{1}^{\infty} y'^{-1} e^{-\frac{\log(yy')^{2}}{2s}} dydy' \right). \end{split}$$
(2.11)

The fact that both integrals in the third line in equation (2.11) are finite follows from:

$$\int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\infty} y'^{-1} e^{-\frac{\log(yy'/a^{2})^{2}}{2s}} dy' dy \leq \int_{a}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{\log(y/a)^{2}}{4s}} \int_{a}^{\infty} y'^{-1} e^{-\frac{\log(y'/a)^{2}}{4s}} dy' dy$$
$$= \left(\int_{\log(a)}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{u^{2}}{4s}} e^{u} du\right) \left(\int_{\log(a)}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{u'^{2}}{4s}} du'\right) < \infty. \quad (2.12)$$

The finiteness of the fourth line of equation (2.11) follows from a similar argument as in equation (2.12).
The estimate of the Hilbert Schmidt norm of the other operators follows in the same way. This finishes the proof of the trace class property. Now, let us compute the trace:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) &= \int_{1}^{\infty} (p_a(y, y, t) - p_1(y, y, t)) \frac{dy}{y^2} \\ &= -\int_{1}^{a} p_1(y, y, t) \frac{dy}{y^2} + \int_{a}^{\infty} (p_a(y, y, t) - p_1(y, y, t)) \frac{dy}{y^2} \\ &= -\frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \int_{1}^{a} (1 - e^{-(\log(y^2))^2/4t}) \frac{dy}{y} + \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \int_{a}^{\infty} (e^{-(\log(y^2))^2/4t} - e^{-(\log(y^2) - \log(a^2))^2/4t}) \frac{dy}{y} \\ &= \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \left\{ -\log(a) + \int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-(\log(y))^2/t} \frac{dy}{y} - \int_{a}^{\infty} e^{-(\log(y/a))^2/t} \frac{dy}{y} \right\} = -\frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \log(a), \end{aligned}$$

where the two integrals in the last line cancel after the change of variables v = y/a in the latest one and noticing that dy/y is invariant under such change. If we consider  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  as an operator acting on  $L^2([a, \infty), y^{-2}dy)$  we have that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) = \int_a^\infty (p_a(y, y, t) - p_1(y, y, t)) \frac{dy}{y^2} = -\frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \int_1^a e^{-(\log(y))^2/t} \frac{dy}{y}.$$

This finishes the proof of the Proposition.

**Remark 2.7.** The trace of  $e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  as an operator on  $L^2([a,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$  has an asymptotic expansion for small values of t. This follows from Proposition 2.6 and the fact that Erf(x) has an expansion for  $x \gg 1$ . Taking into account only the first term we have that  $Erf(x) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2} + O(x^{-1})$ , as  $x \to \infty$  from which we infer that:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}})_{L^2([a,\infty),y^{-2}dy)} = -\frac{1}{4} + O(\sqrt{t}) \quad as \ t \to 0.$$

**Remark 2.8.** Let us study now the case when the manifold M can be decomposed as  $M = M_0 \cup Z_a$ with  $a \ge 1$  and we want to compare the operators  $e^{-t\Delta_g}$  and  $e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$ . In this case we could consider the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  acting on  $L^2(M, dA_g)$  in the way explained in subsection 1.5.2. However it is more convenient and accurate to consider the extended space:

$$L^{2}(M, dA_{g}) \oplus L^{2}([1, a], y^{-2}dy) = L^{2}(M_{0}, dA_{g}) \oplus L^{2}_{0}(Z_{a}) \oplus L^{2}([a, \infty), y^{-2}dy) \oplus L^{2}([1, a], y^{-2}dy)$$
$$= L^{2}(M_{0}, dA_{g}) \oplus L^{2}_{0}(Z_{a}) \oplus L^{2}([1, \infty), y^{-2}dy)$$
(2.13)

where  $L_0^2(Z_a)$  is the space defined in equation (1.2). Then the operators  $e^{-t\Delta_g}$  and  $e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  act on the extended space by being null where they are not defined. In this way we have that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}})_{L^2(M)\oplus L^2([1,a])} = \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}})_{L^2(M)} + \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{a,0}} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}})_{L^2([1,\infty))}$$
(2.14)

where for the sake of simplicity we dropped the densities in the notation of the  $L^2$  spaces.

## Chapter 3

# Expansion of relative heat traces for small time

In Chapter 2 we proved that under suitable conditions  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}$  is a trace class operator. In this chapter we prove the existence of an expansion in t up to order two of the relative heat trace  $\text{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g})$  for small time. Our goal was to prove existence of a complete asymptotic expansion of the relative heat trace as  $t \to 0$  under the same conditions of Theorem 2.3; namely that  $\varphi$  and its derivatives up to order two decay as  $y^{-1}$  at infinity. We were not able to completely realize this, but we did identify a condition for the existence of the expansion up to order two which is enough to define the relative determinant of the pair  $(\Delta_h, \Delta_g)$ . We give an explicit sufficient rate of decay, but we expect this could be improved.

## **3.1** Expansion of the trace of $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}$

Let (M, g) be as in Chapter 1. For the sake of simplicity we assume that (M, g) has only one cusp  $Z \cong [1, \infty)$  with the hyperbolic metric on it. We take g as the background metric on M. Let h be a conformal transformation of the metric g by a conformal factor  $e^{2\varphi}$ . To start with, let us assume that for  $(y, x) \in Z$ , the functions  $\varphi(y, x)$  and  $\Delta_q \varphi(y, x)$  are  $O(y^{-1})$  as  $y \to \infty$ .

Let  $e^{-t\Delta_h}$  and  $e^{-t\Delta_g}$  denote the heat operators corresponding to the Laplacians  $\Delta_h$  and  $\Delta_g$ , respectively. Let  $K_h(z, z', t)$  and  $K_g(z, z', t)$  denote their kernels.

As before, for  $\alpha > 1$  let

 $M_{\alpha} := M_0 \cup ([1,\alpha] \times S^1), \quad Z'_{\alpha} = [1,\alpha] \times S^1, \quad Z_{\alpha} = [\alpha,\infty) \times S^1.$ 

We start by constructing the kernel of a parametrix  $Q_h(z, w, t)$  for the heat operator associated to  $\Delta_h$  by patching together suitable heat kernels over  $Z'_3 = M_3 \cap Z = [1,3] \times S^1$ . The construction is similar to the one in Section 1.5.1. Let us consider the following kernels:

- $K_{1,h}(z, w, t)$ : the heat kernel for  $\Delta_{1,h}$  on the complete cusp  $\widetilde{Z} = \mathbb{R}^+ \times S^1$ , as was defined at the end of Section 1.5.1.
- $K_{Z,h}(z, w, t)$ : the heat kernel for  $\Delta_{Z,h}$ , the self-adjoint extension of the Laplacian on (Z, h)obtained after imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions at  $\{1\} \times S^1$ . By equation (1.15) the kernel  $K_{Z,h}$  is given by  $K_{1,h} + p_{h,D}$ , where the term  $p_{h,D}$  comes from the boundary condition.

• For the compact part we consider a closed manifold W containing  $M_2$  isometrically. Let  $\Delta_{W,h}$  be the Laplacian on W and  $K_{W,h}(z, w, t)$  be the kernel of the corresponding heat operator  $e^{-t\Delta_W}$ .

For any two constants 1 < b < c, let  $\phi_{(b,c)}$  be a smooth function on  $[1, \infty) \times S^1$  that is constant in the second variable, is non-decreasing in the first variable, and satisfies  $\phi_{(b,c)}(y,x) = 0$  for  $y \leq b$ , and  $\phi_{(b,c)}(y,x) = 1$  for  $y \geq c$ . Let  $\psi_2 = \phi_{(\frac{5}{4},2)}$  and  $\psi_1 = 1 - \psi_2$ ; then  $\{\psi_1, \psi_2\}$  is a partition of unity on  $[1,2] \times S^1$ . Let  $\varphi_2 = \phi_{(1,\frac{9}{8})}$  and  $\varphi_1 = 1 - \phi_{(\frac{5}{2},3)}$ , so that  $\varphi_i = 1$  on the support of  $\psi_i$ , i = 1, 2. Extend these functions to M in the obvious way. Note that  $|\nabla_h \varphi_i(z)| \ll 1$  and  $|\Delta_h \varphi_i(z)| \ll 1$ , for i = 1, 2. For this choice of functions we have that:

- supp  $\nabla_h \varphi_1 \subseteq [\frac{5}{2}, 3] \times S^1$ , and, supp  $\psi_1 \subseteq M_2$ .
- supp  $\nabla_h \varphi_2 \subseteq [1, \frac{9}{8}] \times S^1$ , and, supp  $\psi_2 \subseteq [\frac{5}{4}, \infty) \times S^1$ .

Now, we put:

$$Q_h(z, w, t) = \varphi_1(z) K_{W,h}(z, w, t) \psi_1(w) + \varphi_2(z) K_{1,h}(z, w, t) \psi_2(w).$$
(3.1)

From the properties of the heat kernels,  $K_{W,h}$  and  $K_{1,h}$ , and the construction of the gluing functions it is easy to see that  $Q_h(z, w, t) \to \delta_{w-z}$ , as  $t \to 0$ .

**Lemma 3.1.** There exist constants  $C \ge 0$  and c > 0 such that

$$\left| \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,z} \right) Q_h(z, w, t) \right| \le C e^{-c/t}, \quad for \quad 0 < t \le 1.$$

*Proof.* Here we use the estimates for the heat kernels given in Chapter 1 (see (1.12), (1.13) and (1.14) as well as Theorem 2.3) and the equivalence of the geodesic distances  $d_g$  and  $d_h$ .

$$\begin{aligned} (\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,z})Q_h(z,w,t) &= \varphi_1(z)((\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,z})K_{W,h})\psi_1(w) + (2\langle \nabla\varphi_1, \nabla_z K_{W,h}\rangle + (\Delta_h\varphi_1)K_{W,h})\psi_1(w) \\ &+ \varphi_2(z)((\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,z})K_{1,h})\psi_2(w) + (2\langle \nabla\varphi_2, \nabla_z K_{1,h}\rangle + (\Delta_h\varphi_2)K_{1,h})\psi_2(w). \end{aligned}$$

Because the kernels satisfy the heat equation it follows that:

$$\left| \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,z} \right) Q_h(z,w,t) \right| \ll \left| \left( \langle \nabla \varphi_1, \nabla_z K_{W,h} \rangle + (\Delta_h \varphi_1) K_{W,h} \right) \psi_1(w) \right| \\ + \left| \left( \langle \nabla \varphi_2, \nabla_z K_{1,h} \rangle + (\Delta_h \varphi_2) K_{1,h} \right) \psi_2(w) \right|.$$

Note that  $\left|\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,z}\right)Q_h(z,w,t)\right|$  has compact support in z. Let us consider the following terms separately:

$$S_1 := |(\langle \nabla \varphi_1, \nabla_z K_{W,h} \rangle + (\Delta_h \varphi_1) K_{W,h}) \psi_1(w)|,$$
  

$$S_2 := |(\langle \nabla \varphi_2, \nabla_z K_{1,h} \rangle + (\Delta_h \varphi_2) K_{1,h}) \psi_2(w)|.$$

Notice that  $S_1 \neq 0$  if  $z \in \operatorname{supp} \nabla \varphi_1$  and  $w \in \operatorname{supp} \psi_1$ . In this case  $d_g(z, w) \geq \log((5/2)/2) = \log(5/4) > 0$ , so that taking  $c'_1 = c \log(5/4)$  we obtain:

$$S_{1} \leq (|\nabla \varphi_{1}(z)| |\nabla_{z} K_{W,h}(z,w,t)| + |\Delta_{h} \varphi_{1}(z)| |K_{W,h}(z,w,t)|) \chi_{\operatorname{supp} \psi_{1}}(w) \ll t^{-3/2} e^{-cd_{g}^{2}(z,w)/t} + t^{-1} e^{-cd_{g}^{2}(z,w)/t} \leq (t^{-3/2} + t^{-1}) e^{-c_{1}'/t} \ll e^{-c_{1}'/2t},$$

since  $(t^{-3/2} + t^{-1})e^{-c'_1/2t}$  is bounded for  $0 < t \le 1$ . In the same way as above, note that  $S_2 \ne 0$  if  $z \in \operatorname{supp} \nabla \varphi_2$  and  $w = (v, u) \in \operatorname{supp} \psi_2 = [\frac{5}{4}, \infty) \times S^1$ . In this case  $d_g(z, w) \ge \log(v/(9/8)) \ge \log(10/9) > 0$ . Therefore:

$$S_{2} \leq (|\nabla \varphi_{2}(z)| |\nabla_{z} K_{1,h}(z,w,t)| + |\Delta_{h} \varphi_{2}(z))| |K_{1,h}(z,w,t)|) \chi_{\operatorname{supp} \psi_{2}}(w) \\ \ll (i(z)i(w))^{1/2} t^{-3/2} e^{-cd_{g}^{2}(z,w)/t} + (i(z)i(w))^{1/2} t^{-1} e^{-cd_{g}^{2}(z,w)/t} \\ \ll v^{1/2} e^{-c(\log(8v/9))^{2}/2t} (t^{-3/2} + t^{-1}) e^{-c_{2}'/2t} \ll \sqrt{v} e^{-c(\log(8v/9))^{2}/2} e^{-c_{2}'/4t} \ll e^{-c_{2}'/4t},$$

where  $c'_2 = c \log(10/9)$ . This finishes the proof of the lemma.

Remark 3.2. Note that

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,z}\right) Q_h(z,w,t) \bigg|_{w=z} = 0.$$

In order that the expression above does not vanish we need that

$$d_g(z, w) \ge \min\{\log(5/4), \log(10/9)\} > 0.$$

To see this, consider the following:

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,z}\right) Q_h(z,w,t) = \left(2\langle \nabla\varphi_1(z), \nabla_z K_{W,h}(z,w,t)\rangle + (\Delta_h\varphi_1(z))K_{W,h}(z,w,t)\right)\psi_1(w) + \left(2\langle \nabla\varphi_2(z), \nabla_z K_{1,h}(z,w,t)\rangle + (\Delta_h\varphi_2(z))K_{1,h}(z,w,t)\right)\psi_2(w) = 0$$

unless the following conditions are satisfied:

- $z \in \operatorname{supp} \nabla \varphi_1 \subseteq [\frac{5}{2}, 3] \times S^1$  and  $w \in \operatorname{supp} \psi_1 \subseteq M_2$ . This implies that  $d_g(z, w) \ge \log(5/4)$ .
- $z \in \operatorname{supp} \nabla \varphi_2 \subseteq [1, \frac{9}{8}] \times S^1$  and  $w \in \operatorname{supp} \psi_2 \subseteq Z_{\frac{5}{4}}$ . This implies that  $d_g(z, w) \ge \log(10/9)$ .

We now prove that in the expression for the trace we can exchange the heat kernel  $K_h$  for the parametrix  $Q_h$  built above.

**Lemma 3.3.** There exist constants  $C \ge 0$  and  $c_3 > 0$  such that, for any  $0 < t \le 1$ :

$$\int_M |Q_h(z,z,t) - K_h(z,z,t)| dA_h(z) \le Ce^{-\frac{c_3}{t}}.$$

*Proof.* Applying Duhamel's principle (see equation (1.16)) to the heat kernel  $K_h$  and the parametrix  $Q_h$  we infer:

$$Q_h(z, z', t) - K_h(z, z', t) = \int_0^t \int_M K_h(z, w, s) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h, w}\right) Q_h(w, z', t - s) \, dA_h(w) \, ds.$$

Using Remark 3.2 we have that:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{M} |Q_{h}(z,z,t) - K_{h}(z,z,t)| dA_{h}(z) \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \int_{M} \int_{M} |K_{h}(z,w,s) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,w}\right) Q_{h}(w,z,t-s)| \ dA_{h}(w) \ dA_{h}(z) \ ds \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} \left( \int_{M_{2}} \int_{[\frac{5}{2},3] \times S^{1}} \cdot \ dA_{h}(w) \ dA_{h}(z) + \int_{Z_{\frac{5}{4}}} \int_{[1,\frac{9}{8}] \times S^{1}} \cdot \ dA_{h}(w) \ dA_{h}(z) \right) \ ds \end{split}$$

For the first integral in the right hand side we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{M_{2}} \int_{[\frac{5}{2},3] \times S^{1}} |K_{h}(z,w,s) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,w}\right) Q_{h}(w,z,t-s)| \ dA_{h}(w) \ dA_{h}(z) \ ds \\ \ll \int_{0}^{t} \int_{M_{2}} \int_{[\frac{5}{2},3] \times S^{1}} i(z)^{1/2} s^{-1} e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{s}} e^{-\frac{c'}{t-s}} \ dA_{h}(w) \ dA_{h}(z) \ ds \\ \ll \left(\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{2s}} e^{-\frac{c'}{t-s}} \ ds\right) \left(\int_{\frac{5}{2}}^{3} \frac{dv}{v^{2}}\right) \ll t e^{-\frac{c_{3}}{t}} \ll e^{-\frac{c_{3}}{t}} \end{split}$$

since  $0 < t \leq 1$ .

For the second integral, recall that supp  $\psi_2 \subset [5/4, \infty) \times S^1$ . Thus:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{t} \int_{Z_{\frac{5}{4}}} \int_{[1,\frac{9}{8}] \times S^{1}} |K_{h}(z,w,s) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{h,w}\right) Q_{h}(w,z,t-s)| \ dA_{h}(w) \ dA_{h}(z) \ ds \\ &\ll \int_{0}^{t} \int_{Z_{\frac{5}{4}}} \int_{[1,\frac{9}{8}] \times S^{1}} i(z)^{1/2} s^{-1} e^{-\frac{c}{s} d_{g}^{2}(z,w)} e^{-\frac{c_{1}}{t-s}} \ dA_{h}(w) \ dA_{h}(z) \ ds \\ &\ll \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\frac{9}{8}} y^{1/2} e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{2s}} e^{-\frac{c_{1}}{t-s}} \ \frac{dv}{v^{2}} \ \frac{dy}{y^{2}} \ ds \\ &\leq \left(\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{2s}} e^{-\frac{c_{1}}{t-s}} \ ds\right) \left(\int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} y^{-3/2} \ dy\right) \left(\int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{dv}{v^{2}}\right) \leq t e^{-\frac{c_{3}}{t}} \leq e^{-\frac{c_{3}}{t}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore we obtain that:

$$\int_{M} |Q_h(z, z, t) - K_h(z, z, t)| dA_h(z) \ll e^{-\frac{c_3}{t}}.$$

Thus in the heat trace we can replace  $K_h(z, w, t)$  by  $Q_h(z, w, t)$ . Since the function  $e^{-2\varphi}$  is bounded, the derivatives of the gluing functions  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$  with respect to the metric g satisfy the same bounds as the derivatives with respect to the metric h. Then we can perform the same construction for the kernel  $K_g(z, w, t)$  to replace it by  $Q_g(z, w, t)$ . Let us state the main result of this chapter:

**Theorem 3.4.** Let  $\varphi|_Z(z)$ ,  $\Delta_g \varphi|_Z(z)$ , and,  $|\nabla_g \varphi|_g|_Z(z)$  with z = (y, x), be  $O(y^{-32})$  as  $y \to \infty$ . Then there is an expansion of the relative heat trace:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}) = a_0t^{-1} + a_1 + a_2t + O(t^2), \text{ as } t \to 0.$$
(3.2)

*Proof.* First of all recall that the kernel of  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T$  is given by  $e^{\varphi(z)}K_h(z, z', t)e^{\varphi(z')}$ . Then the relative heat trace is given by:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}) = \int_M (K_h(z, z, t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_g(z, z, t)) \ dA_g(z).$$

Let us start by using Lemma 3.3:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{M} (K_{h}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{g}(z,z,t))dA_{g}(z) - \int_{M} (Q_{h}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - Q_{g}(z,z,t))dA_{g}(z) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{M} (K_{h}(z,z,t) - Q_{h}(z,z,t))e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{g}(z,z,t) + Q_{g}(z,z,t)dA_{g}(z) \right| \\ &\leq \int_{M} |Q_{h}(z,z,t) - K_{h}(z,z,t)|dA_{h}(z) + \int_{M} |Q_{g}(z,z,t) - K_{g}(z,z,t)|dA_{g}(z)| \\ \end{aligned}$$

Therefore in order to prove Theorem 3.4 we can replace the heat kernels by the corresponding parametrices. Let a > 1 and let us decompose the integral as a sum:

$$\int_{M} Q_h(z,z,t) e^{2\varphi(z)} - Q_g(z,z,t) dA_g(z) = I_0(t) + I_1(t) + I_2(t),$$

where

$$I_0(t) = \int_M \psi_1(z) (K_{W,h}(z,z,t) e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{W,g}(z,z,t)) \, dA_g(z), \tag{3.3}$$

$$I_1(t) = \int_{[1,a] \times S^1} \psi_2(z) (K_{1,h}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{1,g}(z,z,t)) \, dA_g(z) \text{ and}, \qquad (3.4)$$

$$I_2(t) = \int_{Z_a} \psi_2(z) (K_{1,h}(z,z,t) e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{1,g}(z,z,t)) \, dA_g(z).$$
(3.5)

For  $I_0(t)$  we use the asymptotic expansion of the kernels  $K_{W,h}$  and  $K_{W,g}$ :

$$K_{W,h}(z,z,t) = t^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} a_k(h,z) t^k + R_N(h,z,t) \quad \text{and} \quad K_{W,g}(z,z,t) = t^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} a_k(g,z) t^k + R_N(g,z,t).$$

For any N the remainder terms  $R_N(h, z, t)$  and  $R_N(g, z, t)$  are uniformly bounded in a compact set therefore they can be integrated. In this way the integral  $I_0$  has a complete asymptotic expansion in t:

$$\begin{split} I_0(t) &= \int_{M_2} \psi_1(z) (K_{W,h}(z,z,t) e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{W,g}(z,z,t)) \ dA_g(z) \\ &= t^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^N \int_{M_2} \psi_1(z) (a_k(h,z) e^{2\varphi(z)} - a_k(g,z)) t^k \ dA_g(z) \\ &+ \int_{M_2} \psi_1(z) (R_N(h,z,t) e^{2\varphi(z)} - R_N(g,z,t)) \ dA_g(z). \end{split}$$

The other two integrals can be rewritten as traces of the operators:

$$A(t) = M_{\chi_{Z'_a}} M_{\psi_2} (T^{-1} e^{-t\Delta_{1,h}} T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,g}}) \text{ and } B(t) = M_{\chi_{Z_a}} M_{\psi_2} (T^{-1} e^{-t\Delta_{1,h}} T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,g}}),$$

respectively. We will prove in Proposition 3.5 that for  $0 < t \leq 1$ , taking  $a = t^{-1/9}$  and assuming that  $\varphi((y, x))$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi((y, x))$  are  $O(y^{-1})$  as  $y \to \infty$ ,  $\operatorname{Tr}(A(t)) = I_1(t)$  has a complete asymptotic expansion of the form:

$$I_1(t) \sim t^{-1} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} b_j t^j.$$

For B(t), also taking  $a = t^{-1/9}$  and under the conditions that  $\varphi((y,x))$ ,  $|\nabla_g \varphi((y,x))|$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi((y,x))$  are  $O(y^{-32})$  as  $y \to \infty$ , we will prove in Proposition 3.7 that  $|\operatorname{Tr}(B(t))| \ll t^2$ . The idea in this part is to assume that  $\varphi((y,x))$  decays at infinity as  $y^{-k}$  and to use Duhamel's principle in a similar way as in the proof of Theorem 2.3 to estimate the trace norm of B(t). The condition k = 32 comes from requiring that  $I_2(t) = \operatorname{Tr}(B(t)) = O(t^2)$ .

Proving these two facts will complete the proof of the theorem.

**Proposition 3.5.** Under the conditions of Theorem 2.3 we have that there is a complete asymptotic expansion as  $t \to 0$  of the integral  $I_1(t)$  in equation (3.4), with  $a = t^{-1/9}$ . The asymptotic expansion has the following form:

$$\int_{[1,a]\times S^1} \psi_2(z) (K_{1,h}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{1,g}(z,z,t)) \ dA_g(z) \sim t^{-1} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} b_j t^j.$$

*Proof.* In order to deal with the integral

$$\int_{1}^{a} \int_{S^{1}} \psi_{2}(z) (K_{1,h}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{1,g}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{g}(z),$$

we first recall what  $K_{1,h}$  and  $K_{1,g}$  are. Recall that h was extended to the complete cusp  $\widetilde{Z}$  and that  $K_{1,h}(z, w, t)$  denotes the heat kernel for  $\Delta_h$  on  $\widetilde{Z}$ . The idea of the proof of Proposition 3.5 is to use the local asymptotic expansion of the corresponding heat kernels and find a uniform bound on the remainder term.

Let us consider the universal covering of  $\widetilde{Z}$ : Let  $\hat{Z} = \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\pi : \hat{Z} \to \widetilde{Z}$  be the quotient function, and,  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}$  be the group of deck transformations. The metric h on  $\widetilde{Z}$  induces a metric  $\hat{h}$ on  $\hat{Z}$ , that has the same curvature properties as h. In addition,  $\hat{h} = e^{2\hat{\varphi}}\hat{g}_0$ , where  $\hat{g}_0$  is the lift of  $g_0$ to  $\hat{Z}$  and is precisely the hyperbolic metric on  $\mathbb{H}$ , and the function  $\hat{\varphi}$  is a lift of  $\widetilde{\varphi}$  ( $\widetilde{\varphi}$  the extension of  $\varphi$  to  $\widetilde{Z}$ ),  $\hat{\varphi} = \widetilde{\varphi} \circ \pi$ . It follows that  $\hat{h}$  and  $\hat{g}_0$  are quasi-isometric. Therefore by Proposition 2.1 in [32] it follows that the injectivity radius of  $\hat{h}$  is bounded from below by a positive constant independent of the point. In this way  $(\hat{Z}, \hat{h})$  has bounded geometry. Let  $k_h$  denote the heat kernel for  $\Delta_{\hat{h}}$  in  $\hat{Z}$ . Then from the results in [11] we have the following estimate:

$$k_h(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w},t) \leq Ct^{-1}e^{-\frac{cd^2(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w})}{t}}$$

where  $\tilde{z}, \tilde{w} \in \hat{Z}$  and  $0 < t \leq 1$ . Before we continue we need the following lemma:

**Lemma 3.6.**  $K_{1,h}(z,w,t) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_h(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w}+m,t), \text{ where } \pi(\widetilde{z}) = z, \ \pi(\widetilde{w}) = w.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $H(z, w, t) := \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_h(\tilde{z}, \tilde{w} + m, t)$ . In order to prove this lemma, it suffices to prove that H satisfies the following defining properties of the heat kernel:

- 1.  $\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_h\right) H(z, w, t) = 0$
- 2.  $H(z, w, t) \to \delta_{w-z}$ , as  $t \to 0$ .
- 3. H(z, w, t) = H(w, z, t).

First equation:

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_h\right) H(z, w, t) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{\hat{h}}\right) \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_h(z, w + m, t) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \Delta_{\hat{h}}\right) k_h(z, w + m, t) = 0$$

where we can exchange the series and the derivatives because of the uniform convergence of the series in  $C^2$ . Since  $(\hat{Z}, h)$  is complete and with bounded curvature, the heat kernel  $k_h$  and its derivatives satisfy the estimates given in [11]. The uniform convergence in  $C^2$  follows from these estimates.

Second equation: Let  $F \subset \hat{Z}$  be a fundamental domain for  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}$ , let  $f \in C_c^{\infty}$ , and let  $\tilde{f}$  be a lift of f, so that  $f \circ \pi = \tilde{f}$ , then

$$\begin{split} \int_{Z} H(z,w,t)f(w)dA_{h}(w) &= \int_{F}\sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} k_{h}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w}+m,t)\widetilde{f}(\widetilde{w})dA_{\hat{h}}(\widetilde{w}) = \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}\int_{F+m} k_{h}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w},t)\widetilde{f}(\widetilde{w})dA_{\hat{h}}(\widetilde{w}) \\ &= \int_{\hat{Z}} k_{h}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w},t)\widetilde{f}(\widetilde{w})dA_{\hat{h}}(\widetilde{w}) \to \widetilde{f}(\widetilde{z}) = f(z), \text{ as } t \to 0. \end{split}$$

Third equation: Let  $\tilde{z}, \tilde{w} \in \hat{Z}$  be fixed. Then,

$$H(z,w,t) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_h(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w}+m,t) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_h(\widetilde{w}+m,\widetilde{z},t) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_h(\widetilde{w},\widetilde{z}+m,t) = H(w,z,t).$$

Continuing with the proof of Proposition 3.5, notice that we can perform the above construction for the kernel  $K_{1,g}$ . Then the integral  $I_1(t)$  becomes:

$$\begin{split} I_{1}(t) &= \int_{1}^{a} \int_{S^{1}} \psi_{2}(z) (K_{1,h}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{1,g}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{g}(z) \\ &= \int_{1}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) \left( \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_{h}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{z}+m,t)e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z}+m)} - \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} k_{g}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{z}+l,t) \right) \ dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}), \end{split}$$

because  $F = \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, 2\pi]$  is a fundamental domain for  $\Gamma$  and the domain corresponding to  $Z'_a$  in F is  $[1, a] \times [0, 2\pi]$ . Thus

$$I_{1}(t) = \int_{1}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) (k_{h}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m, t)e^{2\widehat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z} + m)} - k_{g}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m, t)) \, dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z})$$

$$= \int_{1}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) (k_{h}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z}, t)e^{2\widehat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z})} - k_{g}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z}, t)) \, dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z})$$

$$+ \int_{1}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) \sum_{m \neq 0} (k_{h}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m, t)e^{2\widehat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z} + m)} - k_{g}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m, t)) \, dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}).$$
(3.6)

We will start by estimating the second term on the right hand side of (3.6). Note that  $\hat{\varphi} = \tilde{\varphi} \circ \pi$  implies that the function  $e^{2\hat{\varphi}}$  is bounded. This, the fact that the metrics  $\hat{h}$  and  $\hat{g}$  are quasi-isometric and the estimate on the heat kernel  $k_h$  imply that:

$$\sum_{m \neq 0} k_h(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z} + m, t) e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\tilde{z} + m)} \ll t^{-1} \sum_{m \neq 0} \exp\left(-\frac{c_1 d_{\hat{g}}^2(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z} + m)}{t}\right).$$
(3.7)

From the explicit expression of the hyperbolic distance in the upper half plane, we have that

$$d_{\hat{g}}((\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}),(\widetilde{x}+m,\widetilde{y})) = \cosh^{-1}\left(1+\frac{m^2}{2\widetilde{y}^2}\right).$$

Since for  $s \ge 1$  we have that  $\cosh^{-1}(s) = \log(s + \sqrt{s^2 - 1})$ , we obtain

$$d_{\hat{g}}((\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}),(\widetilde{x}+m,\widetilde{y})) = \log\left(1 + \frac{m^2}{2\widetilde{y}^2} + \frac{|m|}{\widetilde{y}}\sqrt{\frac{m^2}{4\widetilde{y}^2}} + 1\right) \ge \log\left(1 + \frac{m^2}{2\widetilde{y}^2}\right).$$

For  $\widetilde{y} = y \in [1, a]$ , we have  $\frac{1}{2a^2} \leq \frac{1}{2y^2} \leq 1$  and  $\log(1 + \frac{m^2}{2\widetilde{y}^2}) \geq \log(1 + \frac{1}{2a^2})$ . Thus

$$e^{-\frac{c_1 d_{\hat{g}}^2(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z}+m)}{t}} \le e^{-\frac{c_1 \log(1+1/2a^2)^2}{2t}} e^{-\frac{c_1 \log(1+m^2/2\tilde{y}^2)^2}{2t}}$$

For  $0 \le s \le 1$ , we have that  $\log(1+s) \ge s^2/2$ . Applying this to  $s = (2a^2)^{-1}$ , we obtain

$$\sum_{m \neq 0} e^{-\frac{c_1 d_{\hat{g}}^2(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z}+m)}{t}} \le e^{-\frac{c_1}{2^6 a^8 t}} \sum_{m \neq 0} e^{-\frac{c_1 \log(1+\frac{m^2}{2\tilde{y}^2})^2}{2t}} \le e^{-\frac{c_2}{a^8 t}} \sum_{m \neq 0} e^{-\frac{c_1 \log(1+\frac{m^2}{2a^2})^2}{2t}},$$
(3.8)

with  $c_2$  a positive constant. In order to estimate the series, we compare it with an integral using the fact that  $e^{-\frac{c_1 \log(1+\frac{m^2}{2a^2})^2}{2t}}$  is a decreasing function of m. We proceed in the following way:

$$\sum_{m \neq 0} e^{-\frac{c_1 \log(1+\frac{m^2}{2a^2})^2}{2t}} \ll \int_1^\infty e^{-\frac{c_1 \log(1+\frac{u^2}{2a^2})^2}{2t}} du \le \int_1^{\sqrt{2}a} e^{-\frac{c_1 \log(1+\frac{u^2}{2a^2})^2}{2t}} du + \int_{\sqrt{2}a}^\infty e^{-\frac{2c_1 \log(\frac{u}{\sqrt{2}a})^2}{t}} du \\ \ll (\sqrt{2}a - 1) + a \int_0^\infty e^{-\frac{2c_1 v^2}{t}} e^v dv \ll a(1 + \sqrt{t}e^{ct}) \ll a, \quad (3.9)$$

where for one integral we used that  $e^{-x} \leq 1$ , for all  $x \geq 0$ , and for the other integral we used the change of variables  $v = log(\frac{u}{\sqrt{2a}})$ ; in the middle step we used that for  $x \geq 1$ ,  $log(x+1)^2 \geq log(x)^2$ . Now we can use (3.7) and the bounds above to estimate the second term in the right hand side of equation (3.6):

$$\begin{split} \int_{1}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} |\widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) \sum_{m \neq 0} (k_{h}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m, t)e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z} + m)} - k_{g}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m, t))| \ dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}) \\ \ll t^{-1} \int_{1}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} |\widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) \sum_{m \neq 0} e^{-\frac{c_{1}d_{\hat{g}}^{2}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m)}{t}} | dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}) \\ \ll t^{-1} e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{a^{8}t}} \int_{1}^{a} \sum_{m \neq 0} e^{-\frac{c_{1}\log(1 + \frac{m^{2}}{2a^{2}})^{2}}{2t}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} \ll t^{-1} a e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{a^{8}t}}. \end{split}$$

Now taking  $a = t^{-1/9}$  we get  $a^8t = t^{1/9}$ . Therefore  $e^{-\frac{c_2}{a^8t}} = e^{-\frac{c_2}{t^{1/9}}}$  and we obtain:

$$\int_{1}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} |\widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) \sum_{m \neq 0} (k_{h}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m, t)e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z} + m)} - k_{g}(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{z} + m, t))| \ dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}) \\ \ll t^{-1}t^{-1/9}e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{t^{1/9}}} \ll t^{-10/9}e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{t^{1/9}}} \ll e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{2t^{1/9}}}.$$

Let us see now what happens with the first term in the right hand side of equation (3.6):

$$\begin{split} \int_{1}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) (k_{h}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{z},t)e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z})} - k_{g}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{z},t)) dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}) \\ &= \int_{1}^{t^{-1/9}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) (k_{h}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{z},t)e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z})} - k_{g}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{z},t)) dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}). \end{split}$$

The kernel  $k_h(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z}, t)$ , as well as  $k_g(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z}, t)$ , has a uniform local asymptotic expansion as  $t \to 0$  of the usual form:

$$k_h(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{z},t) = t^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^N a_k(\hat{h},\widetilde{z}) t^k + R_N(\hat{h},\widetilde{z},t) \quad \text{and} \quad k_g(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{z},t) = t^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^N a_k(\hat{g},\widetilde{z}) t^k + R_N(\hat{g},\widetilde{z},t)$$

for any  $N \ge 0$ . For the remainder terms there is a constant C > 0 such that

$$|R_N(\hat{h}, \tilde{z}, t)| \le Ct^N$$
 and  $|R_N(\hat{g}, \tilde{z}, t)| \le Ct^N$  (3.10)

independent of  $\tilde{z}$ . Replacing the corresponding expansion in the previous integral we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \int_{1}^{t^{-1/9}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) t^{-1} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{N} a_{k}(\hat{h}, \widetilde{z}) e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z})} - a_{k}(\hat{g}, \widetilde{z}) \right) t^{k} dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}) \\ &+ \int_{1}^{t^{-1/9}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{t^{-1/9}, 1}(\widetilde{z}) (R_{N}(\hat{h}, \widetilde{z}, t) e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z})} - R_{N}(\hat{g}, \widetilde{z}, t)) dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}). \end{split}$$

The first term can be integrated without any problem to obtain:

$$\int_{1}^{t^{-1/9}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) t^{-1} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{N} a_{k}(\hat{h}, \widetilde{z}) e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z})} - a_{k}(\hat{g}, \widetilde{z}) \right) t^{k} dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}) = t^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} b_{k} t^{k}.$$

As for the remainder terms, using equation (3.10) we have:

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{1}^{t^{-1/9}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z}) (R_{N}(\hat{h}, \widetilde{z}, t) e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z})} - R_{N}(\hat{g}, \widetilde{z}, t)) dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}) \right| \\ & \leq \int_{1}^{t^{-1/9}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} (|R_{N}(\hat{h}, \widetilde{z}, t) e^{2\hat{\varphi}(\widetilde{z})}| + |R_{N}(\hat{g}, \widetilde{z}, t)|) dA_{\hat{g}}(\widetilde{z}) \ll t^{N} \int_{1}^{t^{-1/9}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} \ll t^{N}, \end{split}$$

since  $0 < t \le 1$ . This finishes the proof of Proposition 3.5.

**Proposition 3.7.** Under the conditions of Theorem 3.4, for  $0 < t \le 1$ , and for  $a = t^{-1/9}$  we have that:

$$|\operatorname{Tr}(M_{\chi_{Z_a}}M_{\psi_2}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{1,h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,g}}))| \ll t^2.$$

*Proof.* To prove Proposition 3.7 we want to apply Duhamel's principle on the cusp Z. However the heat operators involved in the trace correspond to Laplacians in the complete cusp  $\tilde{Z}$ . Therefore in order to make the computations easier we first replace them by the heat operators  $e^{-t\Delta_{Z,h}}$  and

 $e^{-t\Delta_{Z,g}}$  described at the beginning of this section and apply Duhamel's principle to  $e^{-t\Delta_{Z,h}}$  and  $e^{-t\Delta_{Z,g}}$ . We have to take into account more terms, but we avoid the problem of the singularity at y = 0. Using equations (1.10) and (1.15) to replace the respective kernels we obtain:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(M_{\chi_{Z_a}}M_{\psi_2}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{1,h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,g}})) = \operatorname{Tr}(M_{\chi_{Z_a}}M_{\psi_2}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{Z,h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{Z,g}})) - \int_M \chi_{Z_a}(z)\psi_2(z)(p_{h,D}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - p_{1,D}(z,z,t))dA_g(z).$$

From equation (1.11) and  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi_2) = Z_{5/4}$  it follows that:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{M} \psi_{2}(z) (p_{h,D}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - p_{1,D}(z,z,t)) dA_{g}(z) \right| &\ll \int_{Z_{\frac{5}{4}}} t^{-1}y (e^{-\frac{cd_{h}(z,\partial Z)}{t}} + e^{-\frac{c'd_{g}(z,\partial Z)}{t}}) dA_{g}(z) \\ &\ll \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} t^{-1}y e^{-\frac{c_{1}\log(y)^{2}}{t}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} \leq t^{-1}e^{-\frac{c_{1}\log(5/4)^{2}}{2t}} \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} y^{-1}e^{-\frac{c_{1}\log(y)^{2}}{2t}} dy \ll e^{-\frac{c_{1}\log(5/4)^{2}}{4t}}. \end{aligned}$$

We now continue with the estimation of the trace of the operator  $M_{\chi_{Z_a}}M_{\psi_2}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{Z,h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{Z,g}})$ . The kernel of  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{Z,h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{Z,g}}$  as operator on  $L^2(M, dA_g)$  is given by

$$e^{\varphi(z)}K_{Z,h}(z,w,t)e^{\varphi(w)}-K_{Z,g}(z,w,t),$$

that for z = w takes the form  $K_{Z,h}(z, z, t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{Z,g}(z, z, t)$ . From the usual form of Duhamel's principle in equation (1.16) we infer:

$$K_{Z,h}(z,w,t)e^{2\varphi(w)} - K_{Z,g}(z,w,t) = \int_0^t \int_M K_{Z,h}(z,z',s)e^{2\varphi(z')}(\Delta_{Z,g} - \Delta_{Z,h})K_{Z,g}(z',w,t-s)dA_g(z') \ ds.$$

Then taking z = w in the equation above and using the conformal transformation of Laplacians we obtain:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(M_{\chi_{Z_a}}M_{\psi_2}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{Z,h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{Z,g}})) = \int_{Z_a} \psi_2(z)(K_{Z,h}(z,z,t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{Z,g}(z,z,t))dA_g(z)$$
$$= \int_{Z_a} \psi_2(z) \int_0^t \int_Z K_{Z,h}(z,z',s)e^{2\varphi(z')}(1 - e^{-2\varphi(z')})\Delta_{Z,g}K_{Z,g}(z',z,t-s)dA_g(z') \, ds \, dA_g(z).$$

Remember that  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi_2) = Z_{5/4}$  and let us first assume that a > 5/4, so 4a/5 > 1. Split the integral as the sum of the following terms:

1. 
$$J_1 = \int_0^t \int_{Z_a} \int_{[1,\frac{4a}{5}] \times S^1} \cdot dA_g(z') dA_g(z) ds$$
  
2.  $J_2 = \int_0^{t/2} \int_{Z_a} \int_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}} \cdot dA_g(z') dA_g(z) ds$ .  
3.  $J_3 = \int_{t/2}^t \int_{Z_a} \int_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}} \cdot dA_g(z') dA_g(z) ds$ .

Let  $k \geq 1$  and suppose that  $\varphi(y, x) = O(y^{-k})$  as  $y \to \infty$ . Note that according to Lemma (2.2),  $\psi = 1 - e^{-2\varphi}$  and  $\tilde{\psi} = e^{2\varphi} - 1$  have the same order as  $\varphi$ . Then for  $J_1$  we have:

$$J_{1} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{Z_{a}} \int_{[1,\frac{4a}{5}] \times S^{1}} \psi_{2}(z) (K_{1,h}(z,z',s) + p_{h,D}(z,z',s)) e^{2\varphi(z')} \psi(z') \Delta_{Z,g}(K_{1,g}(z',z,t-s) + p_{1,D}(z',z,t-s)) \ dA_{g}(z') \ dA_{g}(z) \ ds.$$

Note that on this region  $a \le y < \infty$  and  $1 \le y' \le \frac{4a}{5}$ . Thus  $1 < \frac{5}{4} \le \frac{y}{y'}$ , so  $\log(y/y')$  is bounded away from 0. Using the

$$\begin{split} |J_1| \ll \int_0^t \int_a^\infty \int_1^{\frac{4a}{5}} s^{-1} (t-s)^{-2} y (e^{-\frac{c \log(y/y')^2}{s}} + e^{-\frac{c \log(y)^2}{s}} e^{-\frac{c \log(y')^2}{s}}) \\ y'^{-k+1} (e^{-\frac{c \log(y/y')^2}{t-s}} + e^{-\frac{c \log(y)^2}{t-s}} e^{-\frac{c \log(y')^2}{t-s}}) \frac{dy'}{y'^2} \frac{dy}{y^2} ds \\ \ll at^{-2} \int_0^{t/2} \int_a^\infty s^{-1} y^{-1} (e^{-\frac{c \log(5y/4a)^2}{s}} + e^{-\frac{c \log(y)^2}{s}}) dy ds \\ &+ at^{-1} \int_{t/2}^t \int_a^\infty (t-s)^{-2} y^{-1} (e^{-\frac{c \log(5y/4a)^2}{t-s}} + e^{-\frac{c \log(y)^2}{t-s}}) dy ds. \end{split}$$

Since  $y \ge a > \frac{5}{4}$  we have an estimate in s:

$$e^{-\frac{c\log(5y/4a)^2}{s}} + e^{-\frac{c\log(y)^2}{s}} \le e^{-\frac{c\log(5/4)^2}{2s}} \left(e^{-\frac{c\log(5y/4a)^2}{2s}} + e^{-\frac{c\log(y)^2}{2s}}\right)$$

and  $\int_a^{\infty} y^{-1} e^{-\frac{c \log(5y/4a)^2}{2s}} dy = \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} v^{-1} e^{-\frac{c \log(v)^2}{2s}} dv \ll \sqrt{s}$ . We get a similar estimate for t-s, and together these give:

$$\begin{split} |J_1| &\ll at^{-2} \int_0^{t/2} s^{-1} e^{-\frac{c \log(5/4)^2}{2s}} \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} y^{-1} e^{-\frac{c \log(y)^2}{2s}} dy ds \\ &+ at^{-1} \int_{t/2}^t (t-s)^{-2} e^{-\frac{c \log(5/4)^2}{2(t-s)}} \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} y^{-1} e^{-\frac{c \log(y)^2}{2(t-s)}} dy ds \\ &\ll at^{-2} \int_0^{t/2} s^{-1/2} e^{-\frac{c \log(5/4)^2}{2s}} ds + at^{-1} \int_{t/2}^t (t-s)^{-3/2} e^{-\frac{c \log(5/4)^2}{2(t-s)}} ds \\ &\ll at^{-2} e^{-\frac{c \log(5/4)^2}{4t}} \int_0^{t/2} ds + at^{-1} e^{-\frac{c \log(5/4)^2}{2t}} \int_{t/2}^t ds \ll a(t^{-1}+1) e^{c_1/t} \ll ae^{-\frac{c'}{t}}, \end{split}$$

for some constants  $c_1, c' > 0$ , where we also used that for any b > 0 the function  $f(s) = s^{-1}e^{-\frac{b}{s}} \ll 1$ on  $\mathbb{R}^+$ .

For  $J_2$ , let us use that the variable  $z' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\frac{4a}{5}}$  to multiply the inside the integral by the characteristic function  $\chi_{\mathbb{Z}_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z')$ . Then, denoting again  $1 - e^{2\varphi}$  by  $\psi$  we have:

$$J_{2} = \int_{0}^{t/2} \int_{Z_{a}} \int_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}} \psi_{2}(z) K_{Z,h}(z, z', s) e^{2\varphi(z')} \chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z') \psi(z') \Delta_{Z,g} K_{Z,g}(z', z, t-s) dA_{g}(z') dA_{g}(z) ds.$$

Writing this integral in terms of traces of the corresponding operators we infer:

$$|J_{2}| = \left| \int_{0}^{t/2} \operatorname{Tr}(M_{\psi_{2}}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}}M_{e^{2\varphi}}M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}M_{\psi}\Delta_{Z,g}e^{-(t-s)\Delta_{Z,g}})ds \right| \\ \ll \int_{0}^{t/2} \|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}M_{\psi}\Delta_{Z,g}e^{-(t-s)\Delta_{Z,g}}\|_{1}ds = \int_{t/2}^{t} \|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}M_{\psi}\Delta_{Z,g}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,g}}\|_{1}ds.$$

To obtain a bound, we use a similar method to the one used in Chapter 2 to prove the trace class property. Let us use the auxiliary function  $\phi$  defined by equation (2.6). Then for the trace norm of the operator  $M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}} M_{\psi} \Delta_{Z,g} e^{-s\Delta_{Z,g}}$  we have that:

$$\|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}M_{\psi}\Delta_{Z,g}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,g}}\|_{1} \le \|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}M_{\psi}\Delta_{Z,g}e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,g}}M_{\phi}^{-1}\|_{2}\|M_{\phi}e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,g}}\|_{2}$$

The terms in the right hand side can be estimated as follows:

$$\begin{split} \|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}} M_{\psi} \Delta_{Z,g} e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,g}} M_{\phi}^{-1}\|_{2}^{2} &= \int_{Z} \int_{Z} |\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z)\psi(z)\Delta_{Z,g} K_{Z,g}(z,z',s/2)\phi(z')^{-1}|^{2} dA_{g}(z') dA_{g}(z) \\ &= \int_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}} \int_{Z} |\psi(z)\Delta_{Z,g} K_{Z,g}(z,z',s/2)\phi(z')^{-1}|^{2} dA_{g}(z') dA_{g}(z) \\ &\ll \int_{\frac{4a}{5}}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-2k} yy' s^{-4} (e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(y/y'))^{2}} + e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(yy'))^{2}}) y' \frac{dy'}{y'^{2}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}} \\ &= s^{-4} \int_{\frac{4a}{5}}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-2k-1} e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(y'/y))^{2}} dy' dy + s^{-4} \int_{\frac{4a}{5}}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-2k-1} e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(y'))^{2}} dy' dy. \end{split}$$

For the first integral in the right hand side, let us fix y and let us make the change of variables  $v = \log(y'/y), y' = ye^v, dy' = ye^v dv$ . Then we obtain:

$$s^{-4} \int_{\frac{4a}{5}}^{\infty} \int_{-\log(y)}^{\infty} y^{-2k} e^{v} e^{\frac{-4c}{s}v^{2}} dv dy \ll s^{-4} e^{\frac{s}{4c}} \sqrt{s} \int_{\frac{4a}{5}}^{\infty} y^{-2k} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-v^{2}} dv dy \ll s^{-7/2} a^{-2k+1} e^{\frac{s}{4c}}.$$

For the second integral, we obtain in a similar way:

$$s^{-4} \int_{\frac{4a}{5}}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-2k-1} e^{-\frac{4c}{s} (\log(y'))^2} dy' dy \ll s^{-7/2} e^{\frac{s}{4c}} a^{-2k}.$$

Thus,

$$\|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}M_{\psi}\Delta_{Z,g}e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,g}}M_{\phi}^{-1}\|_{2} \ll s^{-7/4}(a^{-k}+a^{-k+1/2}).$$

For the operator  $M_{\phi}e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,g}}$ , using equation (2.9) we have:

$$\begin{split} \|M_{\phi}e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,g}}\|_{2}^{2} \ll \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} s^{-2}y^{-1}yy'(e^{-\frac{2c}{s}(\log(y/y'))^{2}} + e^{-\frac{2c}{s}(\log(yy'))^{2}})^{2}\frac{dy'}{y'^{2}}\frac{dy}{y^{2}} \\ \ll \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} s^{-2}y'^{-1}y^{-2}(e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(y/y'))^{2}} + e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(yy'))^{2}})dy'dy \\ \ll s^{-2}\sqrt{s}e^{s/4c} + s^{-2}\int_{1}^{\infty} y'^{-1}e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(y'))^{2}}dy' \ll s^{-3/2}(1 + e^{s/4c}). \end{split}$$

Since  $s \le t \le 1$  we have that  $||M_{\phi}e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,g}}||_2 \ll s^{-3/4}$ . It follows that:

$$|J_2| \ll \int_{t/2}^t s^{-7/4} (a^{-k} + a^{-k+1/2}) \cdot s^{-3/4} ds \ll a^{-k+1/2} t^{-3/2}.$$

Now, for  $J_3$  we have:

$$J_{3} = \int_{t/2}^{t} \int_{Z_{a}} \int_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}} \psi_{2}(z) K_{Z,h}(z, z', s) e^{2\varphi(z')} \chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z')$$
$$(\Delta_{Z,g} - \Delta_{Z,h})_{z'} K_{Z,g}(z', z, t-s) dA_{g}(z') dA_{g}(z) ds.$$

Remember that  $\Delta_{Z,g} - \Delta_{Z,h} = (e^{2\varphi(z')} - 1)\Delta_{Z,h} = \widetilde{\psi}(z')\Delta_{Z,h}$ , so the previous equation becomes:

$$\begin{split} J_{3} &= \int_{t/2}^{t} \int_{Z_{a}} \int_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}} \psi_{2}(z) K_{Z,h}(z,z',s) \chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z') \widetilde{\psi}(z') (\Delta_{Z,h} K_{Z,g}(z',z,t-s)) e^{-2\varphi(z)} dA_{h}(z') dA_{h}(z) ds \\ &= \int_{t/2}^{t} \int_{Z_{a}} \int_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}} \psi_{2}(z) (\Delta_{Z,h} K_{Z,h}(z,z',s) \widetilde{\psi}(z')) \chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z') K_{Z,g}(z',z,t-s) e^{-2\varphi(z)} dA_{h}(z') dA_{h}(z) ds \\ &= \int_{t/2}^{t} \int_{Z_{a}} \int_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}} \psi_{2}(z) e^{-2\varphi(z)} K_{Z,g}(z,z',t-s) \chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z') (\Delta_{Z,h} \widetilde{\psi}(z') K_{Z,h}(z',z,s)) dA_{h}(z') dA_{h}(z) ds. \end{split}$$

Writing this in terms of the corresponding operators we obtain:

$$J_{3} = \int_{t/2}^{t} \operatorname{Tr}(M_{\psi_{2}}M_{e^{-2\varphi}}e^{-(t-s)\Delta_{Z,g}}M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}\Delta_{Z,h}M_{\widetilde{\psi}}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}})ds,$$
$$|J_{3}| \leq \int_{t/2}^{t} \|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}\Delta_{Z,h}M_{\widetilde{\psi}}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}}\|_{1} ds.$$

We are now working in  $L^2(M, dA_h)$  therefore to simplify notation we do not write the subindex h in the trace and the Hilbert-Schmidt norms.

$$\|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}\Delta_{Z,h}M_{\widetilde{\psi}}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}}\|_{1} \le \|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}\Delta_{Z,h}M_{\widetilde{\psi}}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}/2}M_{\phi^{-1}}\|_{2}\|M_{\phi}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}/2}\|_{2}$$

The kernel of the operator  $M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}\Delta_{Z,h}M_{\widetilde{\psi}}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}/2}M_{\phi^{-1}}$  is  $\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z')(\Delta_{Z,h}(\widetilde{\psi}(z')K_{Z,h}(z',z,s))\phi(z)^{-1})$ . Using the decay assumptions on  $\varphi$  and its derivatives, we have that:

$$\begin{aligned} |\Delta_{Z,h}(\widetilde{\psi}K_{Z,h})|^2 &\ll |\widetilde{\psi}\Delta_{Z,h}K_{Z,h}|^2 + |K_{Z,h}\Delta_{Z,h}\widetilde{\psi}|^2 + 2|\langle\nabla\widetilde{\psi},\nabla K_{Z,h}\rangle|^2 \\ &\ll y'^{-2k+1}y(s^{-4} + s^{-2} + s^{-3})(e^{-\frac{c}{s}(\log(y/y'))^2} + e^{-\frac{c}{s}(\log(yy'))^2})^2. \end{aligned}$$

Since for 0 < s < 1 we have that  $s^{-4} + s^{-2} + s^{-3} \ll s^{-4}$ , we can estimate the Hilbert-Schmidt norm by:

$$\begin{split} \|M_{\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}}\Delta_{Z,h}M_{\widetilde{\psi}}e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}/2}M_{\phi^{-1}}\|_{2}^{2} &= \int_{Z}\int_{Z}|\chi_{Z_{\frac{4a}{5}}}(z')\widetilde{\psi}(z')\Delta_{h,z'}K_{h}(z',z,s/2)\phi(z)^{-1}|^{2}dA_{h}(z')dA_{h}(z) \\ &\ll s^{-4}\int_{1}^{\infty}\int_{\frac{4a}{5}}^{\infty}y^{2}\;y'^{-2k+1}(e^{-\frac{2c}{s}(\log(y/y'))^{2}} + e^{-\frac{2c}{s}(\log(yy'))^{2}})^{2}\frac{dy'}{y'^{2}}\frac{dy}{y^{2}} \\ &\ll s^{-4}\int_{\frac{4a}{5}}^{\infty}\int_{1}^{\infty}(y'^{-2k-1}e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(y/y'))^{2}} + y'^{-2k-1}e^{-\frac{4c}{s}(\log(y))^{2}})\;dy\;dy' \\ &\ll (a^{-2k+1} + a^{-2k})s^{-7/2}e^{s/4c} \ll a^{-2k+1}s^{-7/2}. \end{split}$$

We finally obtain:

$$\|M_{\phi}^{-1}e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,h}}\widetilde{\psi}\Delta_{h}\|_{2} \le a^{-k+1/2}s^{-7/4}$$

For the operator  $e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,h}}M_{\phi}$ , the proof goes in the same way as for the operator  $M_{\phi}e^{-s/2\Delta_{Z,g}}$ . At the end we obtain:

$$\|e^{-s\Delta_{Z,h}}M_{\phi}\|_{2} = \left(\int_{Z}\int_{Z}|K_{Z,h}(z,z',s/2)\phi(z')|^{2}dA_{h}(z')dA_{h}(z)\right)^{1/2} \ll s^{-3/4}$$

In this way:

$$|J_3| \ll \int_{t/2}^t a^{-k+1/2} s^{-7/4} s^{-3/4} ds \ll a^{-k+1/2} t^{-3/2}.$$

Therefore for 0 < t < 1, we obtain:

$$|\operatorname{Tr}(M_{\psi_2}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{Z,h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{Z,g}}))| \ll a^{-k+1/2}t^{-3/2} + ae^{-c'/t} \ll a^{-k+1/2}t^{-3/2}$$

We know that  $t^{-3/2} \ge 1$ , thus for  $a = t^{-1/9}$ , the condition  $a^{-k+1/2}t^{-3/2} \le t^{\alpha}$ , for  $\alpha \ge 1$ , becomes:  $\frac{k}{9} - \frac{1}{18} - \frac{3}{2} \ge \alpha$ , thus,  $k \ge 9\alpha + 14$ . Then, for  $\alpha = 2$ , we need  $k \ge 32$ ; here is where 32 comes in. If  $1 \le a \le \frac{5}{4}$ , then  $1 \le t^{-1/9} \le \frac{5}{4}$  and  $\left(\frac{4}{5}\right)^9 \le t \le 1$ . Since  $\operatorname{Tr}(M_{\chi_{Z_a}}M_{\psi_2}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{1,h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,g}}))$  is continuous on  $\left[\left(\frac{4}{5}\right)^9, 1\right]$  the statement of the Proposition also holds when  $1 \le a \le \frac{5}{4}$ . This finishes the proof of the Proposition.

**Remark 3.8.** In the proof of Proposition 3.5 we took  $a = t^{-1/9}$ , but what we need is that  $a^8t = t^{\kappa}$  for some  $\kappa > 0$ . So we could take  $a = t^{-\beta}$  with  $0 < \beta < 1/8$ . This will allow us to weaken the decay of the function  $\varphi$  at infinity in Proposition 3.7. However, the decay still must be greater than 29 for this to work. Also note that we can obtain a higher order expansion if we require higher decay at infinity of the functions  $\varphi$  and  $\Delta_g \varphi$ .

To compute the coefficients in the expansion (3.2) remember that the coefficients in the local expansion of the heat kernels are given by universal functions. Thus we have that:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{g}}) &= \int_{M} K_{h}(z, z, t)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K_{g}(z, z, t) \, dA_{g}(z) \\ &= \int_{M} \psi_{t^{-1/9}, 1}(z)t^{-1}\sum_{\ell=0}^{2} (a_{\ell}(h, z)e^{2\varphi(z)} - a_{\ell}(g, z))t^{\ell} \, dA_{g}(z) + O(t^{2}) \\ &= \int_{M_{2t^{-1/9}}} \psi_{t^{-1/9}, 1}(z) \left(\frac{t^{-1}}{4\pi}(e^{2\varphi(z)} - 1) + \frac{1}{12\pi}(K(h, z)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K(g, z)) \right) \\ &+ t(a_{2}(h, z)e^{2\varphi(z)} - a_{2}(g, z)) \right) \, dA_{g}(z) + O(t^{2}), \end{aligned}$$

where K(g, z) and K(h, z) denote the Gaussian curvatures corresponding to each metric. So, as  $t \to 0$  we have:

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_{h}}T - e^{-t\Delta_{g}}) \\ &= \int_{M} \left\{ \frac{t^{-1}}{4\pi} (e^{2\varphi(z)} - 1) + \frac{1}{12\pi} (K(h, z)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K(g, z)) + t(a_{2}(h, z)e^{2\varphi(z)} - a_{2}(g, z)) \right\} \ dA_{g}(z) \\ &\quad + O(t^{2} + e^{-c/t^{1/9}} + e^{-c'/t}) \\ &= \frac{t^{-1}}{4\pi} \int_{M} e^{2\varphi(z)} - 1 \ dA_{g}(z) + \frac{1}{12\pi} \int_{M} K(h, z)e^{2\varphi(z)} - K(g, z) \ dA_{g}(z) \\ &\quad + \ t \ \int_{M} a_{2}(h, z)e^{2\varphi(z)} - a_{2}(g, z) \ dA_{g}(z) + O(t^{2}). \end{aligned}$$

From Gauss-Bonnet's theorem follows that the constant term in the expansion vanishes. Therefore we finally obtain:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}) = \frac{t^{-1}}{4\pi}(A_h - A_g) + t \left(\int_M a_2(h, z)dA_h(z) - \int_M a_2(g, z)dA_g(z)\right) + O(t^2), \text{ as } t \to 0, \quad (3.11)$$

where  $A_h$  and  $A_g$  denote the area of M with respect to the metrics h and g, respectively.

#### **3.2** Expansion for other relative heat traces.

In this section we consider surfaces with several cusps. Let (M, g) be a Riemannian surface of genus p with m cusps. So, (M, g) admits a decomposition of the form  $M = M_0 \cup Z_{a_1} \cup \cdots Z_{a_m}$ , where  $a_i \geq 1$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ ,  $M_0$  is a compact surface with boundary and the metric in each cusp  $Z_{a_i}$  is hyperbolic. We assume that  $a_i \geq 1$  but this is not really necessary, it can be  $a_i > 0$ . Let  $\overline{\Delta}_{a,0}$  be the direct sum  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} \Delta_{a_j,0}$  of the Dirichlet Laplacians  $\Delta_{a_j,0}$  defined in Chapter 1. Proposition 6.4 in [28] establishes that the operator  $e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\overline{\Delta}_{a,0}}$  is trace class. For its trace there is the following asymptotic expansion as  $t \to 0$ :

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{a,0}}) = \frac{A_g}{4\pi}t^{-1} + \left(\frac{\gamma m}{2} + \sum_{j=1}^m \log(a_j)\right)\frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \frac{m\log(t)}{2\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \frac{\chi(M)}{6} + \frac{m}{4} + O(\sqrt{t}) \quad (3.12)$$

A close examination of the proof of equation (3.12) in [28] shows that the term  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{\log(a_j)}{\sqrt{4\pi t}}$  can be replaced by  $e^{-t/4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{\log(a_j)}{\sqrt{4\pi t}}$ .

In Chapter 5 it will be convenient to consider the relative determinant of the pair  $(\Delta_g, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0})$ . To that purpose we consider the trace  $\text{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}})$ . Recall that in Remark 2.8 we explained that the trace is taken in an extended  $L^2$  space. From equation (2.13) follows that in this case the extended space is given by

$$L^{2}(M, dA_{g}) \oplus \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} L^{2}([1, a_{j}], y^{-2}dy) = L^{2}(M_{0}, dA_{g}) \oplus \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} (L^{2}_{0}(Z_{a_{j}}) \oplus L^{2}([1, \infty), y^{-2}dy)).$$
(3.13)

Thus, using Proposition 2.6 and equations (2.14) and (3.12) we obtain the following asymptotic expansion as  $t \to 0$ :

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}}) = \frac{A_g}{4\pi}t^{-1} + \frac{\gamma m}{2\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \frac{m\log(t)}{2\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \frac{\chi(M)}{6} + \frac{m}{4} + O(\sqrt{t}).$$
(3.14)

This together with equation (3.11) gives:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}}) = \frac{A_h}{4\pi}t^{-1} + \frac{\gamma m}{2}\frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \frac{m\log(t)}{2\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \frac{\chi(M)}{6} + \frac{m}{4} + O(\sqrt{t}).$$
(3.15)

where the transformation T is the identity in the space  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} L^2([1, a_j], y^{-2}dy)$ .

## Chapter 4

# Polyakov's formula for the relative determinant, extremals

In [33] the authors proved that on compact surfaces, with and without boundary and under suitable restrictions, the regularized determinant of the Laplace operator has an extremum. In this chapter we discuss the generalization of the extremal property of determinants given by OPS to certain cases of surfaces with asymptotically cusp ends using the relative determinant introduced by W. Müller in [30]. We study the relative determinant as a function of the metric inside a conformal class, considering non-compact deformations with good decay and proof Polyakov's formula for the relative determinant. Relative determinants on surfaces with cusps were studied by W. Müller in [30], and by R. Lundelius in [26] in terms of "heights".

### 4.1 Definition of the relative determinant

For the definition of the relative regularized determinant we borrow the definition from [30], as it was recalled in Section 1.9. Let (M, g),  $h := e^{2\varphi}g$  where  $\varphi$  and its derivatives up to order two have a suitable decay at infinity. We use the notation introduced in Chapter 1. As before we consider positive Laplacians. Let us recall how the area element, the Laplace operator and the Gaussian curvature change under conformal transformations:  $dA_h = e^{2\varphi}dA_g$ ,  $\Delta_h = e^{-2\varphi}\Delta_g$ , and  $K_h = e^{-2\varphi}(\Delta_g \varphi + K_g)$ . Since relative determinants on surfaces with cusps were already studied by W. Müller in [30], here we restrict our attention to the definition and the properties of the following relative determinants:

- $det(\Delta_h, \Delta_q)$ , and
- det $(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0})$ .

In Chapter 2 we proved that the operators,  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}$ ,  $e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  and  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}$  are trace class, where  $T : L^2(M, dA_g) \to L^2(M, dA_h)$ ,  $f \mapsto e^{-\varphi}f$ . In Chapter 3 we proved the corresponding asymptotic expansions of their traces as  $t \to 0$ . See equations (3.12) to (3.15).

Remember the condition for the existence of the expansion of the trace of  $T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_g}$ for small values of t: the conformal factor  $\varphi|_Z(y,x)$ , as well as its derivatives up to second order, should decay as  $y^{-32}$ , as  $y \to \infty$ . The expansion for this case is:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) = \frac{A_h}{4\pi}t^{-1} + \frac{\gamma m}{2}\frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \frac{m\log(t)}{2\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \frac{1}{12\pi}\int_M K_h \, dA_h + \frac{m}{4} + O(\sqrt{t}) \quad \text{as } t \to 0.$$

Let us take m = 1 and let us fix the notation:

$$a_0 = \frac{A_h}{4\pi}$$
  $a_{10} = \frac{\gamma}{4\sqrt{\pi}}$ ,  $a_{11} = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{\pi}}$ ,  $a_2 = \frac{\chi(M)}{6} + \frac{1}{4}$ .

For the asymptotic expansion of the relative heat trace for big t, the trace class property together with the fact that  $\sigma_{ac}(\Delta_{1,0}) = [1/4, \infty)$  and Lemma 2.22 in [30] give the existence of a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) = 1 + O(e^{-C_1 t}), \quad \text{as } t \to \infty,$$
 (4.1)

where the value 1 in the right hand side comes from dim Ker  $\Delta_h$  – dim Ker  $\Delta_{1,0} = 1 - 0$  and the trace is taken in  $L^2(M, dA_q)$ .

Following [30], we see that the conditions of Theorem 3.4 suffice to define the relative determinant of  $(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0})$ . We start by defining the relative zeta function as:

$$\zeta(s; \Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} (\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) - 1) dt,$$
(4.2)

for  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ . It follows from the asymptotic expansions (3.15) and (4.1) that the function  $\zeta(s; \Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0})$  has a meromorphic continuation to the complex plane, which we denote again by  $\zeta$ . To see that there is a meromorphic extension and that it is regular at s = 0, consider

$$\begin{split} \zeta(s;\Delta_h,\Delta_{1,0}) &= \zeta_1(s) + \zeta_2(s) \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^1 t^{s-1} (\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) - 1) dt + \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_1^\infty t^{s-1} (\operatorname{Tr}(T^{-1}e^{-t\Delta_h}T - e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}) - 1) dt \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^1 t^{s-1} (a_0 t^{-1} + (a_{10} + a_{11}\log t)t^{-1/2} + a_2 - 1 + O(\sqrt{t})) dt + \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_1^\infty t^{s-1} f(t) dt, \end{split}$$

where  $f(t) = O(e^{-c_1 t})$ , as  $t \to \infty$ , thus the term  $\frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_1^\infty t^{s-1} f(t) dt$  is analytic at s = 0. For  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ , we have that:

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_1(s) &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^1 t^{s-1} (a_0 t^{-1} + (a_{10} + a_{11} \log t) t^{-1/2} + a_2 - 1 + \vartheta(t)) dt \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \left( \frac{a_0}{s-1} + \frac{a_{10}}{s-1/2} - \frac{a_{11}}{(s-1/2)^2} + \frac{a_2 - 1}{s} + \vartheta_1(s) \right), \end{aligned}$$

where  $\vartheta(t) = O(\sqrt{t})$  and  $\vartheta_1(s)$  is a function that is analytic at s = 0.

Therefore, we can define the regularized relative determinant of  $(\Delta_h, \Delta_0)$  as:

$$\det(\Delta_h, \Delta_0) = \exp\left(-\frac{d}{ds}\zeta(s; \Delta_h, \Delta_0)\Big|_{s=0}\right).$$
(4.3)

### 4.2 Polyakov's formula

The main tool to study extremal properties of determinants is Polyakov's formula. This formula relates the determinant of a given metric to the determinant of a conformal perturbation of it. In this section we establish a variational formula for  $\zeta(s; \Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0})$  that implies Polyakov's formula for relative determinants. The formula obtained is the same as the one for regularized determinants on compact surfaces given in [33]. The proof of the variational formula and Polyakov's formula follows the main lines of the corresponding proof in [33] but we focus in the technical details that allow us to perform each step in the main proof.

In order to study the variation of the relative regularized determinant and the variation of the respective relative zeta function at the metric h we need to consider the following set of functions:

$$\mathcal{F}_{32} := \{ \psi \in C^{\infty}(M) | \ \psi(z) \text{ and } \Delta_g \psi(z) \text{ are } O(i(z)^{-32}) \text{ as } y = i(z) \to \infty \}.$$

Remember that if  $\psi(z) = O(i(z)^{-32})$  as  $y = i(z) \to \infty$ , so are  $1 - e^{2\psi(z)}$  and  $1 - e^{-2\psi(z)}$  and their derivatives up to second order. Now, for  $\psi \in \mathcal{F}_{32}$  and  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ , let us consider:

$$h_u := e^{2(\varphi + u\psi)}g = e^{2u\psi}h$$
$$\Delta_u := \Delta_{h_u} = e^{-2u\psi}\Delta_h, \quad dA_u := dA_{h_u} = e^{2u\psi}dA_h,$$
$$T_u : L^2(M, dA_u) \to L^2(M, dA_h), f \mapsto f e^{u\psi}.$$

 $T_u$  is an unitary map, since for  $f \in L^2(M, dA_u)$ ,  $\int_M |T_u f|^2 dA_h = \int_M |f|^2 dA_u$ . Let us consider the following functional:

$$\begin{aligned} F: \mathcal{F}_{32} \to \mathbb{C}, F_s(\varphi + u\psi) &:= \zeta(s; \Delta_u, \Delta_{1,0}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} (\operatorname{Tr}(T_u e^{-t\Delta_u} T_u^{-1} - T e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}} T^{-1}) - 1) dt, \end{aligned}$$

where the trace is taken in  $L^2(M, dA_h)$ . The variation of  $\zeta$  at  $\varphi$  in the direction of  $\psi$  is defined as:

$$\frac{\delta\zeta}{\delta\psi}(s;\Delta_h,\Delta_{1,0}) := \left.\frac{\partial}{\partial u}F_s(\varphi + u\psi)\right|_{u=0}$$

Before we proceed with the computation of the derivative in the equation above, we need the following lemmas:

#### Lemma 4.1.

$$\frac{d}{du} \operatorname{Tr}(T_u e^{-t\Delta_u} T_u^{-1} - T e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}} T^{-1}) \Big|_{u=0} = -t \operatorname{Tr}(\dot{\Delta}_h e^{-t\Delta_h}),$$

where  $\dot{\Delta}_h \equiv \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \right|_{u=0} = -2\psi \Delta_h.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $H_u = T_u \Delta_u T_u^{-1}$ . Then  $H_u$  is a family of self-adjoint operators acting on  $L^2(M, dA_h)$ . Note that  $e^{-tH_u} = T_u e^{-t\Delta_u} T_u^{-1}$ . It is also clear that:

$$\frac{d}{du}\operatorname{Tr}(T_u e^{-t\Delta_u} T_u^{-1} - T e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}} T^{-1}) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{d}{du} e^{-tH_u}\right).$$

Let  $u_1, u_2 > 0$ , with  $u_1 > u_2$ . Let us apply Duhamel's principle in terms of the operators:

$$e^{-tH_{u_1}} - e^{-tH_{u_2}} = \int_0^t \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left( e^{-sH_{u_1}} e^{-(t-s)H_{u_2}} \right) ds$$
  
=  $\int_0^t -e^{-sH_{u_1}} H_{u_1} e^{-(t-s)H_{u_2}} + e^{-sH_{u_1}} H_{u_2} e^{-(t-s)H_{u_2}} ds.$ 

Dividing by  $u_1 - u_2$  the previous equation becomes:

$$\frac{e^{-tH_{u_1}} - e^{-tH_{u_2}}}{u_1 - u_2} = -\int_0^t e^{-sH_{u_1}} \left(\frac{H_{u_1} - H_{u_2}}{u_1 - u_2}\right) e^{-(t-s)H_{u_2}} \, ds$$

and letting  $u_2 \rightarrow u_1$ , we obtain:

$$\frac{d}{du} e^{-tH_u} \Big|_{u=u_1} = -\int_0^t e^{-sH_{u_1}} \left( \frac{d}{du} H_u \Big|_{u=u_1} \right) e^{-(t-s)H_{u_1}} ds.$$

Therefore we get:

$$\frac{d}{du}\operatorname{Tr}(T_{u}e^{-t\Delta_{u}}T_{u}^{-1} - Te^{-t\Delta_{1,0}}T^{-1}) = -\int_{0}^{t}\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-sH_{u}}\left(\frac{d}{du}H_{u}\right)e^{-(t-s)H_{u}}) ds$$
$$= -\int_{0}^{t}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\frac{d}{du}H_{u}\right)e^{-tH_{u}}\right) ds = -t\operatorname{Tr}\left(\dot{H}_{u}e^{-tH_{u}}\right). \quad (4.4)$$

Let us compute the derivative  $\dot{H}_u$ :

$$\frac{d}{du}H_u = \left(\frac{d}{du}T_u\right)\Delta_u T_u^{-1} + T_u\left(\frac{d}{du}\Delta_u\right)T_u^{-1} + T_u\Delta_u\left(\frac{d}{du}T_u^{-1}\right)$$
$$= \psi T_u\Delta_u T_u^{-1} + T_u\left(\frac{d}{du}\Delta_u\right)T_u^{-1} - T_u\Delta_u\psi T_u^{-1}.$$

Thus we get

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\dot{H}_{u}e^{-tH_{u}}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi T_{u}\Delta_{u}e^{-t\Delta_{u}}T_{u}^{-1}\right) + \operatorname{Tr}\left(T_{u}\dot{\Delta}_{u}e^{-t\Delta_{u}}T_{u}^{-1}\right) - \operatorname{Tr}\left(T_{u}\Delta_{u}\psi e^{-t\Delta_{u}}T_{u}^{-1}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi\Delta_{u}e^{-t\Delta_{u}}\right) + \operatorname{Tr}\left(\dot{\Delta}_{u}e^{-t\Delta_{u}}\right) - \operatorname{Tr}\left(\Delta_{u}\psi e^{-t\Delta_{u}}\right).$$

From the rate of decay assumed for  $\psi$  and  $\Delta_g \psi$  we have that the operators  $\psi e^{-t\Delta_u}$  and  $\Delta_u \psi e^{-t\Delta_u}$ are trace class; the proof follows in the same way as the proofs in Chapter 2. Now we use the fact that for a bounded operator A and a trace class operator B we have Tr(AB) = Tr(BA). Using that  $e^{-t\Delta_u}\Delta_u$  is bounded for all t > 0 we obtain:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\Delta_{u}\psi e^{-t\Delta_{u}}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\frac{t}{2}\Delta_{u}}\Delta_{u}\psi e^{-\frac{t}{2}\Delta_{u}}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi e^{-t\Delta_{u}}\Delta_{u}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi\Delta_{u}e^{-t\Delta_{u}}\right).$$

In this way we get:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\dot{H}_{u}e^{-tH_{u}}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\dot{\Delta}_{u}e^{-t\Delta_{u}}\right) = -2\operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi\Delta_{u}e^{-t\Delta_{u}}\right)$$

Taking u = 0 in the previous equation together with equation (4.4) implies the statement of the lemma.

**Lemma 4.2.** For any t > 0, the operator  $\psi e^{-t\Delta_h}$  is trace class.

*Proof.* Let us use the semigroup property to decompose the operator  $\psi e^{-t\Delta_h}$  as

$$\psi e^{-t\Delta_h} = \psi e^{-(t/2)\Delta_h} M_{\phi^{-1}} M_{\phi} e^{-(t/2)\Delta_h}$$

where  $\phi$  is a smooth function on M such that  $\phi(y, x) = y^{-1/2}$ , for  $(y, x) \in Z$  and where  $M_{\phi}$  denotes the multiplication operator by  $\phi$ . Each of the operators  $\psi e^{-t/2\Delta_h} M_{\phi^{-1}}$  and  $M_{\phi} e^{-t/2\Delta_h}$  is Hilbert-Schmidt. The proof of the Hilbert-Schmidt property for  $M_{\phi} e^{-t/2\Delta_h}$  is the same as the proof for  $M_{\phi} e^{-t/2\Delta_g}$  in Chapter 2. For the operator  $\psi e^{-t/2\Delta_h} M_{\phi^{-1}}$  the proof is similar. We just need to verify that

$$\int_M \int_M |\psi(z)K_h(z, z', t/2)\phi(z')^{-1}|^2 dA_h(z) dA_h(z') < \infty.$$

The integrals obtained after estimating the heat kernel are of the same kind as those obtained in Chapter 2.  $\hfill \Box$ 

In this way we have for the variation of the relative zeta function that:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\delta\zeta}{\delta\psi}(s;\Delta_h,\Delta_{1,0}) &= \left. \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} \left. \frac{d}{du} (\operatorname{Tr}(T_u e^{-t\Delta_u} T_u^{-1} - T e^{-t\Delta_{1,0}} T^{-1}) - 1) \right|_{u=0} dt \\ &= \left. \frac{-1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^s \operatorname{Tr}((-2\psi\Delta_h e^{-t\Delta_h}) dt = \frac{-2}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^s \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi e^{-t\Delta_h}) dt, \end{aligned} \end{aligned}$$

where the last equality follows from:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\operatorname{Tr}\psi e^{-t\Delta_h}) = \int_M \psi(z) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} K_h(z, z, t) dA_h(z)$$
$$= -\int_M \psi(z) \Delta_h K_h(z, z, t) dA_h(z) = -\operatorname{Tr}(\psi \Delta_h e^{-t\Delta_h}).$$

Remember that in equation (4.2), the constant 1 stands for dim Ker  $\Delta_h$  – dim Ker  $\Delta_{1,0}$ . In this case we have dim Ker  $\Delta_u$  – dim Ker  $\Delta_{1,0} = 1$ , i.e. it will be independent of u. Now,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\psi e^{-t\Delta_h} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\ \psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)}).$$

Therefore

$$\frac{\delta\zeta}{\delta\psi}(s;\Delta_h,\Delta_{1,0}) = \frac{-2}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^s \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) dt.$$
(4.5)

Before we proceed with the computation of the above integral, we need the following lemmas:

**Lemma 4.3.** There exists a constant c > 0 such that:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) = O(e^{-ct}), \ as \ t \to \infty.$$

*Proof.* Let t > 1 and let us write:

$$\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)}) = \psi e^{-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_h} (e^{-(t-\frac{1}{2})\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)}),$$

where we used that  $e^{-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_h}P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)} = P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)}$ . Now, by Lemma 4.2 we have that  $\psi e^{-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_h}$  is trace class. On the other hand, using the spectral theorem we have for  $f \in L^2(M, dA_h)$ :

$$e^{-t\Delta_h}f - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)}f = e^{-t(\Delta_h - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})}f.$$

Note that  $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\Delta_h) = [1/4, \infty)$  implies that 0 is an isolated eigenvalue of  $\Delta_h$  and  $\sigma(\Delta_h - P_{\text{Ker}(\Delta_h)}) \subseteq [c_1, \infty)$  for some  $c_1 \in (0, 1/4]$ . Thus  $\|e^{-t(\Delta_h - P_{\text{Ker}(\Delta_h)})}\|_{L^2(M,h)} \leq e^{-c_1 t}$  for any t > 0. If t > 1,  $t - \frac{1}{2} > 0$  and for the trace we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} |\operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_{h}} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_{h})}))| &\leq \|\psi e^{-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{h}}(e^{-(t-\frac{1}{2})\Delta_{h}} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_{h})})\|_{1} \\ &\leq \|\psi e^{-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{h}}\|_{1} \|e^{-(t-\frac{1}{2})(\Delta_{h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_{h})})}\|_{L^{2}(M,h)} \ll e^{-c_{1}t}. \end{aligned}$$

This proves Lemma 4.3.

**Lemma 4.4.** For  $0 < t \leq 1$  the trace of the operator  $\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\text{Ker}(\Delta_h)})$  has the following expansion:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) = \int_M \psi(z) \left(\frac{1}{4\pi t} + \frac{K_h(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h}\right) dA_h + O(t)$$

as  $t \to 0$ .

*Proof.* In order to prove Lemma 4.4 we use a method similar to the one used in Section 3.1 to prove the existence of the expansion of the relative heat trace  $\text{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_h} - e^{-t\Delta_g})$  for small t. We start by considering the parametrix kernel  $Q_h(z, z', t)$  defined by equation (3.1):

$$Q_h(z, w, t) = \varphi_1(z) K_{W,h}(z, w, t) \psi_1(w) + \varphi_2(z) K_{1,h}(z, w, t) \psi_2(w),$$

where the functions  $\varphi_i$  and  $\psi_i$ , i = 1, 2, are defined in Section 3.1. Lemma 3.3 gives a constant  $c_3 > 0$  that allows us to replace the heat kernel  $K_h(z, z', t)$  by  $Q_h(z, z', t)$ :

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) = \int_M \psi(z)(K_h(z, z, t) - \frac{1}{A_h})dA_h(z)$$

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{M} \psi(z) (K_{h}(z,z,t) - \frac{1}{A_{h}}) dA_{h}(z) - \int_{M} \psi(z) (Q_{h}(z,z,t) - \frac{1}{A_{h}}) dA_{h}(z) \right| \\ \ll \int_{M} |K_{h}(z,z,t) - Q_{h}(z,z,t)| dA_{h}(z) = O(e^{-c_{3}/t}). \end{split}$$

With this we can restrict our attention to  $\int_M \psi(z)(Q_h(z, z, t) - \frac{1}{A_h})dA_h(z)$  and split the integral as the sum of the following two terms:

$$L_1(t) = \int_{M_2} \psi(z)\psi_1(z)(K_{W,h}(z,z,t) - \frac{1}{A_h})dA_h(z)$$
$$L_2(t) = \int_{Z_{\frac{5}{4}}} \psi(z)\psi_2(z)(K_{1,h}(z,z,t) - \frac{1}{A_h})dA_h(z).$$

For  $L_1(t)$  we use the asymptotic expansion of the kernel  $K_{W,h}(z, z, t)$  on the compact manifold W to obtain:

$$L_{1}(t) = \int_{M_{2}} \psi(z)\psi_{1}(z)(K_{W,h}(z,z,t) - \frac{1}{A_{h}})dA_{h}(z)$$
$$= \int_{M_{2}} \psi(z)\psi_{1}(z)\left(\frac{1}{4\pi t} + \frac{K_{h}(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_{h}} + R_{1}(z,t)\right)dA_{h}(z). \quad (4.6)$$

For  $L_2(t)$ , we consider the same construction as in the proof of Proposition 3.5. Let us summarize the idea. For the details see the proof of Proposition 3.5. We first extend the metric h to a metric  $\tilde{h}$  on the complete cusp  $\tilde{Z} = (0, \infty) \times S^1$  and then we lift  $\tilde{h}$  to a metric  $\hat{h}$  on the universal cover  $\hat{Z} = \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}$  of the complete cusp  $\tilde{Z}$ . We also lift the functions  $\psi$  and  $\psi_2$  to functions on  $\hat{Z}$  satisfying  $\hat{\psi} = \tilde{\psi} \circ \pi$  and  $\hat{\psi}_2 = \tilde{\psi}_2 \circ \pi$ . By Lemma 3.6 we have that

$$K_{1,h}(z,w,t) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_h(\widetilde{z}, \widetilde{w} + m, t),$$

where  $\pi(\tilde{z}) = z$  and  $\pi(\tilde{w}) = w$ . We also have that  $F = \mathbb{R} + \times [0, 2\pi]$  is a fundamental domain for the the group of deck transformations  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}$ . Now, let a > 5/4 and let us split the integral  $L_2(t)$ as the sum  $L_2 = J_1(t) + J_2(t) + J_3(t)$ , where the  $J_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, are given by:

$$J_{1}(t) = \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \hat{\psi}(\tilde{z}) \hat{\psi}_{2}(\tilde{z}) (k_{h}(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z}, t) - \frac{1}{A_{h}}) dA_{\hat{h}}(\tilde{z}),$$
  

$$J_{2}(t) = \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{a} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \hat{\psi}(\tilde{z}) \hat{\psi}_{2}(\tilde{z}) \sum_{m \neq 0} k_{h}(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z} + m, t) dA_{\hat{h}}(\tilde{z}),$$
  

$$J_{3}(t) = \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \hat{\psi}(\tilde{z}) \hat{\psi}_{2}(\tilde{z}) \sum_{m \neq 0} k_{h}(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z} + m, t) dA_{\hat{h}}(\tilde{z}).$$

For  $J_1$  we use the local asymptotic expansion of the heat kernel  $k_h(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z}, t)$ :

$$J_1(t) = \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} \int_0^{2\pi} \hat{\psi}(\tilde{z}) \hat{\psi}_2(\tilde{z}) \left( \frac{1}{4\pi t} + \frac{K_{\hat{h}}(\tilde{z})}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h} + R_{1,1}(\tilde{z},t) \right) dA_{\hat{h}}(\tilde{z})$$
(4.7)

We know that  $|R_{1,1}(\tilde{z},t)| = O(t)$ , uniformly in  $\tilde{z}$ , see [10].

For  $J_2(t)$  we use the same kind of estimates as in the proof of Proposition 3.5. We use namely that the metric  $\hat{h}$  is quasi-isometric to the hyperbolic metric in the upper half plane. Therefore the heat kernel  $k_h$  satisfies the estimate:

$$k_h(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w},t) \ll t^{-1}e^{-\frac{c_1d_{\widehat{g}}(\widetilde{z},\widetilde{w})}{t}},$$

where  $d_{\hat{g}}$  is the hyperbolic distance. Thus the series can be estimated in the same way as in equation (3.8). Then using equation (3.9) we obtain:

$$J_{2}(t) \ll \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{a} y^{-32} e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{a^{8}t}} \sum_{m \neq 0} e^{-\frac{c_{1}\log(1+\frac{m^{2}}{2a^{2}})^{2}}{2t}} \frac{dy}{y^{2}}$$
$$\ll e^{-\frac{c_{2}}{a^{8}t}} \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{a} y^{-32} \int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{c_{1}\log(1+\frac{u^{2}}{2a^{2}})^{2}}{2t}} du \frac{dy}{y^{2}} \ll ae^{-\frac{c_{2}}{a^{8}t}}.$$
 (4.8)

Now, for  $J_3$  we have:

$$J_{3}(t) = \int_{a}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \hat{\psi}(\tilde{z}) \hat{\psi}_{2}(\tilde{z}) \sum_{m \neq 0} k_{h}(\tilde{z}, \tilde{z} + m, t) dA_{\hat{h}}(\tilde{z})$$
  
$$\leq \int_{Z_{a}} \psi(z) \psi_{2}(z) K_{1,h}(z, z, t) dA_{h}(z) \ll \int_{a}^{\infty} t^{-1} y^{-32} y \frac{dy}{y^{2}} = t^{-1} \int_{a}^{\infty} y^{-33} dy \ll t^{-1} a^{-32}.$$
(4.9)

As in Chapter 3, let us take  $a = t^{-1/9}$ . Then putting equations (4.6) (4.7) (4.8) and (4.9) together we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_{h}} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_{h})})) &= \int_{M} \psi(z)(K_{h}(z, z, t) - \frac{1}{A_{h}})dA_{h}(z) \\ &= \int_{M_{2}} \psi(z)\psi_{1}(z)\left(\frac{1}{4\pi t} + \frac{K_{h}(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_{h}} + R_{1}(z, t)\right)dA_{h}(z) \\ &+ \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \hat{\psi}(\widetilde{z})\hat{\psi}_{2}(\widetilde{z})\left(\frac{1}{4\pi t} + \frac{K_{\hat{h}}(\widetilde{z})}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_{h}} + R_{1,1}(\widetilde{z}, t)\right)dA_{\hat{h}}(\widetilde{z}) + O(t^{2}), \end{aligned}$$

where  $O(t^2)$  is clearly independent of z. Now we know that  $|R_1(z,t)| \ll t$  and  $|R_{1,1}(\tilde{z},t)| \ll t$ uniformly in z. Therefore we can make the following estimate:

$$\int_{M_2} \psi(z)\psi_1(z)R_1(z,t)dA_h(z) + \int_{\frac{5}{4}}^{\infty} \int_0^{2\pi} \hat{\psi}(\tilde{z})\hat{\psi}_2(\tilde{z})R_{1,1}(\tilde{z},t)dA_{\hat{h}}(\tilde{z}) \ll t.$$

In this way we conclude that:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) = \int_M \psi(z) \left(\frac{1}{4\pi t} + \frac{K_h(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h}\right) dA_h(z) + O(t).$$

This finishes the proof of Lemma 4.4.

Going back to the variation of the relative zeta function, let us apply integration by parts in equation (4.5) to obtain for Re(s) > 0:

$$\frac{\delta\zeta}{\delta\psi}(s;\Delta_h,\Delta_{1,0}) = \frac{2s}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) dt$$

Let us now split this integral as:

$$\frac{\delta\zeta}{\delta\psi}(s;\Delta_h,\Delta_{1,0}) = \frac{2s}{\Gamma(s)} \left( \int_0^1 t^{s-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) dt + \int_1^\infty t^{s-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) dt \right) \quad (4.10)$$

and let us study each term separately.

For the second term on the right hand side in equation (4.10) it follows from Lemma 4.3 that  $\int_1^\infty t^{s-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) dt$  is an entire function of s. Since  $\Gamma(s)^{-1} \sim s$ , we infer

$$\frac{d}{ds} \left. \frac{2s}{\Gamma(s)} \int_1^\infty t^{s-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi(e^{-t\Delta_h} - P_{\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_h)})) dt \right|_{s=0} = 0$$

For the first term on the right hand side of (4.10), we use Lemma 4.4. Thus, for Re(s) > 1 and taking the corresponding extensions, we have:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta\zeta_1}{\delta\psi}(s;\Delta_h,\Delta_{1,0}) &= \frac{2s}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^1 t^{s-1} \left\{ \int_M \psi(z) \left( \frac{1}{4\pi t} + \frac{K_h(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h} \right) dA_h + O(t) \right\} dt \\ &= \frac{2s}{\Gamma(s)} \left\{ \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{1}{s-1} \int_M \psi(z) dA_h + \frac{1}{s} \int_M \psi(z) (\frac{K_h(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h}) dA_h + \text{ analytic in } s \right\} \\ &= \frac{2s}{\Gamma(s)} \left\{ \frac{1}{s} \int_M \psi(z) (\frac{K_h(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h}) dA_h + \text{ analytic in } s \text{ near } 0 \right\}. \end{split}$$

We consider now the derivative with respect to s at s = 0. We first take into account that  $\frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} = s + O(s^2)$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{ds} \frac{\delta \zeta_1}{\delta \psi}(s; \Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) \Big|_{s=0} &= \left. \frac{d}{ds} \left. \frac{s}{\Gamma(s)} \left( \frac{1}{s} \int_M 2\psi(z) (\frac{K_h(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h}) dA_h + \text{ analytic in } s \right) \right|_{s=0} \\ &= \left. \frac{d}{ds} \left. \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \left( \int_M 2\psi(z) (\frac{K_\varphi(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h}) dA_h \right. + (\widetilde{a}_1 s + \dots) \right) \right|_{s=0} \\ &= \left. \int_M 2\psi(z) \left( \frac{K_h(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h} \right) dA_h. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta}{\delta\psi} \log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) &= -\frac{\delta}{\delta\psi} \frac{d}{ds} \zeta(s; \Delta_h, \Delta_0) \big|_{s=0} = -\int_M 2\psi(z) \left(\frac{K_h(z)}{12\pi} - \frac{1}{A_h}\right) dA_h \\ &= -\int_M 2\psi(z) \left(\frac{1}{12\pi} e^{-2\varphi} (\Delta_g \varphi + K_g) - \frac{1}{A_h}\right) e^{2\varphi} dA_g \\ &= -\frac{1}{6\pi} \int_M \psi(z) (\Delta_g \varphi + K_g) dA_g + \frac{1}{A_h} \int_M 2\psi e^{2\varphi} dA_g \\ &= -\frac{1}{6\pi} \int_M \psi(\Delta_g \varphi + K_g) dA_g + \frac{\delta}{\delta\psi} \log A_h. \end{split}$$

Using that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2} \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \int_{M} |\nabla_{g}(\varphi + u\psi)|^{2} \left. dA_{g} \right|_{u=0} &= \left. \frac{1}{2} \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \langle d_{g}(\varphi + u\psi), d_{g}(\varphi + u\psi) \rangle \right|_{u=0} \\ &= \left. \frac{1}{2} \left( \langle d_{g}^{*} d_{g} \varphi, \psi \rangle + \langle \psi, d_{g}^{*} d_{g} \varphi \rangle \right) = \langle \psi, \Delta_{g} \varphi \rangle, \\ \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \int_{M} K_{g} \left( \varphi + u\psi \right) \left. dA_{g} \right|_{u=0} &= \left. \int_{M} K_{g} \left. \psi \right. dA_{g}, \end{aligned}$$

for all  $\psi$  in the domain of F we obtain:

$$\log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) = -\frac{1}{12\pi} \int_M |\nabla_g \varphi|^2 \ dA_g - \frac{1}{6\pi} \int_M K_g \ \varphi \ dA_g + \log A_h + C.$$

Notice that if  $\varphi = 0$  we have  $\Delta_h = \Delta_g$  and from the previous equation we obtain  $C = \log \det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{1,0})$ . In this way, we have proved Polyakov's formula:

**Theorem 4.5.** Let (M, g) be a surface with cusps and let  $h = e^{2\varphi}g$  be a conformal transformation of g with  $\varphi \in \mathcal{F}_{32}$ . For the corresponding relative determinants we have the following formula:

$$\log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) = -\frac{1}{12\pi} \int_M |\nabla_g \varphi|^2 \, dA_g - \frac{1}{6\pi} \int_M K_g \, \varphi \, dA_g + \log A_h + \log \det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{1,0}).$$
(4.11)

## 4.3 Extremal properties of the relative determinant

Following [33] we choose a functional  $\Phi$  related to det $(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0})$  that is translation invariant and such that maximizing log det $(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0})$  is the same as minimizing  $\Phi$  for metrics of constant area. It is convenient to choose the same functional as in [33]:

$$\Phi(\varphi) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} |\nabla_g \varphi|^2 \, dA_g + \int_{M} K_g \, \varphi \, dA_g - \pi \chi(M) \log\left(\int_{M} e^{2\varphi} dA_g\right). \tag{4.12}$$

It is translation invariant since for any constant a we have:

$$\Phi(\varphi+a) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} |\nabla_g(\varphi+a)|^2 \, dA_g + \int_M K_g \, (\varphi+a) \, dA_g - \pi \chi(M) \log\left(e^{2a} \int_M e^{2\varphi} dA_g\right)$$
$$= \Phi(\varphi) + a \left(\int_M K_g \, dA_g - 2\pi \chi(M)\right) = \Phi(\varphi).$$

From

$$-6\pi \log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_M |\nabla_g \varphi|^2 \, dA_g + \int_M K_g \, \varphi \, dA_g - 6\pi \log(A_h)$$
$$= \Phi(\varphi) + \pi \chi(M) \log\left(\int_M e^{2\varphi} dA_g\right) - 6\pi \log(A_h),$$

it follows that

$$\Phi(\varphi) = -6\pi \log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) + \pi(6 - \chi(M)) \log(A_h)$$

Then, under the constraint  $A_h = 1$  we have

$$\Phi(\varphi) = -6\pi \log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}).$$

Notice that  $\Phi$  is convex, if  $\chi(M) \leq 0$ . Therefore,  $\Phi$  may attain a minimum.

Let us analyze the functional without requiring the constraint  $A_h = 1$ . Assume that  $\chi(M) \leq 0$ and that  $\varphi$  minimizes  $\Phi$ . If this happens we have that  $\frac{\delta \Phi}{\delta \psi}(\varphi) = 0$ , for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{F}_{32}$ .

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta\Phi}{\delta\psi}(\varphi) &= -6\pi \frac{\delta}{\delta\psi} \log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{1,0}) + \pi (6 - \chi(M)) \frac{\delta \log(A_h)}{\delta\psi} \\ &= \int_M \psi(\Delta_g \varphi + K_g) \ dA_g + -6\pi \frac{\delta \log(A_h)}{\delta\psi} + \pi (6 - \chi(M)) \frac{\delta \log(A_h)}{\delta\psi} \\ &= \int_M \psi(\Delta_g \varphi + K_g) \ dA_g - \pi \chi(M) \frac{1}{A_h} \int_M 2\psi e^{2\varphi} dA_g \\ &= \int_M \psi[\Delta_g \varphi + K_g - \pi \chi(M) \frac{2}{A_h} \ e^{2\varphi}] dA_g = 0. \end{split}$$

By elliptic regularity we have:

$$\Delta_g \varphi + K_g - \frac{2\pi\chi(M)}{A_h} e^{2\varphi} = 0,$$

thus

$$K_h = e^{-2\varphi} (\Delta_g \varphi + K_g) = \frac{2\pi \chi(M)}{\int_M e^{2\varphi} dA_g}.$$

The left hand side in the last equation is independent of  $x \in M$ . Therefore if  $\varphi$  minimizes  $\Phi$  it follows that  $K_h$  should be constant. If  $A_h = 2\pi(2p + m - 2)$ , it follows that  $K_h \equiv -1$ , where p is the genus of M and m is the number of cusps.

On the other hand if  $K_h \equiv \text{constant}$  we have that:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta\Phi}{\delta\psi}(\varphi) &= \int_{M} e^{2\varphi} \psi K_{h} dA_{g} - \frac{\pi\chi(M)}{A_{h}} \int_{M} 2\psi e^{2\varphi} dA_{g} \\ &= \int_{M} \frac{e^{2\varphi} \psi}{A_{h}} (K_{h} A_{h} - 2\pi\chi(M)) dA_{g} = 0, \end{split}$$

because of Gauss-Bonnet theorem and the constant value of the Gaussian curvature  $(K_h A_h = \int_M K_h \, dA_h)$ .

**Remark 4.6.** About the existence of a maximizer of the relative determinant, consider starting with a metric  $\tau$  on M of negative constant curvature  $K_{\tau} = -1$ , and taking the conformal class

Conf<sub>1,32</sub>(
$$\tau$$
) = { $h|h = e^{2\psi}\tau$ , with  $\psi \in \mathcal{F}_{32}$  and  $A_h = 2\pi(2p + m - 2)$ }

Since  $\tau$  itself is the maximizer and  $\tau \in \text{Conf}_{1,32}(\tau)$ , the maximizer trivially exists inside the conformal class. However, if we start with a general metric g on M that is hyperbolic only in the cusp Z, the differential equation for the curvature on the cusp will be:

$$-e^{2\varphi} = \Delta_q \varphi - 1.$$

This implies that in the cusp the function  $\varphi$  should decay as  $y^{-1}$ , being in this case the function  $\varphi$  outside the conformal class under consideration. Therefore in order to have a maximizer of the relative determinant inside the conformal class we need to be able to define the determinant for Laplacians whose metrics have conformal factors  $e^{2\varphi}$  with  $\varphi$  having a decay of  $y^{-1}$  at infinity.

# Chapter 5

# **Boundedness and comparison**

In this chapter we specialize to hyperbolic surfaces. We use Selberg's trace formula and use the work of L. Bers in [1] and of J. Jorgenson and R. Lundelius in [19] to prove that the relative determinant tends to zero when one approaches the boundary of the the moduli space of hyperbolic surfaces of fixed genus q with m cusps,  $\mathcal{M}_{q,m}$ . This fact implies that the relative determinant is bounded as a function on the moduli space.

Let  $(M, \tau)$  be a Riemann surface of genus q with m cusps, where  $\tau$  is a hyperbolic metric of constant negative unitary curvature. To each element  $[\tau] \in \mathcal{M}_{q,m}$  we associate the relative determinant  $\det(\Delta_{\tau}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0})$ . Let us recall the operator  $\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}$  defined in Section 1.1. Let us denote by  $\Delta_{1,0}$  the self-adjoint extension of the operator

$$-y^2\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2}: C^\infty_c((1,\infty)) \to L^2([1,\infty), y^{-2}dy)$$

obtained after imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions at y = 1. Let  $\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}$  be the operator defined as the direct sum  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} \Delta_{1,0}$ . The operator  $\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}$  acts on a subspace of  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} L^2([1,\infty), y_j^{-2} dy_j)$ . If  $(M,\tau)$  can be decomposed as  $M = M_0 \cup Z_{a_1} \cup \cdots Z_{a_m}$ , with  $a_j \geq 1$ ; then the difference  $e^{-t\Delta_{\tau}} - e^{-\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}}$ is taken in the extended  $L^2$  space given by equation (3.13):

$$L^{2}(M, dA_{\tau}) \oplus \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} L^{2}([1, a_{j}], y^{-2}dy) = L^{2}(M_{0}, dA_{\tau}) \oplus \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} (L^{2}_{0}(Z_{a_{j}}) \oplus L^{2}([1, \infty), y^{-2}dy)).$$

We want to see how det $(\Delta_{\tau}, \Delta_{1,0})$  behaves as we let the class  $[\tau]$  approach the 'boundary' of the moduli space, where by 'boundary' we mean the set  $\overline{\mathcal{M}_{q,m}} \setminus \mathcal{M}_{q,m}$ . We assume surfaces connected, although the limit M may not be connected. In order to prove our statements we use some of the results of Jorgenson and Lundelius in [19]. Therein they define a determinant for Laplacians on hyperbolic Riemann surfaces of finite volume, non-connected in general. We compare both determinants. Part of the problem is to understand the kind of degenerations under consideration.

Let us start by recalling Selberg's trace formula [39] as it is presented in [17], applied to the function  $h(r) = e^{-t(\frac{1}{4}+r^2)}$  and its Fourier transform  $g(u) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}}e^{-\frac{t}{4}}e^{-\frac{u^2}{4t}}$ . Let  $\Gamma$  be a Fuchsian group of the first kind. Let  $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H} = M$  be the associated surface, let  $\Delta$  be

Let  $\Gamma$  be a Fuchsian group of the first kind. Let  $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H} = M$  be the associated surface, let  $\Delta$  be the Laplacian on M and let  $\lambda_j^2 = \frac{1}{4} - r_j^2$  be the sequence of eigenvalues of  $\Delta$ . We do not include the contribution of the elliptic elements, because we consider groups without elliptic elements. In

this case Selberg's trace formula applied to the heat operator takes the form:

$$\sum_{j} e^{-t(\frac{1}{4}+r_{j}^{2})} - \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t(\frac{1}{4}+\lambda^{2})} \frac{\phi'}{\phi} (\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda) d\lambda + \frac{e^{-\frac{t}{4}}}{4} \operatorname{Tr}(\Phi(\frac{1}{2}))$$

$$= \frac{\operatorname{Area}(M)}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t(\frac{1}{4}+\lambda^{2})} \lambda \tanh(\pi\lambda) d\lambda + \frac{e^{-\frac{t}{4}}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\{\gamma\}_{\Gamma}} \frac{\ell(\gamma)}{2\sinh(\frac{k\ell(\gamma)}{2})} e^{-\frac{(k\ell(\gamma))^{2}}{4t}}$$

$$- \frac{m}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t(\frac{1}{4}+\lambda^{2})} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} (1+i\lambda) d\lambda + \frac{m}{4} e^{-\frac{t}{4}} - m\log(2) \frac{e^{-\frac{t}{4}}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}}, \quad (5.1)$$

where the sum runs over the primitive hyperbolic conjugacy classes  $\gamma$  with length  $\ell(\gamma)$ , m is the number of inequivalent cusps,  $\Phi(s)$  is the scattering matrix and  $\phi(s) = \det \Phi(s)$ .

In the notation of [19] the hyperbolic heat trace  $\operatorname{HTr} K_M(t)$  and the regularized trace  $\operatorname{STr} K_M(t)$  are given by

$$\operatorname{HTr} \mathbf{K}_{M}(t) = \frac{e^{-\frac{t}{4}}}{\sqrt{16\pi t}} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\{\gamma\}\Gamma} \frac{\ell(\gamma)}{\sinh\left(\frac{k\ell(\gamma)}{2}\right)} e^{-\frac{(k\ell(\gamma))^{2}}{4t}}$$
$$\operatorname{STr} \mathbf{K}_{M}(t) = \operatorname{HTr} \mathbf{K}_{M}(t) + \operatorname{Area}(M) K_{\mathbb{H}}(t,0),$$

where

$$K_{\mathbb{H}}(t,0) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2)} \lambda \tanh(\pi \lambda) d\lambda.$$

With the help of these expressions, the authors in [19] define a hyperbolic zeta function and a hyperbolic determinant:

$$\zeta_{M,\text{hyp}}(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty (\text{STrK}_M(t) - d) t^{s-1} dt \quad \text{and} \quad \det_{\text{hyp}} \Delta_\tau := \exp(-\zeta_{\text{hyp}}'(0)), \tag{5.2}$$

where d is the number of connected components of M as well as the dimension of  $\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_{\tau})$ .

We want to see now how the hyperbolic determinant  $\det_{hyp}\Delta_{\tau}$  relates to the relative determinant  $(\Delta_{\tau}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0})$ . In order to do that let us first consider P(t) be the contribution of the parabolic elements to the trace formula. We know that P(t) is given by

$$P(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t(\frac{1}{4}+r^2)} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} (1+ir) \ dr,$$

and for which we have the following lemma:

**Lemma 5.1.** P(t) has the following asymptotic expansions:

$$P(t) \sim -\frac{\pi}{2} \frac{\log(t)}{t} + \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2\sqrt{t}} (-B_1 + \gamma - \log(4) + \pi) + t^{-1/2} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} b_j t^{j/2}, \quad \text{as } t \to 0,$$

where  $B_1$  is the first Bernoulli number and  $\gamma$  in this case denoted the Euler constant. As  $t \to \infty$ , we have that  $P(t) = O(e^{-\frac{t}{4}})$ .

*Proof.* The proof of Lemma 5.1 easily follows from the formula

$$\frac{\Gamma'(z+1)}{\Gamma(z+1)} = \frac{1}{2z} + \log(z) - \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{u} + \frac{1}{e^u - 1}\right) du,$$

for  $\operatorname{Re}(z) > 0$ , and from Stirling's formula:

$$\log(\Gamma(z)) = (z - \frac{1}{2})\log(z) - z + \frac{1}{2}\log(2\pi) + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{r-1}B_r}{2r(2r-1)z^{2r-1}},$$

for  $|\arg(z)| \leq \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta$ , where  $B_r$  is the *r*-th Bernoulli number.

The relation between the two determinants is given by the following proposition:

**Proposition 5.2.** For the relative determinant and the hyperbolic determinant we have the following relation:

$$\det(\Delta_{\tau}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0}) = C \det_{hyp}(\Delta_{\tau}),$$

where C is a constant that depends only on the number of cusps of M.

*Proof.* Equation (2.2) in [29] implies the following formula:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{\tau}} - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{a,0}}) = \sum_{k} e^{-t\lambda_{k}} - \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t(\frac{1}{4} + r^{2})} \frac{\phi'}{\phi} (\frac{1}{2} + ir) dr + \frac{e^{-\frac{t}{4}}}{4} (\operatorname{Tr}(\Phi(\frac{1}{2})) + m) + \frac{e^{-\frac{t}{4}}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \log(a_{j}), \quad (5.3)$$

where the operator  $\bar{\Delta}_{a,0}$  was given in Definition 1.1. The equation above differs from equation (2.2) in [29] by the term  $e^{-\frac{t}{4}}m/4$  that comes from the boundary condition of the operator  $\bar{\Delta}_{a,0}$ . Equation (5.3) and Proposition 2.6 imply that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{\tau}} - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}}) = \sum_{j} e^{-t\lambda_{j}} - \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t(\frac{1}{4} + r^{2})} \frac{\phi'}{\phi}(\frac{1}{2} + ir) \, dr + \frac{e^{-\frac{t}{4}}}{4} (\operatorname{Tr}(\Phi(\frac{1}{2})) + m).$$

Combining this equation with Selberg's trace formula in equation (5.1) gives

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{\tau}} - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}}) - \operatorname{STr}K_{M}(t) = -\frac{m}{\pi}P(t) - \frac{m\log(2)}{\sqrt{4\pi t}}e^{-\frac{t}{4}} + \frac{m}{2}e^{-\frac{t}{4}},$$
(5.4)

Let consider the following auxiliary function:

$$\xi(s) = \frac{m}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \left\{ -\frac{1}{\pi} P(t) + e^{-\frac{t}{4}} \left( \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\log(2)}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \right) \right\} t^{s-1} dt.$$
(5.5)

From Lemma 5.1 it follows that the function  $\xi(s)$  has a meromorphic continuation to  $\mathbb{C}$  that is analytic at s = 0. In this way we have that  $\zeta(s; \Delta_{\tau}, \overline{\Delta}_{1,0}) = \zeta_{M,hyp}(s) + \xi(s)$ , thus,

$$\det(\Delta_{\tau}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0}) = e^{-\xi'(0)} \det_{\mathrm{hyp}}(\Delta_{\tau}).$$

The constant  $C = e^{-\xi'(0)}$  depends only on the number of cusps of M.

Now let us consider how to approach the "boundary" of the moduli space. For this we refer to [1]. Let us recall the notation and the main theorem in this paper. Let  $G = \operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})/\{\pm I\}$ . Every Fuchsian group  $\Gamma$  satisfying the condition  $\operatorname{mes}(G/\Gamma) \leq \mu$  has a signature  $\sigma = (p, n; \nu_1, \dots, \nu_n)$ , where p and n are integers, the  $\nu_j$  are integers or the symbol  $\infty$ , and  $p \geq 0$ ,  $n \geq 0$ ,  $2 \leq \nu_1 \leq \cdots \leq \nu_n \leq \infty$ . Let

 $X(\sigma) = \{[\Gamma] : [\Gamma] \text{ is a conjugacy class of Fuchsian groups } \Gamma \text{ with signature } \sigma\}$ 

The spaces  $X(\sigma)$ , with their natural topologies, are metrizable. The topology of  $X(\sigma)$  can be derived from the Teichmüller topology, see [1] for the details. The theorem that is of our interest is the following:

**Theorem 5.3.** (L. Bers) The subset of  $X(\sigma)$  corresponding to groups  $\Gamma$  such that  $\ell(\gamma) \ge 2 + \epsilon > 2$  for all hyperbolic  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  is compact.

This implies that the only possible deformations are obtained is by pinching smallest geodesics, i.e., we can approach the boundary of the moduli space by deforming hyperbolic elements in the group.

For example if we consider hyperbolic elements of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} 1+\epsilon & b \\ 0 & \frac{1}{1+\epsilon} \end{pmatrix}$  they degenerate to

 $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & b \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$  that is parabolic.

Recall now that the goal of this chapter is to prove the following theorem:

**Theorem 5.4.** det $(\Delta_{\tau}, \overline{\Delta}_{1,0})$  tends to zero as  $[\tau]$  approaches the 'boundary' of the moduli space.

As we said before, we use the results in [19]. Thus let us describe their notation and explain their results: Let  $\{M_l\}_{l \in I \subset \mathbb{R}^p_+}$  be a degenerating family of hyperbolic Riemann surfaces of finite volume (each surface  $M_l$  is assumed to have m cusps) with p pinching geodesics. This means that for each  $l = (l_1, \dots, l_p) \in I$  the cutoff cylinders  $C_{l_k,\epsilon}$  are embedded in  $M_l$  for every  $0 < \epsilon < 1/2$ . A fundamental domain for the cutoff cylinder  $C_{l_k,\epsilon}$  inside the fundamental domain for the complete cylinder  $C_{l_k}$  in  $\mathbb{H}$  would be

$$\{\rho \exp(i\alpha) : 1 \le \rho < \exp(l_k), \ \cot^{-1}(\epsilon/(2l_k)) < \alpha < \pi - \cot^{-1}(\epsilon/(2l_k))\}.$$

From Gauss-Bonnet follows that the area of the surfaces is kept invariant during the deformation i.e.,  $A_{l_j} = A_{l_k} = c$ , c is a constant. Let  $DH(\Gamma_l) \subset H(\Gamma_l)$  be a set of representatives of primitive non-conjugated hyperbolic classes corresponding to the geodesics that we are pinching. Proposition 2.1 in [19] yields that the degenerating heat trace for t > 0 equals:

$$\mathrm{DTr}K_{M_l}(t) = \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{16\pi t}} \sum_{\mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_l)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\ell(\gamma)}{\sinh(n\ell(\gamma)/2)} e^{-(n\ell(\gamma))^2/4t}.$$

Let M be the Riemann surface that is the limit of the degenerating family  $\{M_l\}$  then M is not necessarily connected and the number of cusps of M is m + 2p. Theorem 2.2 in [19] states that:

$$\lim_{l \to 0} (\mathrm{HTr} K_{M_l}(t) - \mathrm{DTr} K_{M_l}(t)) = \mathrm{HTr} K_M(t).$$

Their next step is to separate (in the trace) the small eigenvalues of the Laplacian on  $M_l$  because some of them may degenerate to 0 (since the limit surface M may not be connected, the eigenvalue 0 of the Laplacian on M has multiplicity equal to the number of connected components of M). Let  $0 < \alpha < 1/4$  be such that  $\alpha$  is not an eigenvalue of M and consider:

$$\mathrm{HTr}K^{\alpha}_{M_l}(t) := \mathrm{HTr}K_{M_l}(t) - \sum_{\lambda_{n,l} \leq \alpha} e^{-\lambda_{n,l}t}$$

From this definition we have that:

$$\operatorname{STr} K_{M_{l}}^{\alpha}(t) = \operatorname{HTr} K_{M_{l}}^{\alpha}(t) + A_{l} K_{\mathbb{H}}(t,0) = STr K_{M_{l}}(t) - \sum_{\lambda_{j,l} \leq \alpha} e^{-t\lambda_{j,l}}, \quad \text{and}$$
$$\operatorname{STr} K_{M}^{\alpha}(t) = \operatorname{HTr} K_{M}(t) - \sum_{\lambda_{j}(M) \leq \alpha} e^{-t\lambda_{j}(M)} + AK_{\mathbb{H}}(t,0),$$

where A denotes the area of the limit surface M that satisfies  $A = A_l$ , for any  $l \in I$ .

Now for the given manifold  $M_*$ , Jorgenson and Lundelius consider the truncated hyperbolic zeta function:

$$\zeta_{\text{hyp }M_*}^{\alpha}(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^{\infty} \text{STr} K_{M_*}^{\alpha}(t) t^{s-1} dt = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^{\infty} (\text{STr} K_{M_*}(t) - d_*) t^{s-1} dt - \sum_{0 < \lambda_{j,*} \le \alpha} \lambda_{j,*}^{-s},$$

where  $d_*$  is the dimension of the kernel of  $\Delta_*$ , and the corresponding determinant is:

$$\log \det^{\alpha}_{\mathrm{hyp}} \Delta_{M_*} = - \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \zeta^{\alpha}_{\mathrm{hyp} \ M_*} \right|_{s=0}$$

Let us see now how  $\det_{\text{hyp}}^{\alpha} \Delta_{M_l}$  relates to  $\det(\Delta_{M_l}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0})$ . Notice that the operator  $\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}$  remains constant through the degeneration and recall that it only has continuous spectrum equal to  $[\frac{1}{4}, \infty)$ with multiplicity m. At the moment we are not yet concerned with the relative determinant  $\det(\Delta_M, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0})$  but rather with the behavior of the relative determinant of the degenerating surfaces. Equation (5.4) applied to  $M_l$  can be rewritten as:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{M_{l}}} - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{1,0}}) - \operatorname{STr}K_{M_{l}}^{\alpha}(t) = m\left(-\frac{1}{\pi}P(t) + (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{\log(2)}{\sqrt{4\pi t}})e^{-\frac{t}{4}}\right) + \sum_{\lambda_{j,l} \le \alpha} e^{-t\lambda_{j,l}}$$

Writing this in terms of zeta functions we obtain:

$$\zeta(s, \Delta_{M_l}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0}) - \zeta^{\alpha}_{\text{hyp } M_l}(s) = \xi(s) + \sum_{\lambda_{j,l} \le \alpha} \lambda_{j,l}^{-s},$$

where  $\xi(s)$  is as in equation (5.5). Taking the meromorphic continuations and differentiating we obtain that:

$$\log \det^{\alpha}_{\text{hyp}} \Delta_{M_l} = \log \det(\Delta_{M_l}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0}) + mc - \sum_{\lambda_{j,l} \le \alpha} \log(\lambda_{j,l}),$$
(5.6)

where for  $\xi(s)$  we used again Lemma 5.1 and the fact that from (5.5) is clear that  $\xi'(0) = c m$ , where c is a constant independent of l. We wanted to use now Corollary 4.3 in [19]. However, there is a misprint in a sign in their result. For this reason we decided to refer to Theorem 4.1 in [19] and keep track of the signs. Theorem 4.1 in [19] establishes:

$$\lim_{l \to 0} \left( \zeta_{\text{hyp } M_l}^{\alpha}(s) - \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^{\infty} \text{DTr} K_{M_l}(t) t^{s-1} dt - \zeta_{\text{hyp } M}^{\alpha}(s) \right) = 0$$
(5.7)

In order to deal with the second term in the left-hand side of equation (5.7) we follow Remark 4.2 in [19]:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{DTr} K_{M_{l}}(t) t^{s-1} dt = \sum_{\mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_{l})} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{16\pi}} \frac{\ell(\gamma)}{\sinh(n\ell(\gamma)/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t/4} e^{-(n\ell(\gamma))^{2}/4t} t^{s-3/2} dt$$
$$= \sum_{\mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_{l})} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{16\pi}} \frac{\ell(\gamma)}{\sinh(n\ell(\gamma)/2)} K_{s-1/2}(1/2, n\ell(\gamma)/2),$$

where  $K_s(a,b) := \int_0^\infty e^{-a^2t - b^2/t} t^{s-1} dt$  is the K-Bessel function. Now, taking into account  $1/\Gamma(s)$  and differentiating we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{ds} \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{DTr} K_{M_l}(t) t^{s-1} dt \bigg|_{s=0} &= \sum_{\mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_l)} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{1}{\sqrt{16\pi}} \frac{\ell(\gamma)}{\sinh(n\ell(\gamma)/2)} K_{-1/2}(1/2, n\ell(\gamma)/2) \\ &= \sum_{\mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_l)} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{1}{\sqrt{16\pi}} \frac{\ell(\gamma)}{\sinh(n\ell(\gamma)/2)} K_{1/2}(n\ell(\gamma)/2, 1/2) = \sum_{\mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_l)} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{e^{-n\ell(\gamma)}}{n(1-e^{-n\ell(\gamma)})}, \end{split}$$

where we used that  $K_{1/2}(a,b) = \sqrt{\pi}e^{-2ab}/b$ . This together with equation (5.7) gives:

$$\lim_{l \to 0} \left( \log \det_{\mathrm{hyp}} \Delta_{M_l} + \sum_{\gamma \in \mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_l)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-n\ell(\gamma)}}{n(1 - e^{-n\ell(\gamma)})} \right) = \log \det_{\mathrm{hyp}}^{\alpha} \Delta_M.$$

Let us replace  $\log \det_{\text{hyp}} \Delta_{M_l}$  in the expression above using equation (5.6):

$$\lim_{l \to 0} \left( \log \det(\Delta_{M_l}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0}) + mc + \sum_{\gamma \in \mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_l)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-n\ell(\gamma)}}{n(1 - e^{-n\ell(\gamma)})} - \sum_{0 < \lambda_{j,l} \le \alpha} \log(\lambda_{j,l}) \right) = \log \det_{\mathrm{hyp}}^{\alpha} \Delta_M. \quad (5.8)$$

In order to study the behavior of  $\log \det(\Delta_{M_l}, \overline{\Delta}_{1,0})$  we need to know the behavior of the series in the left-hand side of equation (5.8) as  $l \to 0$ . Recall that  $\ell(\gamma) \to 0$  as  $l \to 0$ . Let us remark here that the asymptotic expansion for the series given in [19] is wrong. For the correct expression we refer to [45, page 308]: if  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$  we have:

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-ns\ell(\gamma)}}{n(1-e^{-n\ell(\gamma)})} = \left(\frac{\pi^2}{6\ell(\gamma)} + (s-\frac{1}{2})\log(1-e^{-s\ell(\gamma)})\right) + O(1),$$

as  $\ell(\gamma) \to 0^+$ . Taking s = 1 we see that

$$\lim_{l \to 0} \sum_{\gamma \in DH(\Gamma_l)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-n\ell(\gamma)}}{n(1 - e^{-n\ell(\gamma)})} = \infty$$

For the sum of the logarithm of the small eigenvalues we have the following: some of the small eigenvalues of the family  $\{M_l\}$  may degenerate. For the eigenvalues of M,  $0 = \lambda_j(M)$ , that come

from degeneration we know that for any  $0 < \alpha < \frac{1}{4}$ ,  $\alpha$  not an eigenvalue of M, there is a  $l_0$  such that for all  $0 < l \leq l_0$ ,  $\lambda_{l,j} \leq \alpha$ . This is due to the convergence of any finite number of eigenvalues. Thus  $\lim_{l\to 0} \sum_{0 < \lambda_{j,l} \leq \alpha} \log(\lambda_{j,l}) = -\infty$ . In this way we have:

$$\lim_{l \to 0} \sum_{\gamma \in \mathrm{DH}(\Gamma_l)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{-e^{-n\ell(\gamma)}}{n(1-e^{-n\ell(\gamma)})} - \sum_{0 < \lambda_{j,l} \le \alpha} \log(\lambda_{j,l}) = \infty,$$

since the term cm and the hyperbolic  $\alpha$ -regularized determinant of the limit surface are both finite, it follows that

$$\lim_{l \to 0} \log(\det(\Delta_{M_l}, \bar{\Delta}_{1,0})) = -\infty.$$

This finishes the proof of Theorem 5.4.

## Chapter 6

# Splitting formula for the relative determinant

Splitting formulas for determinants have been widely studied. They have been proved in the setting of compact manifold by Burghelea, Friedlander and Kappeler in [5], and in other settings by many other authors. For example, in the setting of manifolds with cylindrical ends they were studied by Müller and Müller in [31] and Loya and Park in [25]. The purpose of this chapter is to use the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator for the Laplacian on a manifold with cusps to obtain a splitting formula for the relative determinant  $det(\Delta_q, \Delta_{\beta,0})$ .

## 6.1 Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator for $\Delta_q$

In this section we give the definition of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator  $\mathcal{N}(z)$  and its main properties. We also study the limit operator as the parameter z goes to zero.

#### 6.1.1 Definition and properties

In this part we decompose the manifold (M, g) as  $M = M_{\alpha} \cup Z_{\alpha}$  where  $\alpha \ge 1$  and  $Z_{\alpha}$  is isometric to  $[\alpha, \infty) \times S^1$  with the hyperbolic metric.

As before, let  $\Delta_g$  be the self adjoint Laplacian on M, let  $\beta \geq \alpha$  and  $\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}$  be the self adjoint Dirichlet Laplacian on  $Z_{\beta}$  obtained by imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions at  $\{\beta\} \times S^1$ . Similarly, let  $\Delta_{M_{\beta},D}$  be the self adjoint extension of the Laplacian on  $M_{\beta}$  obtained after imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions at  $\partial M_{\beta} = \{\beta\} \times S^1$ . We will explicitly compute a part of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator  $\mathcal{N}(z)$  on  $\Sigma_{\beta} \simeq \{\beta\} \times S^1$ , for any value of  $\beta$ . The metric on  $\Sigma_{\beta}$ is given by  $g_{\Sigma_{\beta}} = \beta^{-2} dx \oplus dx$ , the eigenvalues for the Laplacian  $\Delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$  are  $\{4\pi^2 n^2 \beta^2\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  and the corresponding eigenfunctions are  $\{\beta \exp(2\pi i n x)\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ .

Let z be in the resolvent set of  $\Delta_g$ ,  $\rho(\Delta_g)$ . Then the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator,

$$\mathcal{N}(z): C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta}) \to C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta}),$$

is defined as follows. Let  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta})$  and let  $\tilde{f}$  be the unique square integrable solution to the problem

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta_g - z)\tilde{f} = 0 & \text{in } M \setminus \Sigma_\beta \\ \tilde{f} = f & \text{on } \Sigma_\beta. \end{cases}$$
Let  $n^+$  denote the inwards unit normal vector field at  $\Sigma_{\beta}$  on  $M_{\alpha}$  and  $n^-$  the one on  $\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}$ . Then  $\mathcal{N}(z)f$  is defined by the following equation

$$\mathcal{N}(z)f := -\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial n^{+}}\left(\tilde{f}\left|_{M_{\beta}}\right.\right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial n^{-}}\left(\tilde{f}\left|_{Z_{\beta}}\right.\right)\right)$$

Theorem 2.1 in [7] establishes that for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, \infty)$ , the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator is a 1st-order elliptic, invertible, pseudodifferential operator, whose principal symbol is a scalar,  $\operatorname{sym}_p(\mathcal{N}(z))(x,\eta) = 2\sqrt{g_x(\eta,\eta)}, (x,\eta) \in T^*M$ . In addition, the function  $z \mapsto \mathcal{N}(z)$  is holomorphic as function of z. In particular,  $\mathcal{N}(z)$  has continuous extensions  $H^1(\Sigma_\beta) \to L^2(\Sigma_\beta) \to H^{-1}(\Sigma_\beta)$ . Then we can think of  $\mathcal{N}(z)$  as an operator  $\mathcal{N}(z) : H^1(\Sigma_\beta) \subset L^2(\Sigma_\beta) \to L^2(\Sigma_\beta)$  on  $L^2(\Sigma_\beta)$ . Furthermore, for  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_\beta)$  we have that:

$$\mathcal{N}(z)^{-1}f(x) = \int_{\Sigma_{\beta}} G(x, y, z)f(y)d\mu(y), \tag{6.1}$$

where G(x, y, z) is the Schwartz kernel of  $(\Delta_g - z)^{-1}$  on M, see Theorem 2.1 in [7]. This expression is equivalent to:

$$\mathcal{N}(z)^{-1}f = \rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ (\Delta_g - z)^{-1} \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}(f),$$

where  $i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}(f) = f \otimes \delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$ , in the distributional sense, this means  $f \otimes \delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}(\varphi) = \int_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \varphi \cdot f$  for any  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(M)$ . For convenience of the reader we reproduce the proof of equation (6.1) as it is given in [7], but for functions and using our notation. Let  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta})$  and  $\varphi \in C_{0}^{\infty}(M)$ , then

$$(\Delta_g - z)^{-1}(\delta_{\Sigma_\beta} \otimes f)(\varphi) = \int_{\Sigma_\beta} \int_M \varphi(w) G(z, w, v) f(v) dA_g(w) dA_{\Sigma_\beta}(v) = \langle \varphi, u \rangle,$$

where  $u \in L^2(M)$  is defined by  $u(w) = \int_{\Sigma_{\beta}} G(z, w, v) f(v) dA_{\Sigma_{\beta}}(v)$ . Then from the previous equation it is clear that in the distributional sense  $\langle u, \varphi \rangle = \langle (\Delta_g - z)^{-1} (\delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \otimes f), \varphi \rangle$ , therefore  $u = (\Delta_g - z)^{-1} (\delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \otimes f)$ , and,  $(\Delta_g - z)u = \delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \otimes f$ . In particular  $(\Delta_g - z)u = 0$ , on  $M \setminus \Sigma_{\beta}$ . Now use Green's formulas and smoothness of  $\varphi$  to obtain:

$$\begin{split} \langle (\Delta_g - \bar{z})\varphi, u \rangle_{L^2(M)} &= \langle \varphi, (\Delta_g - z)u \rangle_{L^2(M)} = ((\Delta_g - z)u)(\varphi) = \int_M ((\Delta_g u)\varphi - (zu)\varphi) dA_g \\ &= \int_{M_\beta} (u(\Delta_g \varphi) - (\Delta_g u)\varphi) dA_g + \int_{Z_\beta} (u(\Delta_g \varphi) - (\Delta_g u)\varphi) dA_g \\ &= \int_{\Sigma_\beta} (u\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n^+} - \frac{\partial u}{\partial n^+}\varphi + u\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n^-} - \frac{\partial u}{\partial n^-}\varphi) dA_{\Sigma_\beta} = \int_{\Sigma_\beta} -(\frac{\partial u}{\partial n^+} + \frac{\partial u}{\partial n^-})\varphi dA_{\Sigma_\beta} \\ &= \int_{\Sigma_\beta} (\mathcal{N}(u|_{\Sigma_\beta}))\varphi \ dA_{\Sigma_\beta}. \end{split}$$

Therefore  $(\Delta_g - z)u = \delta_{\Sigma_\beta} \otimes (\mathcal{N}(u|_{\Sigma_\beta}))$ . Then it follows that  $\mathcal{N}(u|_{\Sigma_\beta}) = f$ , thus  $\mathcal{N}^{-1}f = u|_{\Sigma_\beta}$ .

Now, remember that  $0 \in \sigma(\Delta_g)$  is an isolated eigenvalue. Thus the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator  $\mathcal{N}(z)$  is actually defined for z in a neighborhood of zero and it makes sense to consider its limit as z approaches zero. Indeed, we show that it exists for z = 0 and that the dependence on z is continuous. In order to do this, let us split the problem in the classical way: let  $\mathcal{N}(z) =$  $\mathcal{N}_1(z) + \mathcal{N}_2(z)$ , where for  $i = 1, 2 \mathcal{N}_i(z)$  is defined as follows. Let  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta})$ , then let  $\varphi_1 \in C^{\infty}(M_{\beta} \setminus \Sigma_{\beta}) \cap C^0(M_{\beta})$  be the unique solution to the problem

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta - z)\varphi_1 = 0 & \text{in } M_\beta \setminus \Sigma_\beta \\ \varphi_1 = f & \text{on } \Sigma_\beta. \end{cases}$$

Put  $\mathcal{N}_1(z)f = -\frac{\partial \varphi_1}{\partial n^+}$ . Similarly, let  $\varphi_2 \in C^{\infty}(Z_{\beta}) \cap L^2(Z_{\beta})$  be the unique square integrable solution to the problem:

$$\begin{cases} (\Delta - z)\varphi_2 = 0 & \text{in } Z_\beta \\ \varphi_2 = f & \text{on } \Sigma_\beta \end{cases}$$

Put  $\mathcal{N}_2(z)f = -\frac{\partial \varphi_2}{\partial n^-}$ . Using the usual method of separation of variables in the cusp we can compute the operator  $\mathcal{N}_2(z)$  explicitly. This explicit expression of  $\mathcal{N}_2(z)$  is useful to compute the limit of the operator as  $z \rightarrow 0.$ 

**Proposition 6.1.** Let  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta})$ . Write z = s(1-s). Then for  $\mathcal{N}_2(z)f$  we have

If 
$$\operatorname{Re}(s) > \frac{1}{2}$$
,  $\mathcal{N}_2(s(1-s))f = -(1-2s)c_0(f)\beta - sf + \beta\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} \frac{K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\beta\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}})}{K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(\beta\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}})}f.$  (6.2)

If 
$$\operatorname{Re}(s) < \frac{1}{2}$$
,  $\mathcal{N}_2(s)f(x) = -sf(x) + \beta\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} \frac{K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\beta\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}})}{K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(\beta\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}})}f(x)$ , (6.3)

where  $c_0(f)$  is the projection of f on the kernel of  $\Delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$ .

If  $\operatorname{Re}(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $f \in \operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{N}_2(z))$  only if it satisfies  $\int_{\Sigma_\beta} f dA_{\Sigma_\beta} = 0$ . In this case we have:

$$\mathcal{N}_{2}(s)f = -sf + \beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}} \ \frac{K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}})}{K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(\beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}})}f, \tag{6.4}$$

where  $K_{\nu}$  is the modified Bessel function of order  $\nu$ .

*Proof.* On  $Z_{\beta}$  the Laplacian is given by  $\Delta_g = -y^2 \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}\right)$ . Therefore the Fourier expansions of  $\varphi_2(y, x)$  and f(x) have the following forms:

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n(y)\beta e^{2\pi i n x} \quad \text{where} \quad a_n(y) = \int_0^1 \varphi_2(y,x)\beta e^{-2\pi i n x} \frac{dx}{\beta^2}$$
$$f(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} c_n \beta e^{2\pi i n x} \quad \text{where} \quad c_n = \int_0^1 f(x)\beta e^{-2\pi i n x} \frac{dx}{\beta^2}.$$

Using separation of variables, the problem becomes:

$$\begin{cases} (-y^2 \frac{d^2}{dy^2} + y^2 4\pi^2 n^2 \beta^2 - z) a_n(y) = 0\\ a_n(\beta) = c_n, & \text{for } n \in \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Set z = s(1-s) with  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then for  $n \neq 0$ , two linear independent solutions of the equation

$$\left(-y^2\frac{d^2}{dy^2} + 4\pi^2n^2\beta^2y^2 - s(1-s)\right)a_n(y) = 0$$
(6.5)

are  $y^{\frac{1}{2}}K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta y)$  and  $y^{\frac{1}{2}}I_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta y)$ , where  $K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $I_{s-\frac{1}{2}}$  are the modified Bessel functions. We discard  $I_{s-\frac{1}{2}}$  because it is not square integrable on  $[1,\infty)$  for any value of s. Thus,

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n(y) e^{2\pi i n x} = b_{0,1} y^s \beta + b_{0,2} y^{1-s} \beta + \sum_{n \neq 0} b_n y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta y) \beta e^{2\pi i n x}.$$

I.e. for  $n \neq 0$ ,  $a_n(y) = b_n y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta y)$ , where  $b_n$  and  $b_{0,1}, b_{0,2}$  are constants determined by the boundary and the square integrable conditions.

**Case**  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \frac{1}{2}$ . In this case  $b_{0,1} = 0$  and  $y^{\frac{1}{2}}K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta y)$  is square integrable on  $[1,\infty[$ . Then we have:

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = b_{0,2}y^{1-s}\beta + \sum_{n \neq 0} b_n y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n|\beta y)\beta e^{2\pi i n x},$$

where  $a_0(y) = b_{0,2}y^{1-s}$  and  $a_n(y) = b_n y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n|\beta y)$ . The boundary condition  $\varphi_2(\beta, x) = f(x)$  is equivalent to  $a_n(\beta) = c_n$ . Thus  $b_{0,2} = c_0 \beta^{s-1}$  and

$$b_n = \frac{c_n}{\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta^2)}.$$

In this way we obtain:

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = c_0 \beta^{s-1} y^{1-s} \beta + \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{c_n}{\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta^2)} y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta y) \beta e^{2\pi i n x},$$

$$\begin{split} y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \ \varphi_2(y,x) &= (1-s)y c_0 \beta^{s-1} y^{-s} \beta \\ &+ y \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{c_n \beta e^{2\pi i n x}}{\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta^2)} \left( \frac{y^{-\frac{1}{2}}}{2} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta y) + y^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{d}{dy} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta y) \right). \end{split}$$

Let us use here the following equation:

$$\frac{d}{dy}K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta y) = (s-\frac{1}{2})y^{-1}K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta y) - 2\pi|n|\beta K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta y).$$

Then we have:

$$\begin{split} y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \ \varphi_2(y,x) &= (1-s)y c_0 \beta^{s-1} y^{-s} \beta \\ &+ y \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{c_n \beta e^{2\pi i n x}}{\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta^2)} \left( s y^{-\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta y) - 2\pi |n| \beta y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta y) \right) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} y \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left. \varphi_2(y, x) \right|_{y=\beta} &= (1-s)c_0\beta + \beta \sum_{n \neq 0} c_n \left( s\beta^{-1} - 2\pi |n|\beta \frac{K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n|\beta^2)}{K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n|\beta^2)} \right) \beta e^{2\pi i n x} \\ &= (1-2s)c_0\beta + sf(x) - \beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} \ \frac{K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}}{K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}} (\beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}}) f(x), \end{split}$$

where we have chosen the positive square root of the eigenvalues to define  $\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}}$ . Recall that the term  $c_0$  is the projection of f on the kernel of  $\Delta_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$ . Then we obtain equation (6.2).

**Case**  $\operatorname{Re}(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ . This is an interesting case. The computations are the same as in the previous case but the square integrability condition implies that the zero term in the Fourier expansion of the solution  $\varphi_2$  should be null, thus

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = \sum_{n \neq 0} b_n y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n|\beta y) \beta e^{2\pi i n x}.$$

and the condition  $a_0 = c_0$  gives  $c_0 = 0$ . This means that only in the case when  $c_0 = 0$  will there exist a solution to the problem. Hence for f to be in the domain of  $\mathcal{N}_2(s(1-1))$ , f should satisfy  $c_0(f) = \int_{\Sigma_\beta} f dA_{\Sigma_\beta} = 0$ . For such functions f equation (6.4) holds.

**Case**  $\operatorname{Re}(s) < \frac{1}{2}$ . In this case  $b_{0,2} = 0$  and  $b_{0,1} = c_0 \beta^{-s}$ . Then:

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{2}(y,x) &= c_{0}\beta^{-s}y^{s}\beta + \sum_{n\neq 0} \frac{c_{n}\beta e^{2\pi inx}}{\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta^{2})} \ y^{\frac{1}{2}}K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta y), \\ y \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left. \varphi_{2}(y,x) \right|_{y=\beta} &= sf - \beta \sum_{n\neq 0} 2\pi|n|\beta \frac{K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta^{2})}{K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta^{2})} \ c_{n}\beta e^{2\pi inx}. \end{split}$$

Thus we obtain equation (6.3).

**Remark 6.2.** For z < 0 the operator  $\mathcal{N}(z)$  is positive. This follows from the non-negativity of the Laplacian  $\Delta_g$  and from the construction of  $\mathcal{N}(z)$ . Recall that the Schwartz kernel of  $\mathcal{N}(z)^{-1}$  is the same as the Schwartz kernel of  $(\Delta_g - z)^{-1}$ . We have  $\Delta_g \ge 0$ . If z < 0, then  $(\Delta_g - z) > 0$ , and  $(\Delta_g - z)^{-1} > 0$ .

#### 6.1.2 Existence and properties for $\mathcal{N}$

**Lemma 6.3.** For every  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta})$  there exists a unique solution  $\tilde{f} \in C^{\infty}(M \setminus \Sigma_{\beta}) \cap L^{2}(Z_{\beta}) \cap C^{0}(M)$  to the problem:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_g \tilde{f} = 0 & \text{ in } M \setminus \Sigma_\beta \\ \tilde{f} = f & \text{ on } \Sigma_\beta. \end{cases}$$

In addition, using the notation introduced above we have that:

$$\mathcal{N}_2 f := - \left. y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \varphi_2(y, x) \right|_{y=\beta} = \beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} f.$$

Proof. As in the proof of Lemma 3.1 in [31], the uniqueness of the solution  $\varphi_1 \in C^{\infty}(M_{\beta} \setminus \Sigma_{\beta}) \cap C^0(M_{\beta})$  of the Dirichlet problem on  $M_{\beta}$  follows from the invertibility of  $\Delta_{M_{\beta},D}$ . The uniqueness of the solution on  $Z_{\beta}$  also follows from the invertibility of  $\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}$ . To see the existence and uniqueness on  $Z_{\beta}$  more explicitly let us follow the same procedure as above taking z = 0. One way to obtain z = 0 is to take s = 1 in equation (6.5). In this case the square integrable condition gives

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n(y) e^{2\pi i n x} = b_{0,2}\beta + \sum_{n \neq 0} b_n y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta y) \beta e^{2\pi i n x}$$

We know that  $K_{\frac{1}{2}}(r) = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}}r^{-\frac{1}{2}}e^{-r}$ . Then for  $n \neq 0$  we have  $a_n(y) = \frac{b_n}{2\sqrt{|n|\beta}} e^{-2\pi|n|\beta y}$ . The boundary condition  $\varphi_2(\beta, x) = f(x)$ , which is equivalent to  $a_n(\beta) = c_n$ , gives  $b_0 = c_0$  and  $b_n = c_n 2\sqrt{|n|\beta}e^{2\pi|n|\beta^2}$ . Then

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = c_0\beta + \sum_{n \neq 0} c_n e^{2\pi |n|\beta^2} e^{-2\pi |n|\beta y} \beta e^{2\pi i n x}.$$

Taking the inward derivative we have:

$$y\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\varphi_2(y,x)\Big|_{y=\beta} = \beta \sum_{n\neq 0} -2\pi |n|\beta \cdot c_n \ \beta e^{2\pi i n x} = -\beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} f.$$

The other way to obtain z = 0 is taking s = 0 in equation (6.5). In this case we have:

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n(y) e^{2\pi i n x} = b_{0,1}\beta + \sum_{n \neq 0} b_n y^{\frac{1}{2}} K_{-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n|\beta y) \beta e^{2\pi i n x}$$

As above, and using that  $K_{-\frac{1}{2}} = K_{\frac{1}{2}}$ , we obtain:

$$\varphi_2(y,x) = c_0\beta + \sum_{n \neq 0} c_n e^{2\pi |n|\beta^2} e^{-2\pi |n|\beta y} \beta e^{2\pi i n x}.$$

Thus for s = 0 and for s = 1, we obtain the same solution of the Dirichlet problem on  $Z_{\beta}$ . Since  $\varphi_1|_{\Sigma_{\beta}} = \varphi_2|_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$ , we have that the solution  $\tilde{f}$  is continuous on M. Taking the inward derivative we have

$$y\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\varphi(y,x)\Big|_{y=\beta} = \beta \sum_{n\neq 0} -2\pi |n|\beta \cdot c_n \ \beta e^{2\pi i n x} = -\beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} f.$$

In this way we obtain:

$$\mathcal{N}_2 f = \beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} f. \tag{6.6}$$

**Remark 6.4.** For  $z \in \rho(\Delta_g)$ , the resolvent set of  $\Delta_g$ , it is well known that  $\mathcal{N}_1(z)$  is a 1st order invertible elliptic pseudodifferential operator. The limit,  $\mathcal{N}_1$ , as  $z \to 0$ , it is well known to be a 1st order elliptic pseudodifferential operator, but it is non-invertible, see for example [5] and [44, Section 7.11]. Therefore the operator  $\mathcal{N} = \mathcal{N}_1 + \mathcal{N}_2$  is non-invertible. However it is non-negative and dim(Ker( $\mathcal{N}$ )) = 1.

**Lemma 6.5.** Let  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta})$ . Then  $\mathcal{N}(z)f$  depends continuously of z in a small enough neighborhood of z = 0, and

$$\lim_{z \to 0} \mathcal{N}(z) f = \mathcal{N} f$$

*Proof.* The proof that  $\lim_{z\to 0} \mathcal{N}_1(z)f = \mathcal{N}_1 f$  is the same as for Lemma 3.3 in [31]. For the convenience of the reader we repeat here the argument with our notation. For  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta})$ , let  $\varphi_1(z)$  be the unique function in  $C^{\infty}(M_{\beta} \setminus \Sigma_{\beta})$  satisfying  $(\Delta_g - z)\varphi_1(z) = 0$ ,  $\varphi_1(z)|_{\Sigma_{\beta}} = f$  and

$$\varphi_1(z) = \tilde{f} - (\Delta_{M_\beta, D} - z)^{-1}((\Delta_{M_\beta} - z)(\tilde{f})),$$

where  $\tilde{f} \in C^{\infty}(M_{\beta})$  is any extension of f. Since  $\Delta_{M_{\beta},D}$  is invertible, the formula also holds for z = 0. From this representation of  $\varphi_1(z)$ , it follows immediately that  $\mathcal{N}_1(z)f$  converges to  $\mathcal{N}_1f$  as  $z \to 0$ .

Now let us take the limit of  $\mathcal{N}_2(z)$  as  $s \to 1$ . To do that we use equation (6.2) to obtain:

$$\lim_{s \to 1} \mathcal{N}_2(s(1-s))f = c_0\beta - f + \beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} \ \frac{K_{\frac{3}{2}}(\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}})}{K_{\frac{1}{2}}(\sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}})}f.$$

Using the expression  $K_{\frac{3}{2}}(u) = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}}u^{-3/2}e^{-u}(u+1)$ , we have that  $\frac{K_{\frac{3}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta^2)}{K_{\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi|n|\beta^2)} = \frac{2\pi|n|\beta^2+1}{2\pi|n|\beta^2}$ . Thus,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{s \to 1} \mathcal{N}_2(s(1-s))f &= c_0\beta - f + \sum_{n \neq 0} (2\pi |n|\beta^2 + 1)c_n\beta e^{2\pi inx} \\ &= \beta \sum_{n \neq 0} 2\pi |n|\beta c_n\beta e^{2\pi inx} = \beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}}f = \mathcal{N}_2(0)f \end{split}$$

For the limit when  $s \to 0$  we have:

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \mathcal{N}_2(s(1-s))f = \lim_{s \to 0} -sf(x) + \beta \sum_{n \neq 0} 2\pi |n| \beta \frac{K_{s+\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta^2)}{K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |n| \beta^2)} c_n \beta e^{2\pi i n x}$$
$$= \beta \sum_{n \neq 0} 2\pi |n| \beta c_n \beta e^{2\pi i n x} = \beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta}} f.$$

Thus it follows that

$$\lim_{s \to 1} \mathcal{N}_2(s(1-s))f = \lim_{s \to 0} \mathcal{N}_2(s(1-s))f = \mathcal{N}_2(0)f = \beta \sqrt{\Delta_{\Sigma_\beta} f}.$$

#### 6.2 Splitting formula for the relative determinant

We want to have a splitting formula for the relative determinant that relates  $det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{\beta,0})$  to the regularized determinant of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator  $\mathcal{N}(0)$ . We will use this formula in Chapter 7 to prove compactness of isospectral sets of metrics inside a conformal class with compact support on surfaces with cusps. For  $z \in \rho(\Delta_g)$  Corollary 4.6 in [7] establishes the following splitting formula for complete surfaces, which we rewrite using his notation:

$$\det(\mathcal{L} - z, \mathcal{L}_{0,D} - z) = \det \mathcal{N}(z), \tag{6.7}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}$  is the self-adjoint extension of the Laplacian on M and  $\mathcal{L}_{0,D}$  is the self-adjoint extension of the Laplacian on  $M \setminus \Sigma$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions on  $\Sigma$ . Let  $\lambda > 0$ , put  $z = -\lambda$  and let us denote  $\mathcal{N}(-\lambda)$  by  $R(\lambda)$ . Then  $R(\lambda) > 0$  and it has the same properties as  $\mathcal{N}(-\lambda)$ . Let us take  $\Sigma = \Sigma_{\beta}$ . In our case equation (6.7) has the form:

$$\det(\Delta_g + \lambda, \Delta_{Z_{\beta,D}} + \lambda)(\det(\Delta_{M_{\beta,D}} + \lambda))^{-1} = \det R(\lambda) = \det \mathcal{N}(-\lambda).$$
(6.8)

We now want to take the limit on both sides of equation (6.8) as  $\lambda \to 0^+$ .

**Lemma 6.6.** As  $\lambda \to 0^+$  we have the following decomposition:

 $\log \det(\Delta_g + \lambda, \Delta_{Z_{\beta}, D} + \lambda) - \log \det(\Delta_{M_{\beta, D}} + \lambda) = \log \lambda + \log \det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{Z_{\beta}, D}) - \log \det \Delta_{M_{\beta, D}} + o(1).$ Proof. Let us go back to the definition of  $\log \det(\Delta_g + \lambda, \Delta_{Z_{\beta}, D} + \lambda)$ :

$$\log \det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{Z_{\beta}, D}) = -\left. \frac{d}{ds} \zeta(s; \Delta_g, \Delta_{Z_{\beta}, D}) \right|_{s=0},$$
$$\log \det(\Delta_g + \lambda, \Delta_{Z_{\beta}, D} + \lambda) = -\left. \frac{d}{ds} \zeta(s; \Delta_g + \lambda, \Delta_{Z_{\beta}, D} + \lambda) \right|_{s=0}$$

where  $\zeta(s; \Delta_g, \Delta_{Z_\beta, D})$  and  $\zeta(s; \Delta_g + \lambda, \Delta_{Z_\beta, D} + \lambda)$  are respectively the meromorphic continuations of the functions

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z_\beta,D}}) - 1)t^{s-1}dt \quad \text{and} \\ \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z_\beta,D}})e^{-t\lambda}t^{s-1}dt.$$

We use the same notation for the function and its analytic continuation. Note that the second integral above converges because of the asymptotic expansions of the relative heat traces for small and large t. Further,

$$\begin{split} \zeta(s;\Delta_g+\lambda,\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}+\lambda) &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}})e^{-t\lambda}t^{s-1}dt \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \left\{ (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}}) - 1)e^{-t\lambda} + e^{-t\lambda} \right\} t^{s-1}dt \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}}) - 1)e^{-t\lambda}t^{s-1}dt + \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)}\Gamma(s)\lambda^{-s} \\ &= \lambda^{-s} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}}) - 1) \left\{ 1 - t\lambda + \frac{t^2\lambda^2}{2!} - \dots \right\} t^{s-1}dt \\ &= \lambda^{-s} + \zeta(s,\Delta_g,\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}) + \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty (\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}}) - 1) \frac{e^{-t\lambda} - 1}{\lambda}t^{s-1}dt. \end{split}$$

The last integral converges in a half plane. Therefore due to the asymptotic expansions, it has an analytic continuation that is holomorphic at s = 0. So,

$$\frac{d}{ds}\zeta(s;\Delta_g+\lambda,\Delta_{Z_\beta,D}+\lambda)\bigg|_{s=0} = -\log\lambda + \frac{d}{ds}\zeta(s;\Delta_g,\Delta_{Z_\beta,D})\bigg|_{s=0} - o(1), \text{ as } \lambda \to 0^+, \\ -\log\det(\Delta_g+\lambda,\Delta_{Z_\beta,D}+\lambda) = -\log\lambda - \log\det(\Delta_g,\Delta_{Z_\beta,D}) - o(1), \text{ as } \lambda \to 0^+,$$

as desired. Similarly,  $\log \det(\Delta_{M_{\beta,D}} + \lambda) = \log \det(\Delta_{M_{\beta,D}}) + o(1)$  as  $\lambda \to 0^+$ , follows in the same way as above from:

$$\zeta_{\Delta_{M_{\beta,D}}+\lambda}(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-t\Delta_{M_{\beta,D}}}) e^{-t\lambda} t^{s-1} dt.$$

This finishes the proof of the lemma.

Now let us take care of the middle side of equation (6.8). First of all recall that for  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $R(\lambda)$  is a 1st order elliptic, invertible, self-adjoint pseudodifferential operator, therefore its zeta determinant is well defined. Set R = R(0). We saw that  $R \ge 0$ , Ker  $R = \mathbb{C}$  and  $\lim_{\lambda \to 0} R(\lambda) = R$  in the strong sense. Let  $0 < \mu_1(\lambda) \le \mu_2(\lambda) \le \mu_3(\lambda) \le \ldots$  be the eigenvalues of  $R(\lambda)$ . Then

$$\mu_1(\lambda) \to 0, \qquad \text{as } \lambda \to 0,$$
  
$$\mu_i(\lambda) \ge c > 0, \qquad \text{for } i \ge 2, \ \lambda \ge 0.$$

The regularized determinant of R, det<sup>\*</sup> R, is defined as usual by the meromorphic continuation of

$$\zeta_R^*(s) = \sum_{\mu_i > 0} \mu_i(0)^{-s}.$$

**Lemma 6.7.** As  $\lambda \to 0^+$  there is the following asymptotic expansion:

$$\log \det R(\lambda) = \log \mu_1(\lambda) + \log \det^* R + o(1).$$
(6.9)

*Proof.* Let  $\operatorname{Ker}(R)$  be the kernel of R,  $\mathcal{H} = (\operatorname{Ker}(R))^{\perp}$  be its orthogonal complement and  $P : L^2(\Sigma_{\beta}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(R)$  and  $P^{\perp} : L^2(\Sigma_{\beta}) \to \mathcal{H}$  be the corresponding orthogonal projections. By definition:

$$\log \det R(\lambda) := -\left. \frac{d}{ds} \right|_{s=0} \zeta_{R(\lambda)}(s) = -\left. \frac{d}{ds} \right|_{s=0} \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tR(\lambda)}) t^{s-1} dt.$$

The first thing to do is to separate the first eigenvalue. For that, let  $\gamma$  be a contour in  $\mathbb{C}$  contained in  $\rho(R(\lambda))$  and surrounding the spectrum of  $R(\lambda)$ , for all  $\lambda \geq 0$  small enough. Then:

$$e^{-tR(\lambda)} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\gamma} e^{-t\xi} (R(\lambda) - \xi)^{-1} d\xi$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\gamma_1} e^{-t\xi} (R(\lambda) - \xi)^{-1} d\xi + \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\gamma_2} e^{-t\xi} (R(\lambda) - \xi)^{-1} d\xi$ 

where  $\gamma_1$  is a contour surrounding  $\{\mu_1(\lambda), 0\}$  and  $\gamma_2$  surrounds the half line  $[c, \infty)$ , where  $\mu_2(\lambda) \ge c$  for all  $\lambda > 0$ . From the assumptions is clear that  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$  can be chosen without overlapping and independently of  $\lambda$ . It is also clear that:

$$\frac{1}{2i\pi}\int_{\gamma_1} e^{-t\xi} (R(\lambda) - \xi)^{-1} d\xi = e^{-t\mu_1(\lambda)} P(\lambda).$$

Therefore

$$\zeta_{R(\lambda)}(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty e^{-t\mu_1(\lambda)} t^{s-1} dt + \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Tr}\left(\int_{\gamma_2} e^{-t\xi} (R(\lambda) - \xi)^{-1} d\xi\right) t^{s-1} dt.$$

There are two ways to approach the proof. One is using the convergence of the resolvent and it was suggested by R. Mazzeo; the other one is following the argument in [25].

As it was explained above, we know that  $R(\lambda)$  is a family of 1st order pseudodifferential operators. Hence they have bounded extensions to operators from  $H^1(\Sigma_\beta)$  to  $L^2(\Sigma_\beta)$ . Since  $H^1(\Sigma_\beta) \subset L^2(\Sigma_\beta)$ ,  $R(\lambda)$  is a bounded operator acting on a subspace of  $L^2(\Sigma_\beta)$  into  $L^2(\Sigma_\beta)$  that depends continuously on  $\lambda$ . The resolvent of  $R(\lambda)$  also depends continuously of  $\lambda$ . Since R has 0 as eigenvalue, the resolvent  $(R - \xi)^{-1}$  has a pole at  $\xi = 0$  and can be written as:

$$(R - \xi)^{-1} = -\xi^{-1}P + A(\xi),$$

with  $A(\xi)$  a holomorphic operator in  $\xi$ . On the other hand we have  $\mu_1(\lambda) > 0$  for  $\lambda > 0$ . Therefore we have that  $(R(\lambda) - \xi)^{-1}$  is continuous in  $\lambda$  close to 0 and holomorphic in  $\xi$  far from  $\sigma(R(\lambda))$ . When integrating over  $\gamma_2$  we are actually dealing with the operators  $P(\lambda)^{\perp}R(\lambda)$  or  $P^{\perp}R(\lambda)$ . From general results about resolvents we have that  $(P(\lambda)^{\perp}R(\lambda) - \xi)^{-1}$  converges continuously to  $(P^{\perp}R - \xi)^{-1}$ as  $\lambda \to 0^+$  for  $\xi \in \rho(R(\lambda))$ . Now:

$$e^{-tP(\lambda)^{\perp}R(\lambda)} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\gamma_2} e^{-t\xi} (P(\lambda)^{\perp}R(\lambda) - \xi)^{-1} d\xi$$
$$e^{-tP^{\perp}R} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\gamma_2} e^{-t\xi} (P^{\perp}R - \xi)^{-1} d\xi.$$

From the preceding expressions it is clear that  $e^{-tP(\lambda)^{\perp}R(\lambda)}$  converges to  $e^{-tP^{\perp}R}$ . Therefore  $\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tP(\lambda)^{\perp}R(\lambda)})$  depends continuously on  $\lambda$  and so does the zeta function. In this way we obtain:

$$\log \det P(\lambda)^{\perp} R(\lambda) = \log \det P^{\perp} R + o(1), \text{ as } \lambda \to 0^+.$$

This finishes the proof of equation (6.9).

The other method we have of proving equation (6.9) is using the approach of [25]. We use that  $R(\lambda)^{-1} = \rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ (\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$ . Let  $Q(\lambda) := (\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} - \frac{1}{\lambda}P$  and  $T(\lambda) := \rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ Q(\lambda) \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$ , so that  $R(\lambda)^{-1} = \frac{1}{\lambda}P + T(\lambda)$ . The main point is that:

$$R = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{on } \operatorname{Ker}(R) \\ T^{-1} & \text{on } \mathcal{H} = (\operatorname{Ker}(R))^{\perp} \end{cases}$$

with  $T = P^{\perp}T(0)P^{\perp}$ . This implies that:

$$-\left.\frac{d}{ds}\right|_{s=0}\zeta_{P^{\perp}R(\lambda)}(s) = \log \det^* R + o(1), \text{ as } \lambda \to 0^+.$$

This also finishes the proof of the Lemma.

Let us now introduce some notation. Remember that  $R(\lambda) = \mathcal{N}(z)$ , with  $\lambda = -z > 0$ , and

$$R(\lambda)^{-1}f = \rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ (\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}(f).$$

Let  $\mu > 0$  and let  $P_{\mu}$  be the spectral projection on  $[0, \mu]$ . Then  $R(\lambda)^{-1}$  can be decomposed as

$$R(\lambda)^{-1} = \rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ P_{\mu}(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}} + \rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ (I - P_{\mu})(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$$

Let  $Q_{\mu}(\lambda) := \rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ P_{\mu}(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}$ . Then the kernel of  $Q_{\mu}(\lambda)$  in terms of the spectral decomposition of  $\Delta_q$  on M is given by:

$$K_{Q_{\mu}(\lambda)}(x,y,\lambda) = \sum_{\lambda_j \le \mu} \frac{1}{\lambda_j + \lambda} \varphi_j(x) \overline{\varphi_j(y)} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{\mu} \frac{1}{\lambda + 1/4 + r^2} E(x,\frac{1}{2} + ir) E(y,\frac{1}{2} - ir) dr,$$

for  $x, y \in \Sigma_{\beta}$ . We can write  $R(\lambda)^{-1} = Q_{\mu}(\lambda) + \tilde{Q}_{\mu}(\lambda)$  with

$$\tilde{Q}_{\mu}(\lambda) = \rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ (I - P_{\mu})(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}.$$

Now further decompose  $Q_{\mu}(\lambda)$  as  $Q_{\mu,1}(\lambda) + Q_{\mu,2}(\lambda)$ , where  $Q_{\mu,1}(\lambda)$  is given by:

$$Q_{\mu,1}(\lambda)f = \frac{1}{\lambda} \frac{1}{A_g} \int_{\Sigma_\beta} f(y) d\mu(y), \quad \text{with} \quad K_{Q_{\mu,1}(\lambda)}(x,y,\lambda) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \frac{1}{A_g},$$

and  $Q_{\mu,2}(\lambda)$  is the operator whose kernel is:

$$K_{Q_{\mu,2}(\lambda)}(x,y,\lambda) = \sum_{0<\lambda_j\leq\mu} \frac{1}{\lambda+\lambda_j} \varphi_j(x) \overline{\varphi_j(y)} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\mu \frac{1}{\lambda+1/4+r^2} E(x,\frac{1}{2}+ir) E(y,\frac{1}{2}-ir) dr.$$
(6.10)

We have the following Lemma:

**Lemma 6.8.** There is a constant C > 0 such that

$$\|\rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} \circ (I - P_{\mu})(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} \circ i_{\Sigma_{\beta}}\|_{L^2(\Sigma_{\beta})} \le C,$$

for all  $\lambda > 0$ .

*Proof.* The proof goes as in Lemma 3.5 in [31].

We know that  $i_{\Sigma_{\beta}} : L^2(\Sigma_{\beta}) \to H^{-1}(M)$  and  $\rho_{\Sigma_{\beta}} : H^1(M) \to L^2(\Sigma_{\beta})$  are continuous and dual to each other. We want to see that  $(I - P_{\mu})(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} : H^{-1}(M) \to H^1(M)$  is bounded by a constant independent of  $\lambda$ .

Let us see that  $(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} : H^{-1}(M) \to H^1(M)$  is bounded: Let  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $\lambda \in \rho(\Delta_g)$  we have that  $(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} : \operatorname{dom}(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1} \subset L^2(M) \to H^2(M)$  is bounded. For  $f \in H^{-1}(M)$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|(I - P_{\mu})(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1}f\|_{H^1} &= \|(\Delta_g + I)^{1/2}(I - P_{\mu})(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1}f\|_{L^2} \\ &= \|(\Delta_g + I)(I - P_{\mu})(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1}(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2}f\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \|(\Delta_g + I)(I - P_{\mu})(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1}\|_{L^2}\|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2}f\|_{L^2} \ll \|f\|_{H^{-1}} \end{aligned}$$

The fact that  $(\Delta_g + I)(I - P_\mu)(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1}$  is bounded by a constant independent of  $\lambda > 0$  follows from the spectral theorem. For  $\phi \in L^2(M)$  it is ease to see that:

$$(\Delta_g + I)(I - P_\mu)(\Delta_g + \lambda)^{-1}\phi \le \left(1 + \frac{1}{\mu}\right)\phi,$$

for any  $\lambda > 0$ .

Now we study the behavior of  $\log \mu_1(\lambda)$  as  $\lambda \to 0^+$ . For that we have the following Proposition:

#### Lemma 6.9.

$$\log \mu_1(\lambda) = \log \lambda + \log \left(\frac{A_g}{\ell_\beta}\right) + o(1), \tag{6.11}$$

as  $\lambda \to 0^+$ , where  $A_g = area(M)$ , and  $\ell_\beta = length(\Sigma_\beta)$ .

*Proof.* First observe that:

$$\frac{1}{\mu_1(\lambda)} = \|R(\lambda)^{-1}\|.$$

Now, let us study  $||R(\lambda)^{-1}||$  as  $\lambda \to 0^+$ , where the norm is the operator norm in  $L^2(\Sigma_\beta)$ . From the expression for  $K_{Q_{\mu,2}(\lambda)}$  in equation (6.10) we have:

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} K_{Q_{\mu,2}(\lambda)}(x, x', \lambda) = \sum_{0 < \lambda_j \le \mu} \frac{1}{\lambda_j} \varphi_j(x) \overline{\varphi_j(x')} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\mu \frac{1}{1/4 + r^2} E(x, \frac{1}{2} + ir) E(x', \frac{1}{2} - ir) dr.$$

Thus  $||Q_{\mu,2}(\lambda)||$  remains bounded as  $\lambda \to 0^+$ . We also have that:

$$\|Q_{\mu,1}(\lambda)\| = \frac{1}{\lambda} \frac{\ell_{\beta}}{A_g}.$$

Since  $R(\lambda)^{-1} = Q_{\mu,1}(\lambda) + Q_{\mu,2}(\lambda) + \tilde{Q}_{\mu}(\lambda)$ , using Lemma 6.8 it follows that:

$$||R(\lambda)^{-1}|| = \frac{\ell_{\beta}}{\lambda A_g} + O(1), \text{ as } \lambda \to 0^+.$$

This equation together with  $\frac{1}{\mu_1(\lambda)} = ||R(\lambda)^{-1}||$  gives:

$$\frac{1}{\mu_1(\lambda)} = \frac{\ell_\beta}{\lambda A_g} + O(1), \text{ as } \lambda \to 0^+.$$

Now remember the expansion for the logarithm:

$$\log(a+x) = \log(a) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{na^n} x^n = \log(a) + \frac{1}{a}x - \frac{1}{2a^2}x^2 + \dots$$

Then writing  $\frac{1}{\mu_1(\lambda)} = \frac{\ell_\beta}{\lambda A_g} + u(\lambda)$ , with  $u(\lambda) = O(1)$  as  $\lambda \to 0$ , we obtain:

$$\log\left(\frac{\ell_{\beta}}{\lambda A_{g}} + u(\lambda)\right) = \log\left(\frac{\ell_{\beta}}{\lambda A_{g}}\right) + \frac{\lambda A_{g}}{\ell_{\beta}}u - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\lambda A_{g}}{\ell_{\beta}}\right)^{2}u^{2} + \dots$$
$$= \log\left(\frac{\ell_{\beta}}{\lambda A_{g}}\right) + O(\lambda) \text{ as } \lambda \to 0^{+}.$$

Then equation (6.11) follows straight from:

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{\mu_1(\lambda)}\right) = -\log(\mu_1(\lambda)) = \log\left(\frac{\ell_\beta}{A_g}\right) - \log\lambda + O(\lambda) \text{ as } \lambda \to 0^+.$$

Putting everything together we obtain the splitting formula, that is the main result of this chapter:

**Theorem 6.10.** For the relative determinant of the Laplace operator on a surface with cusps (M, g), and the regularized determinant of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator on  $\Sigma_{\beta} = \{\beta\} \times S^1 \subset M$ , we have the following splitting formula:

$$\frac{\det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{Z_\beta, D})}{\det(\Delta_{M_{\beta, D}})} = \frac{A_g}{\ell_\beta} \det^* R,$$

where  $A_g$  denotes the area of M and  $\ell_{\beta}$  denoted the length of  $\Sigma_{\beta}$ .

*Proof.* We start with the splitting formula for  $\lambda > 0$ , and  $\lambda \in \rho(\Delta_g)$ :

$$\log \det(\Delta_g + \lambda, \Delta_{Z_{\beta}, D} + \lambda) - \log \det(\Delta_{M_{\beta, D}} + \lambda) = \log \det R(\lambda)$$

From the previous lemmas we have that:

$$\log \det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{Z_\beta, D}) + \log \lambda - \log \det(\Delta_{M_\beta, D} + \lambda) + o(1)$$
  
=  $\log \mu_1(\lambda) + \log \det^* R + o(1) = \log \lambda + \log \left(\frac{A_g}{\ell_\beta}\right) - O(\lambda) + \log \det^* R + o(1)$ 

Letting  $\lambda \to 0$ , we finally obtain:

$$\log \det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{Z_\beta, D}) - \log \det(\Delta_{M_{\beta, D}}) = \log \left(\frac{A_g}{\ell_\beta}\right) + \log \det^* R.$$

That is the same as the equation in the statement of the theorem.

**Remark 6.11.** If we further decompose the operator  $\Delta_{Z_{\beta},D}$  as  $\Delta_{\beta,0} \oplus \Delta_{Z_{\beta,1}}$  we obtain:

$$\log \det(\Delta_g, \Delta_{\beta,0}) - \log \det(\Delta_{Z_{\beta},1}) - \log \det(\Delta_{M_{\beta,D}}) = \log\left(\frac{A_g}{\ell_\beta}\right) + \log \det^* R.$$
(6.12)

### Chapter 7

## Compactness of isospectral sets of conformal metrics

In this chapter we consider the isospectral problem for a surface with cusps restricting our attention to a conformal class of metrics. Moreover we assume that the conformal factors have support in a fixed compact set. We partially generalize the result of B. Osgood, R. Phillips, and P. Sarnak in [34] that states that on a closed surface every set of isometry classes of isospectral metrics is sequentially compact in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology. The generalization is partial in the sense that we consider only a fixed conformal class of metrics. Concerning the variation in the moduli space of surfaces of constant negative curvature W. Müller proved that the resonance set  $\sigma(\Gamma)$  of a hyperbolic surface of finite area  $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$  determines the surface in the moduli space up to finitely many possibilities [29, Thm. 8.10]. In particular the resonance set determines the topological type (p, m), (p is the genus and m is the number of cusps), and the length spectrum of  $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$ . Here we prove that, given a fixed compact set  $K \subset M$ , inside a "K-compactly supported" conformal class, sets of isospectral metrics are compact in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology.

Let us start by review OPS's proof of compactness of isospectral sets of metrics on closed surfaces in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology. In this setting, two metrics  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  are called isospectral if the spectra of the Laplacians  $\Delta_{g_1}$  and  $\Delta_{g_2}$  are the same including multiplicities. In particular, the regularized determinant det  $\Delta$  and the heat invariants  $a_j$  for  $j \ge 0$  have the same values at  $g_1$  and  $g_2$ . Recall that the heat invariants are the coefficients of the asymptotic expansion of the heat trace for small t.

To define the notion of convergence they fix a background metric  $g_0$ . Associated to  $g_0$ , there is the Levi-Civita connection and the covariant derivative that allow us to differentiate in the whole tensor algebra. A sequence of metrics  $\{g_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  converges to a metric g in  $C^k$  if  $||g_n - g||_{C^k} \to 0$ , as  $n \to \infty$ . A sequence of isometry classes of metrics  $\hat{g}_n$  converges to an isometry class  $\hat{g}$  if there are representatives  $h_n \in \hat{g}_n$ ,  $h \in \hat{g}$ , such that  $h_n \to h$ , as  $n \to \infty$ . Now, let  $\{\rho_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of functions in  $C^k(M)$  and let  $\sigma$  be a fixed metric on M. Then  $\rho_n \sigma \to \rho \sigma$  in  $C^k$  as metrics if and only if  $\rho_n \to \rho$  in  $C^k$  as functions. Moreover, if the metrics  $\sigma_n \to \sigma$  in  $C^\infty$ , and the function  $\rho_n \to \rho$  in  $C^k$ , then the metrics  $\rho_n \sigma_n \to \rho \sigma$  in  $C^k$ .

After defining convergence and isospectrality, OPS consider a sequence of isospectral isometry classes of metrics  $\{\hat{g}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  and pick representatives  $g_n$ . For each  $g_n$  there is a metric of constant curvature  $\tau_n$  such that  $g_n = e^{2\varphi_n}\tau_n$ . In this way, they associate to each  $\hat{g}_n$  a hyperbolic isometry class  $\hat{\tau}_n$ . They use that for each n, det  $\Delta_{\hat{\tau}_n} \ge \det \Delta_{\hat{g}_n} = \text{constant} > 0$  and Mumford's compactness

theorem to prove that there exists a subsequence of  $\{\hat{\tau}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  that converges to an element  $\hat{\tau}$  in the moduli space. To have compactness of the conformal factors  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ , they prove that for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  the k-th Sobolev norms  $\|\varphi_n\|_k$  are uniformly bounded. Compactness in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology follows then from Rellich's Lemma and the Sobolev embedding theorems on M. The constant value of the determinant is used to prove uniform boundedness of the first Sobolev norm. For the higher Sobolev norms, they use the constant values of the heat invariants.

Now let (M, g) be a surface of fixed genus p and a fixed number of cusps m. We usually take m = 1 to make the proofs simpler but the statements hold for general m. We take g as the background Riemannian metric. Let us decompose M as  $M = M_0 \cup_{\Sigma_{\alpha}} Z_{\alpha}$  where  $M_0$  is compact with boundary  $\Sigma_{\alpha}$  and the metric on  $Z_{\alpha} = [\alpha, \infty) \times S^1$  is the usual hyperbolic metric.

For s > 0 and  $f \in H^s(M, g)$  recall the definition of the Sobolev norms:

$$||f||_{H^s} := ||(\Delta + I)^{s/2} f||_{L^2}$$

Now, let K be a compact subset of M. Then there is a  $\beta \geq \alpha$  such that  $K \subset M_{\beta}$  and such that  $K \cap \Sigma_{\beta} = \emptyset$ . Fix that  $\beta$  and let us define the "K-compactly supported" conformal class of g as the set

$$[g]_K = \{ e^{2\varphi}g \mid \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(M), \text{ supp } \varphi \subset K \}.$$
(7.1)

Then for every metric in  $h \in [g]_K$ , (M, h) is a surface with cusps and the cusp (if m = 1) is contained in  $M \setminus M_{\beta}$ .

Since we restricted to a conformal class, the notion of convergence of metrics reduces to the convergence of the conformal factors:

**Definition 7.1.** A sequence of metrics  $\{g_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ , with  $g_n = e^{2\varphi_n}g$  converges to a metric h in  $C^k$  if and only if the sequence of function  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  converges to a function  $\varphi$  in  $C^k$ .

Now we explain what we mean by isospectrality of surfaces with cusps (M, g). Let us start by defining what are resonances: Let  $R(s) = (\Delta_g - s(1-s))^{-1}$  be the resolvent of the Laplacian  $\Delta_g$  for  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1/2$  and  $s \neq \bar{s}$ . The resolvent  $R(s) = (\Delta_g - s(1-s))^{-1}$  regarded as operator from  $C_c^{\infty}(M)$ to  $L^2_{loc}(M)$  admits a meromorphic extension to  $\mathbb{C}$ . The poles of the meromorphic continuation are called resonances. For each pole  $\rho$  one can define its multiplicity  $n(\rho)$ . If  $\lambda_j = s_j(1-s_j)$  is an eigenvalue of  $\Delta_g$ , then  $s_j$  is a resonance. The complement of the set of poles that correspond to eigenvalues are poles of the scattering matrix, see [29].

**Definition 7.2.** The resonance set of  $\Delta_g$  is the union of the poles of the scattering matrix and of the set  $\{s_j|s_j(1-s_j) \text{ is an eigenvalue}\}$ .

One reason to consider resonances is that the following trace formula holds ([29, (2.2)]):

$$Tr(e^{-t\Delta_g} - e^{-t\bar{\Delta}_{\alpha,0}}) = \int_M (K_g(z, z, t) - \sum_{j=1}^m p_{\alpha_j}(z, z, t)) dA_g(z)$$
  
=  $\sum_k e^{-\lambda_k t} - \frac{1}{4} \int_{-\infty}^\infty e^{-(1/4 + \lambda^2)t} \frac{\phi'}{\phi} (1/2 + i\lambda) d\lambda$   
+  $\frac{1}{4} e^{-t/4} (Tr(C(1/2)) + m) + \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} \sum_{j=1}^m \log(\alpha_j),$  (7.2)

where the term  $\frac{m}{4}e^{-t/4}$  comes from the extra term of  $p_{\alpha_j}(z, z, t)$ ) determined by the Dirichlet extension, i.e. the term  $\frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}}(yy')^{1/2}e^{-(\log(yy')-\log(\alpha^2))^2/4t}$  in equation (1.9). Now by Theorem 5.11 in [29] the integral that involves the logarithmic derivative of the scattering matrix can be rewritten as follows:

$$-\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-(1/4+\lambda^2)t} \frac{\phi'}{\phi} (1/2+i\lambda) d\lambda$$
  
$$= \frac{\log(q)}{(4\pi)^{3/2}} \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\sqrt{t}} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\rho} n(\rho) \{ e^{-t\rho(1-\rho)} \operatorname{Erfc}(\sqrt{t}(\sqrt{t}(1/2-\rho)) + e^{-t\bar{\rho}(1-\bar{\rho})} \operatorname{Erfc}(1-\bar{\rho})) \}, \quad (7.3)$$

where  $\rho$  runs over all zeros and poles of  $\phi(s)$  in Re(s), 1/2,  $n(\rho)$  denotes either the order of the pole  $\rho$  or the negative of the order of the zero  $\rho$ , q is a well-determined constant and Erfc is the complementary error function, see [29, (5.13)].

We are ready now to define isospectral metrics:

**Definition 7.3.** Two cusp metrics  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  on M are isospectral if their resonance sets including multiplicities are the same.

For the definition of isospectrality, the continuous spectra are irrelevant since for two surfaces with cusps  $(M, g_1)$  and  $(M, g_2)$ ,  $\sigma_c(\Delta_{g_1}) = \sigma_c(\Delta_{g_2}) = [1/4, \infty)$  with multiplicity the number of cusps.

**Remark 7.4.** Let  $(M, g_1)$  and  $(M, g_2)$  be two surfaces with cusps that are isospectral. Then, equations (7.2) and (7.3) imply that the corresponding traces of the heat operators coincide. Under the same hypothesis, the fact that the determinants of the scattering matrices are the same follows from Theorem 3.31 in [29], which expresses the determinant of the scattering matrix as the following Weierstrass product:

$$\phi(s) = \phi(1/2)q^{s-1/2} \prod_{\rho} \frac{s-1+\bar{\rho}}{s-\rho},$$

where  $\rho$  runs over all poles of  $\phi(s)$ , counted with the order and q is the same constant of equation (7.3). It is also clear that the eigenvalues of the Laplacians coincide. In this way, we also have that the corresponding relative determinants satisfy

$$\det(\Delta_{g_1}, \bar{\Delta}_{a,0}) = \det(\Delta_{g_2}, \bar{\Delta}_{a,0}),$$

for any  $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_m)$  with  $\min\{a_j, 1 \le j \le m\}$  big enough.

The main theorem in this chapter is:

**Theorem 7.5.** Let (M, g) be a surface with cusps, let  $K \subset M$  be a fixed compact subset of M and let  $[g]_K = \{e^{2\varphi}g \mid \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(M), \text{ supp } \varphi \subset K\}$  be the K-compactly supported conformal class of g. Then isospectral sets in  $[g]_K$  are compact in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology.

**Remark 7.6.** As in the compact case, the proof of Theorem 7.5 uses Sobolev embedding theorems and Rellich's Lemma. We refer the reader to Appendix A and the references therein for the statements of these theorems. It is well known that due to the nullity of the injectivity radius that neither Sobolev embedding theorems nor Rellich's lemma hold on surfaces with cusps in their standard form. This is one of the reasons why we restrict our attention to transformations of the metric that take place inside a fixed compact set and use the theorems for compact manifolds.



Figure 7.1: Cusps and the compact set K. K is shown in gray.

*Proof.* First of all we need to compactify M to a Riemannian manifold that contains K isometrically. It is convenient at this point to change the coordinates in the cusp by the transformation  $z \to w = e^{iz}$ . Then  $Z_{\alpha}$  becomes  $\{w \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |w| \le e^{-\alpha}\} =: D_{e^{-\alpha}}^*$  and the metric on it becomes

$$g|_{D^*_{e^{-\alpha}}} = \log(|w|^{-1})^{-2}|w|^{-2}|dw|^2.$$

Let us keep the old notation in these new coordinates. Then for  $b \ge \alpha$ ,  $M_b = M_0 \cup (D_{e^{-\alpha}}^* \setminus D_{e^{-b}}^*) \cup \Sigma_b$ and we could also denote  $D_{e^{-b}}^*$  by  $Z_b$ . Let  $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$  satisfy

$$f(w) := \begin{cases} |\log(|w|)| |w| & \text{if } w \in D^*_{e^{-\beta-2}} (\cong Z_{\beta+2}) \\ 1 & \text{if } w \in M_{\beta+1}, \end{cases}$$

and put

$$\sigma = f(z)^2 \cdot g$$

Then take  $\widetilde{M} = M \cup \{0\}$  the one-point compactification of M (*m*-point compactification if M has m cusps). The metric  $\sigma$  on M extends to a smooth metric on  $\widetilde{M}$  which we denote again by  $\sigma$ . Thus  $(\widetilde{M}, \sigma)$  is a closed manifold that contains  $M_{\beta}$  isometrically and that has the same genus as M.

Now let  $\{g_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset [g]_K$  be a sequence of isospectral of metrics on M conformal to g. Notice that since the metrics in the sequence are isospectral their areas  $A_{g_n}$  are the same and by the Gauss-Bonnet theorem we have that  $A_{g_n} = 2\pi(2p+m-2)$ . Since  $g_n \in [g]_K$ , there exists a function  $\varphi_n \in C_c^{\infty}(M)$  such that  $g_n = e^{2\varphi_n}g$  and  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi_n \subset K$ , for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Now put

$$\widetilde{g}_n := e^{2\varphi_n} \sigma.$$

Then the metrics  $\widetilde{g}_n$  are conformal to  $\sigma$  on  $\widetilde{M}$ . The fact that  $K \subsetneq M_{\beta+1} = M \setminus D_{e^{-\beta-1}}^*$  and  $\sigma|_{M_{\beta+1}} = g|_{M_{\beta+1}}$  imply that the values  $A_{g_n} - A_g(D_{e^{\beta+1}}^*)$  are constant. Then the areas  $A_{\widetilde{g}_n}$  of  $(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{g}_n)$  have all the same value; this follows from:

$$A_{\widetilde{g}_n} = A_{g_n} - A_g(D_{e^{\beta+1}}^*) + A_\sigma(\widetilde{M} \setminus M_{\beta+1}).$$

Therefore we can renormalize the metrics  $\tilde{g}_n$  such that  $A_{\tilde{g}_n} = 1$ .

As in the previous paragraph, the definitions of K and  $\sigma$ , the condition  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi_n \subset K$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and the locality of the Laplacians  $\Delta_q$  and  $\Delta_{\sigma}$  imply that

$$\|\varphi_n\|_{H^k(\widetilde{M},\sigma)}^2 = \|\varphi_n\|_{H^k(M,g)}^2.$$
(7.4)

Notice here that compactness of  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in  $C^{\infty}(\widetilde{M},\sigma)$ , together with  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi_n \subset K \subseteq M$ , for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  implies compactness of  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in  $C^{\infty}(M,g)$ . In order to prove compactness in  $C^{\infty}(M,g)$  we therefore need to prove that for each  $k \geq 1$ :

$$\|\varphi_n\|_{H^k(\widetilde{M},\sigma)} \le C(k) \quad \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{N},$$

where C(k) is a constant that may depend on k. The kth Sobolev norm can also be written as

$$\|\varphi_n\|_{H^k(\widetilde{M},\sigma)}^2 = \sum_{l=0}^k \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\sigma}^l \varphi_n(x)|^2 dA_{\sigma},$$

where for the sake of simplicity  $\nabla_{\sigma}^{l}$  is denoted just by  $\nabla^{l}$ .

In Lemmas 7.7 and 7.8 we prove that if  $\{g_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is isospectral then det  $\Delta_{\tilde{g}_n}$  is constant and the heat invariants of the metrics  $\tilde{g}_n$  are the same for all n. The theorem will then follow from the results of [34]. In Lemma 7.9 we prove the uniform bound in the first Sobolev norm. The proof follows the same lines as in [34] but we repeat it here for convenience and completeness.

**Lemma 7.7.** Given a sequence  $\{g_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  of isospectral metrics in a conformal class  $[g]_K$ , let  $\{\widetilde{g}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be the associated sequence of metrics on  $\widetilde{M}$  defined above. Then the regularized determinants det  $\Delta_{\widetilde{g}_n}$  are constant, i.e. their value is independent of n.

*Proof.* Let h be any metric in  $[g]_K$  and let  $\tilde{h} = f^2 \cdot h$ . Recall that  $\widetilde{M} = M \cup \{0\}$  was defined above as the one-point compactification of M. Then for the relative determinant of  $(\Delta_h, \Delta_{\beta,0})$  and the determinant of  $\Delta_{\tilde{h}}$  we have the following splitting formulas:

$$\log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{\beta,0}) - \log \det \Delta_{Z_{\beta},1} - \log \det \Delta_{(M_{\beta},h),D} = \log \left(\frac{A_h(M)}{\ell(\Sigma_{\beta},h)}\right) + \log \det^* R_h$$

and

$$\log \det \Delta_{(\widetilde{M},\widetilde{h})} - \log \det \Delta_{(M_{\beta},\widetilde{h}),D} - \log \det \Delta_{(\widetilde{M}\setminus M_{\beta},\widetilde{h}),D} = \log \left(\frac{A_{\widetilde{h}}(\widetilde{M})}{\ell(\Sigma_{\beta},\widetilde{h})}\right) + \log \det^* R_{\widetilde{h}}$$

where the first formula is the one given by equation (6.12) and follows straight forward from Theorem 6.10, and the second formula is the well known splitting formula for a closed surface, as in [5]. Subtracting the equations we obtain:

$$\log \det \Delta_{(\widetilde{M},\widetilde{h})} - \log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{\beta,0}) + \log \det \Delta_{Z_{\beta,1}} - \log \det \Delta_{(\widetilde{M} \setminus M_{\beta},\widetilde{h}),D} = \log \left( \frac{A_{\widetilde{h}}(\widetilde{M})}{\ell(\Sigma_{\beta},\widetilde{h})} \right) - \log \left( \frac{A_h(M)}{\ell(\Sigma_{\beta},h)} \right) + \log \det^* R_{\widetilde{h}} - \log \det^* R_h.$$

From the definition of f we have that  $\tilde{h} = h$  on  $M_{\beta+1}$ , and  $f \equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of  $\Sigma_{\beta}$ . So we have that  $\ell(\Sigma_{\beta}, h) = \ell(\Sigma_{\beta}, \tilde{h})$ . On the other hand, the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operators are the same for both metrics. To see this, notice that given a function  $u \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\beta})$ , the unique solution to the problem  $\Delta_g \tilde{u} = 0$  on  $M \setminus \Sigma_{\beta}$  with  $\tilde{u}|_{\Sigma_{\beta}} = u$  will also be a solution of  $\Delta_h \tilde{u} = e^{-2\varphi} \Delta_g \tilde{u} = 0$ on  $M \setminus \Sigma_{\beta}$  satisfying the same boundary condition. Then we have:

$$\log \det \Delta_{(\widetilde{M},\widetilde{h})} - \log \det(\Delta_h, \Delta_{\beta,0}) - \log \det \Delta_{(\widetilde{M} \setminus M_\beta, \widetilde{h}), D} = \log(A_{\widetilde{h}}(\widetilde{M})) - \log(A_h(M)) + c \quad (7.5)$$

where c is a constant that does not depend on h. Now, let  $\{g_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of isospectral metrics in  $[g]_K$  and let  $\{\widetilde{g}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be as in the proof of Theorem 7.5. Recall that  $A_{g_n}(M)$ ,  $A_{\widetilde{g}_n}(\widetilde{M})$ ,  $\det(\Delta_{g_n}, \Delta_{\beta,0})$  are constants independent of n. Moreover,  $\widetilde{g}_n|_{\widetilde{M}\setminus M_\beta} = \sigma|_{\widetilde{M}\setminus M_\beta}$ . Therefore  $\det \Delta_{(\widetilde{M}\setminus M_\beta, \widetilde{g}_n), D}$  is also constant. Then replacing h and  $\widetilde{h}$  by  $g_n$  and  $\widetilde{g}_n$  respectively, in equation (7.5) we obtain:

$$\log \det(\Delta_{\widetilde{a}_n}) = \text{constant}.$$

This finishes the proof of the lemma.

**Lemma 7.8.** The heat invariants corresponding to the metrics of the sequence  $\{\widetilde{g}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  are the same for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  if we start with an isospectral sequence  $\{g_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ .

*Proof.* Let h be any of the metrics  $g_n$  we are considering. Let us start by constructing the kernel of a parametrix  $H_h$  for the heat operator  $e^{-t\Delta_h}$  on the surface with cusps (M, h), as we explained in chapter 1 and in a similar way as in chapter 3. Namely we use the standard method of gluing the heat kernel on the complete hyperbolic cusp  $(0, \infty) \times S^1$ , denoted by  $K_1$  and independent of h, with the heat kernel on  $(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{h})$ , denoted by  $K_{2\widetilde{h}}$ , restricted to  $M_{\beta+2}$ .

Let us recall how we defined the gluing functions: For any two constants 1 < b < c, let  $\phi_{(b,c)}$  be as defined in Chapter 1, so that  $\phi_{(b,c)}(y,x) = 0$  for  $y \leq b$ , and  $\phi_{(b,c)}(y,x) = 1$  for  $y \geq c$ . Let  $\psi_1 = \phi_{(\beta+\frac{5}{4},\beta+2)}$ , and  $\psi_2 = 1 - \psi_1$ ; then  $\{\psi_1,\psi_2\}$  is a partition of unity on  $[\beta + 1, \beta + 2] \times S^1$ . Let  $\phi_1 = \phi_{(\beta,\beta+1)}$  and  $\phi_2 = 1 - \phi_{(\beta+\frac{5}{2},\beta+3)}$ , so that  $\phi_i = 1$  on the support of  $\psi_i$ , i = 1, 2. The parametrix we are considering is:

$$H_h(z, z', t) = \phi_1(z) K_1(z, z', t) \psi_1(z') + \phi_2(z) K_{2,\tilde{h}}(z, z', t) \psi_2(z').$$

As in Lemma 3.3, we can prove that there exist constants C, c > 0 such that:

$$\int_M |K_h(z,z,t) - H_h(z,z,t)| dA_h(z) \le Ce^{-\frac{c}{t}}$$

for  $0 < t \leq 1$ . Then for small t we can replace the heat kernel  $K_h$  for the parametrix  $H_h$ . Let

$$p_{\beta}(z, z', t) := \frac{(yy')^{1/2}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{t}{4}} \left( e^{-\frac{(\log(y/y'))^2}{4t}} - e^{-\frac{(\log(yy'/\beta^2))^2}{4t}} \right)$$

and  $p_{\beta}(z, z', t) := 0$  elsewhere. We thereby derive an analog to equation (8.14) in [28, page 283], exactly as it is done there:

$$\begin{split} \int_{M} (K_{h}(z,z,t) - p_{\beta}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{h}(z) &= \int_{Z_{\beta+1}} (K_{1}(z,z,t) - p_{\beta}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{h}(z) \\ &+ \int_{M_{\beta+1}} K_{2,\widetilde{h}}(z,z,t) \ dA_{h}(z) + O(e^{-\frac{c}{t}}), \text{ as } t \to 0. \end{split}$$

For a metric  $\widetilde{g}_n$  on  $\widetilde{M}$  the heat invariants are, by definition, the coefficients in the asymptotic expansion of the trace of the heat kernel as  $t \to 0$ :

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} K_{2,\widetilde{g}_n}(z,z,t) \ dA_{\widetilde{g}_n} \sim \frac{1}{t} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(\widetilde{g}_n) t^j, \quad \text{ as } t \to 0.$$

The goal of this lemma is to prove that  $a_j(\tilde{g}_n) = a_j(\tilde{g}_m)$  for any  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ , and for all  $j \ge 0$ . This will follow from the equality of the asymptotic expansions for small values of t of the integrals

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} K_{2,\widetilde{g}_n}(z,z,t) \ dA_{\widetilde{g}_n} \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\widetilde{M}} K_{2,\widetilde{g}_m}(z,z,t) \ dA_{\widetilde{g}_m}$$
(7.6)

for any  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ . We can split the integral over  $\widetilde{M}$  as an integral over  $M_{\beta+1}$  and one over  $\widetilde{M} \setminus M_{\beta+1}$ . Given two metrics  $g_n$  and  $g_m$  as in the statement of the lemma, we have that on  $\widetilde{M} \setminus M_{\beta+1}$ ,  $\widetilde{g}_n = \widetilde{g}_m$ . Since relative to any coordinate system, the coefficients of the asymptotic expansion of the heat kernel are given by universal polynomials in terms of the metric tensor and its covariant derivatives, we have that  $a_j(z, \widetilde{g}_n) = a_j(z, \widetilde{g}_m)$ , for  $z \in \widetilde{M} \setminus M_{\beta+1}$ . On  $\widetilde{M} \setminus M_{\beta+1}$  we have that  $dA_{\widetilde{g}_n} = dA_{\widetilde{g}_m}$ . Therefore:

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}\setminus M_0} K_{2,\widetilde{g}_n}(z,z,t) \ dA_{\widetilde{g}_n}(z) = \int_{\widetilde{M}\setminus M_0} K_{2,\widetilde{g}_m}(z,z,t) \ dA_{\widetilde{g}_n}(z).$$

By assumption,  $K_1$  and  $p_\beta(z, z, t)$  are independent of  $g_n$  and  $g_m$ . Therefore:

$$\begin{split} \int_{M_{\beta+1}} K_{2,\tilde{g}_n}(z,z,t) \ dA_{\tilde{g}_n}(z) &- \int_{M_{\beta+1}} K_{2,\tilde{g}_m}(z,z,t) \ dA_{\tilde{g}_m}(z) \\ &\sim_{t \to 0} \int_M (K_{g_n}(z,z,t) - p_{\beta}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{g_n}(z) - \int_{Z_{\beta+1}} (K_1(z,z,t) - p_{\beta}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{g_n}(z) \\ &- \int_M (K_{g_m}(z,z,t) - p_{\beta}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{g_m}(z) + \int_{Z_{\beta+1}} (K_1(z,z,t) - p_{\beta}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{g_m}(z) \\ &= \int_M (K_{g_n}(z,z,t) - p_{\beta}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{g_n}(z) - \int_M (K_{g_m}(z,z,t) - p_{\beta}(z,z,t)) \ dA_{g_m}(z) = 0, \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from the fact that the metrics are isospectral and from equations (7.2) and (7.3). So, we have proved that the asymptotic expansions as  $t \to 0$  for the integrals in (7.6) are the same. From the definition of the heat invariants it follows that:

$$a_j(\widetilde{g}_n) = a_j(\widetilde{g}_m), \quad \text{for all } j \ge 0, \text{ and } n, m \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Let us prove now the uniform bound on the first Sobolev norms of the metrics  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in  $(\widetilde{M}, \sigma)$ . The proof only requires the constant value of the determinants det  $\Delta_{\widetilde{g}_n}$  and the constant value of the areas  $A_{\widetilde{g}_n}$ . In fact, the proof is exactly the same as in [34], but restricted to a conformal class. For convenience and completeness we repeat the proof here adapted to the restriction to a conformal class.

**Lemma 7.9.** ([34]) For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have that  $\|\varphi_n\|_{H^1(\widetilde{M},\sigma)} \ll 1$ .

*Proof.* We take  $(\widetilde{M}, \sigma)$  as the background Riemannian manifold. We assume that  $\widetilde{M}$  admits a metric of negative curvature, so that it is Euler characteristic is negative. We know that in the conformal class of the metric  $\sigma$ ,  $[\sigma] = \{e^{2\varphi}\sigma \mid \varphi \in C^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})\}$ , there is a unique hyperbolic metric,  $\tau$  of unit area,  $\tau = e^{2\psi}\sigma$ . Thus, the metrics  $\widetilde{g}_n$  are conformal to the uniform metric  $\tau$ :

$$\widetilde{g}_n = e^{2(\varphi_n - \psi)}\tau$$

Polyakov's formula for regularized determinants on closed surfaces gives ([34, (1.13)]):

$$\log \det(\Delta_{\widetilde{g}_n}) = -\frac{1}{6\pi} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_\tau(\varphi_n - \psi)|^2 dA_\tau + \int_{\widetilde{M}} K_\tau \ (\varphi_n - \psi) dA_\tau \right\} + \log(A_{\widetilde{g}_n}) + \log \det(\Delta_\tau).$$

This is equivalent to

$$-6\pi \log \det(\Delta_{\widetilde{g}_n}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_\tau(\varphi_n - \psi)|^2 dA_\tau + 2\pi (2 - 2p) \int_{\widetilde{M}} (\varphi_n - \psi) dA_\tau - 6\pi \log \det(\Delta_\tau).$$

Let  $\psi_n := \varphi_n - \psi$ . Since  $A_\tau = \int_{\widetilde{M}} dA_\tau = 1$  and

$$A_{\widetilde{g}_n} = \int_{\widetilde{M}} dA_{\widetilde{g}_n} = \int_{\widetilde{M}} e^{2\varphi_n} dA_\sigma = \int_{\widetilde{M}} e^{2(\varphi_n - \psi)} dA_\tau = 1,$$

we can apply Jensen's inequality to obtain:

$$\exp\left(\int_{\widetilde{M}} 2\psi_n \ dA_\tau\right) \le \int_{\widetilde{M}} \exp(2\psi_n) \ dA_\tau, \quad \text{thus} \quad \frac{1}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} \psi_n \ dA_\tau \le \log\left(\int_{\widetilde{M}} e^{2\psi_n} \ dA_\tau\right) = 0.$$
(7.7)

In [33], the authors proved that inside a conformal class  $[\sigma]$ , among all metrics of unit area, the functional logarithm of the determinant attains its maximum at the metric of constant curvature. Thus:

$$\log \det(\Delta_{\tau}) \ge \log \det(\Delta_{\widetilde{g}_n}).$$

From Lemma 7.7 we have that  $\log \det(\Delta_{\tilde{g}_n})$  is constant. Therefore there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $C \ge \log \det(\Delta_{\tau}) - \log \det(\Delta_{\tilde{g}_n}) \ge 0$ . Then,

$$C \ge 6\pi (\log \det(\Delta_{\tau}) - \log \det(\Delta_{\widetilde{g}_n})) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\tau}\psi_n|^2 dA_{\tau} + 2\pi (2-2p) \int_{\widetilde{M}} \psi_n \ dA_{\tau} \ge 0.$$
(7.8)

We restrict now to surfaces for which  $p \ge 1$ . Then, from equation (7.7) it follows that the term  $2\pi(2-2p)\int_{\widetilde{M}} \psi_n \, dA_{\tau}$  is positive. Therefore

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\tau}\psi_n|^2 dA_{\tau} \le C - 2\pi (2 - 2p) \int_{\widetilde{M}} \psi_n \ dA_{\tau} \le C.$$

$$(7.9)$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\tau} \psi_n|^2 \, dA_{\tau} \ll 1. \tag{7.10}$$

In order to see that the previous equation implies  $\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\sigma} \varphi_n|^2 dA_{\sigma} \ll 1$ , notice that there is a constant  $C_{\sigma,\tau} \geq 0$  such that

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\sigma} \psi_n|^2 \, dA_{\sigma} \le C_{\sigma,\tau} \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\tau} \psi_n|^2 \, dA_{\tau} \ll 1,$$

and

$$\left\|\nabla_{\sigma}\varphi_{n}\right\|_{L^{2}(\widetilde{M},\sigma)} \leq \left\|\nabla_{\sigma}(\varphi_{n}-\psi)\right\|_{L^{2}(\widetilde{M},\sigma)} + \left\|\nabla_{\sigma}\psi\right\|_{L^{2}(\widetilde{M},\sigma)} \ll 1.$$

The next step is to prove that

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\varphi_n|^2 dA_\sigma \ll 1.$$

In order to do this, use Trudinger's inequality and the fact that  $\tau$  is a metric of unit area, thus

$$1 = \int_{\widetilde{M}} e^{2\psi_n} dA_{\tau} \le C \exp\left(c_1 \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\tau}\psi_n|^2 dA_{\tau} + c_2 \int_{\widetilde{M}} \psi_n dA_{\tau}\right).$$

Then we have  $\frac{-1}{c_2} \log(C' e^{c'_1}) \leq \int_{\widetilde{M}} \psi_n \ dA_{\tau} \leq 0$ . Therefore

$$\left| \int_{\widetilde{M}} \psi_n \, dA_\tau \right| \ll 1. \tag{7.11}$$

To show that the  $L^2(\widetilde{M}, \sigma)$ -norms of the functions  $\psi_n$  are uniformly bounded, use equations (7.10), (7.11), and the min-max principle in the following way. If  $\psi_n \perp 1$ , i.e.  $\int_{\widetilde{M}} \psi_n \, dA_{\tau} = 0$ , one has

$$\frac{\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\tau} \psi_n|^2 \, dA_{\tau}}{\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\psi_n|^2 \, dA_{\tau}} \ge \lambda_1(\Delta_{\tau}),$$

 $\mathbf{SO}$ 

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\psi_n|^2 \ dA_{\tau} \leq \frac{1}{\lambda_1(\Delta_{\tau})} \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\nabla_{\tau}\psi_n|^2 \ dA_{\tau} \ll 1.$$

If  $\psi_n$  is not orthogonal to the constant functions, then decompose it as  $\psi_n = \hat{\psi}_n + c(\psi_n)$  with  $c(\psi_n)$  the projection of  $\psi_n$  on the kernel of  $\Delta_{\tau}$ , and  $\hat{\psi}_n \perp 1$ . Then  $\nabla_{\tau}\psi_n = \nabla_{\tau}\hat{\psi}_n$ , and  $\|\psi_n\|_2^2 = \|\hat{\psi}_n\|_2^2 + c(\psi_n)^2 A_{\tau}^2 \ll 1$ . Thus, we have

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\psi_n|^2 \ dA_\tau \ll 1$$

Now use that  $dA_{\sigma} = \rho \ dA_{\tau}$ , for a positive function  $\rho$ , to obtain

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\psi_n|^2 \, dA_\sigma \le \frac{1}{\min \rho} \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\psi_n|^2 \, dA_\tau \ll 1.$$

Finally, the triangle inequality for the metric  $\sigma$  gives

$$\|\varphi_n\|_2 \le \|\varphi_n - \psi\|_2 + \|\psi\|_2 \ll 1.$$

Putting everything together we obtain:

$$\|\varphi_n\|_{H^1(\widetilde{M},\sigma)} \ll 1, \quad \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The uniform estimates for the higher Sobolev norms follow in the same way as in [34]. The idea of the proof is the following. The constant value of all the heat invariants,  $a_j(\tilde{g}_n) = \text{constant}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , implies uniform bounds for the corresponding curvatures and all their derivatives (the proof of this implication is tiresome and full of technicalities). Then, using the equation for the conformal change of the curvature, which in this case is  $-e^{2\psi_n} = \Delta_\tau \psi_n + K_{\psi_n}$ , one obtains uniform estimates for all the Sobolev norms of the conformal factors  $\psi_n$ , therefore for all the Sobolev norms of the functions  $\varphi_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . This finishes the proof of compactness of isospectral sets of metrics in this case.

**Remark 7.10.** To extend Theorem 7.5 to include non compactly supported deformations we need to solve several problems. The first problem is to find a suitable weighted Sobolev space where the Sobolev embeddings and the Rellich's Lemma hold. On the other hand, from equation (7.9) is clear that we need the existence of a maximizer of det( $\Delta$ ,  $\Delta_{1,0}$ ) inside the conformal class. As we noticed in Chapter 4, Remark 4.6 this is only possible if the function  $\varphi$  in the conformal factor decays in the cusps as  $y^{-1}$ , as  $y \to \infty$ . Therefore we should be able to define the relative determinant for this wider class of metrics. We also need a complete asymptotic expansion of the relative heat trace for small t since this asymptotic expansion is where the constancy of the heat invariants and their relation with the higher derivatives of the function  $\varphi$  comes from. Those are the necessary ingredients to obtain uniform boundedness of the Sobolev norms of the functions  $\varphi_n$ . Once we have all that, we need to improve the bounds such that the weighted Sobolev norms are uniformly bounded.

# Appendix A Sobolev spaces

Sobolev embedding theorems and Rellich's Lemma on closed manifolds are a key tool in the proof of compactness (up to diffeomorphism) of isospectral sets of metrics on closed surfaces, [34]. In the first part of this appendix we give the statement of these theorems. It is well known that for Sobolev spaces defined on surfaces with cusps these theorems do not hold any more. In the second part we give a brief description of the Sobolev spaces defined on surfaces with cusps.

#### A.1 Closed manifolds

In this part we give a brief description of Sobolev spaces for closed manifolds and state their main properties that are used in this thesis. We refer the reader to [24] and [43]. In [24] the authors define Sobolev spaces in the setting of Hermitian vector bundles with connection on a Riemannian manifold. The following definitions and results are presented as they are stated in [43, Chapter 4].

We assume that the theory of Sobolev spaces in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is well known to the reader. Let us recall the definition of the Sobolev space in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ :

$$H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \{ u \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n}) | (1 + |\xi|^{2})^{s/2} \hat{u}(\xi) \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \}$$

where  $\hat{u}$  denotes the Fourier transform of u. The sth-Sobolev norm of u is given by

$$||u||_{s}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (1+|\xi|)^{2s} |\hat{u}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

Let M be a compact manifold, and let  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(M)$ . We say that  $u \in H^s(M)$  provided that on any coordinate patch  $U \subset M$ , any  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ , the element  $\psi u \in \mathcal{E}'(U)$  belongs to  $H^s(U)$ , if Uis identified with its image in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . By the invariance under coordinate changes, it suffices to work with any single coordinate cover of M.

The Sobolev embedding theorems have several parts. Let us state only the part that is of interest for us:

**Theorem** Let M be a smooth compact manifold of dimension n, then

- 1. Sobolev embedding. If  $u \in H^s(M)$ , then  $u \in C^k(M)$ , provided  $s > \frac{n}{2} + k$ . The inclusion  $H^s(M) \subset C^k(M)$  is continuous.
- 2. Rellich's Lemma Given  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , the inclusion  $H^{s+\sigma}(M) \to H^s(M)$  is compact for all  $\sigma > 0$ .

The theorems above are also valid on complete open manifolds with bounded geometry. However it is well known that they are not valid in general.

#### A.2 Surfaces with cusps

In this part we refer to [36] and [32]. There, the authors define and study Sobolev spaces for Riemannian manifolds with bounded curvature. See these references for the details.

Let M be a Riemannian manifold with bounded curvature. We also assume that M is complete. Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , then the Sobolev space  $H^{2k}(M)$  is defined as:

$$H^{2k}(M) := \{ f \in L^2(M) | \Delta_g^l f \in L^2(M), \text{ for all } l = 1, \dots, k \},\$$

with the norm:

$$||f||_{H^{2k}} := ||(\Delta_g + I)^k f||_{L^2}.$$
(A.1)

The closure of  $C_0^{\infty}(M)$  in  $H^{2k}(M)$  is denoted by  $H_0^{2k}(M)$  and  $C^{\infty}(M) \cap H^{2k}(M)$  is dense in  $H^{2k}(M)$ . Let

$$\tilde{C}_k^{\infty}(M) = \{ f \in C^{\infty}(M) | (\Delta_g + I)^k f \in L^2(M) \},$$

then  $H^{2k}(M)$  is the completion of  $\tilde{C}_k^{\infty}(M)$  with respect to the norm defined in equation (A.1). Now for  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , let  $(\Delta_g + I)^{s/2}$  be defined by the spectral theorem. Let

$$\tilde{C}_{s}^{\infty}(M) = \{ f \in C^{\infty}(M) | (\Delta_{g} + I)^{s/2} f \in L^{2}(M) \},\$$

and define  $H^s(M)$  as the completion of  $\tilde{C}^{\infty}_s(M)$  respect to the norm:

$$||f||_{H^s} := ||(\Delta_g + I)^{s/2} f||_{L^2}.$$
(A.2)

Lemma 3.2 in [32] establishes that if M is complete, then  $H^{2k}(M) = H_0^{2k}(M)$ , for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Now let (M, g) be a surface with cusps, as it was described in Chapter 1. Let  $0 \leq s' \leq s$ , for  $\lambda \geq 0$  we have that  $(1 + \lambda)^{s'} \leq (1 + \lambda)^s$ . Therefore  $||f||_{H^{s'}} \leq ||f||_{H^s}$ . In this way we have that  $H^s(M) \subset H^{s'}(M)$ .

For s > 0, we claim that  $H^{-s}(M) \cong (H_0^s)^*(M)$ . First notice that  $H^s(M) \subset H_0^{-s}(M)$ . To see that, let  $f, \varphi \in H^s(M)$  and let  $\phi_f$  be the corresponding element in  $(H^s(M))'$ . Then for  $\varphi \in C_0^\infty(M)$  we have that  $\phi_f(\varphi) = \langle f, \varphi \rangle_{H^s(M)}$ , and  $|\phi_f(\varphi)| \leq ||f||_{H^s} ||\varphi||_{H^s}$ . Now,

$$\langle \phi_f, \varphi \rangle_{H^{-s}} = \langle (\Delta_g + I)^{-s/2} \phi_f, (\Delta_g + I)^{-s/2} \varphi \rangle_{L^2} = \langle \phi_f, (\Delta_g + I)^{-s} \varphi \rangle_{L^2} = \langle f, (\Delta_g + I)^{-s} \varphi \rangle_{H^s}$$
$$|\langle \phi_f, \varphi \rangle_{H^{-s}}| \le ||f||_{H^s} ||(\Delta_g + I)^{-s} \varphi ||_{H^s} = ||f||_{H^s} ||\varphi||_{H^{-s}}.$$

To see the isomorphism, consider the pairing  $C_0^{\infty}(M) \times C_0^{\infty}(M) \to \mathbb{C}$  given by:

$$(f,\varphi) := \langle f,\varphi \rangle_{L^2} = \int_M f\varphi \ dA_g.$$

This pairing has a continuous extension to  $H_0^{-s} \times H_0^s \to \mathbb{C}$ , since for  $f, \varphi \in C_0^\infty$  we have:

$$(f,\varphi) = \langle f,\varphi \rangle_{L^2} = \langle (\Delta_g + I)^{-s/2} f, (\Delta_g + I)^{s/2} \varphi \rangle_{L^2}$$

Let  $f \in H_0^{-s}$  and let  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ . Then:

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle f, \varphi \rangle_{L^2}| &= |\langle (\Delta_g + I)^{-s/2} f, (\Delta_g + I)^{s/2} \varphi \rangle_{L^2}| \le \| (\Delta_g + I)^{-s/2} f \|_{L^2} \| (\Delta_g + I)^{s/2} \varphi \|_{L^2} \\ &= \| f \|_{H^{-s}} \| \varphi \|_{H^s}. \end{aligned}$$

If s > 0 we have that  $H^s \subset L^2 \subset H^{-s}$ . The operator  $\Delta_q : H^2(M) \to L^2(M)$  is naturally continuous.

**Lemma A.1.** The operators  $\Delta_g + I : H_0^1(M) \to H_0^{-1}(M)$  and  $(\Delta_g + I)^{-1} : H_0^{-1}(M) \to H_0^1(M)$ are continuous.

*Proof.* Let us start with  $\Delta_g + I$ . Let  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ . Then

$$\|(\Delta_g + I)f\|_{H^{-1}} = \|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2}(\Delta_g + I)f\|_{L^2} = \|(\Delta_g + I)^{1/2}f\|_{L^2} = \|f\|_{H^1}$$

Now let  $f \in H^1_0(M)$ . Then there exists  $\{f_k\} \subset C^\infty_0(M)$  so that  $f_k \longrightarrow f$  in  $H^1(M)$ , that is,

$$||f_k - f||_{H^1(M)} = ||(\Delta_g + I)^{1/2} (f_k - f)||_{L^2} \to 0, \text{ as } k \to \infty,$$

in particular  $f_k \to f$  in  $L^2$ .

On the other hand,  $\|(\Delta_g+I)(f_k-f_j)\|_{H^{-1}} = \|f_k-f_j\|_{H^1} \to 0$  as  $k, j \to \infty$  therefore  $\{(\Delta_g+I)f_k\}$ it is a Cauchy sequence in  $H^{-1}(M)$  and there exists  $\psi \in H^{-1}(M)$  so that  $(\Delta_g + I)f_k \to \psi$  in  $H^{-1}(M)$ , thus  $\|(\Delta_g + I)f_k - \psi\|_{H^{-1}} \to 0$ . We just have to prove that  $(\Delta_g + I)f = \psi$  in  $H^{-1}(M)$ , i.e. in the distributional sense. Let  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ :

$$\langle (\Delta_g + I)f, \varphi \rangle = \langle f, (\Delta_g + I)\varphi \rangle = \lim_{k \to \infty} \langle f_k, (\Delta_g + I)\varphi \rangle = \lim_{k \to \infty} \langle (\Delta_g + I)f_k, \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi, \varphi \rangle.$$

Thus,  $\Delta_g + I : H_0^1(M) \to H_0^{-1}(M)$  is continuous. To prove continuity of  $(\Delta_g + I)^{-1} : H_0^{-1}(M) \to H_0^1(M)$  we proceed almost in the same way as in the previous case. Let  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ . Then

$$\|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1}f\|_{H^1} = \|(\Delta_g + I)^{1/2}(\Delta_g + I)^{-1}f\|_{L^2} = \|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2}f\|_{L^2} = \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Now let  $f \in H_0^{-1}(M)$ . Then there exists  $\{f_k\} \subset C_0^{\infty}(M)$  so that  $f_k \to f$  in  $H^{-1}(M)$ . That is,

$$||f_k - f||_{H^{-1}} = ||(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2}(f_k - f)||_{L^2} \to 0, \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

In the same way as above, we have that  $\{(\Delta_g + I)^{-1}f_k\}$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $H^1(M)$  and there exists  $\psi \in H^1(M)$  so that  $(\Delta_g + I)f_k \to \psi$  in  $H^1(M)$ , thus

$$\|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1} f_k - \psi\|_{H^1} = \|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2} f_k - (\Delta_g + I)^{1/2} \psi\|_0 \to 0.$$

As before, we have to prove that  $(\Delta_g + I)^{-1}f = g$  in  $H^1(M)$ . To do this, we proceed a little bit differently from the previous case. Let  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  so that for all k > N

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1} f - \psi\|_{H^1} &= \|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2} f - (\Delta_g + I)^{1/2} \psi\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2} (f - f_k)\|_{L^2} + \|(\Delta_g + I)^{-1/2} f_k - (\Delta_g + I)^{1/2} \psi\|_{L^2} \\ &< \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Thus  $(\Delta_g + I)^{-1}f = \psi$  and  $(\Delta_g + I)^{-1} : H_0^{-1}(M) \to H_0^1(M)$  is continuous. 

# Appendix B Spectral shift functions

In this part, we compute the spectral shift function associated to the Laplacian on the surface with cusps and the Dirichlet Laplacian on the cusps.

The general theory of spectral shift functions associates a function of a real variable to a pair of operators satisfying certain conditions. Let us mention two important aspects of spectral shift functions. The first is a trace formula. An important part of the theory is devoted to understanding what conditions on a pair of operators (A, B) and a function  $\varphi$  make the formula

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(A) - \varphi(B)) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi'(\lambda)\xi(\lambda)d\lambda$$

hold. The second aspect of the theory that we want to mention here is the relationship of spectral shift functions to the scattering matrix  $S(\lambda)$  that is given by the equation:

$$\det S(\lambda) = e^{-2\pi i\xi(\lambda)}$$

for almost every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ .

For the details, we refer to [3] [4] and [30]. Let H and  $H_0$  be two self-adjoint operators acting on a separable Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  such that their difference  $H - H_0$  is trace class. For  $z \in \rho(H_0)$ , the perturbation determinant is defined as

$$\Delta_{H/H_0}(z) = \det(I + (H - H_0)R_z(H(0))) = \det((H - z)(H_0 - z)^{-1}).$$

It is analytic in both half planes  $\operatorname{Im}(z) > 0$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(z) < 0$ . The trace class property of  $(H - H_0)R_z(H(0))$  implies that  $\Delta_{H/H_0}(z) \to 1$  as  $|\operatorname{Im}(z)| \to \infty$ . Let  $\varsigma(z) := \log \Delta_{H/H_0}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\xi(t)}{t-z} dt$ , for  $\operatorname{Im}(z) \neq 0$ . The branch of the logarithm is fixed by the condition  $\varsigma(z) \to 0$  as  $\operatorname{Im}(z) \to \infty$ . After analyzing the function  $\varsigma(z)$  close to the real line one obtains that:

$$\xi(\lambda) = \xi(\lambda; H, H_0) = \pi^{-1} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \arg \Delta_{H/H_0}(\lambda + i\varepsilon)$$

for almost every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . The spectral shift function  $\xi(\lambda)$  is real valued, belongs to  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$  and satisfies

$$\operatorname{Tr}(H - H_0) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \xi(\lambda) d\lambda, \qquad \|\xi\|_1 \le \|H - H_0\|_1$$

There is an invariance principle for spectral shift functions (named after the invariance principle in Scattering theory). This principle relates the spectral shift function associated to a pair  $(F(H), F(H_0))$ , for a suitable function F, with the one associated to a the pair  $(H, H_0)$ , see [4]:

$$\xi(\lambda; H, H_0) = \epsilon \ \xi(F(\lambda); F(H), F(H_0)), \qquad \epsilon = \operatorname{sgn} F',$$

where the spectral shift function on the left-hand side of the previous equation is obviously integrable only with a suitable weight. To finish this mini introduction let us include Proposition 2.1 in [30]:

**Proposition B.1.** ([30]) Let H,  $H_0$  be two nonnegative self-adjoint operators in  $\mathcal{H}$  and assume that  $e^{-tH} - e^{-tH_0}$  is a trace class operator for t > 0. Then there exists a unique real valued locally integrable function  $\xi(\lambda) = \xi(\lambda; H, H_0)$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  such that for each t > 0,  $e^{-t\lambda}\xi(\lambda) \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  and the following conditions hold:

- 1.  $\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH} e^{-tH_0}) = -t \int_0^\infty e^{-t\lambda} \xi(\lambda) d\lambda.$
- 2. For every  $\varphi \in \{f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R} | f \in L^1 \text{ and } \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\hat{f}(p)|(1+|p|)dp < \infty\}, \ \varphi(H) \varphi(H_0) \text{ is a trace class operator and}$

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(H) - \varphi(H_0)) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi'(\lambda)\xi(\lambda)d\lambda.$$

3.  $\xi(\lambda) = 0$  for  $\lambda < 0$ .

#### **B.1** Spectral shift function for a surface with cusps

Now let (M,g) be a surface with cusps as described in Chapter 1, where  $Z_{a_j} \simeq [a_j, \infty) \times S^1$  with  $a_j > 0, j = 1, \ldots, m$ . Let us consider the pair of self-adjoint operators  $(\Delta_g, \Delta_{0,D})$ , where  $\Delta_g$  is the Laplacian on the surface with cusps and  $\Delta_{0,D}$  denotes the operator  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^m \Delta_{Z_j,D}$ , where  $\Delta_{Z_j,D}$  is the self-adjoint extension of  $-y_j^2 \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_j^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}\right) : C_c^\infty(Z_{a_j}) \to L^2(Z_{a_j}, y_j^{-2}dy \, dx)$ , with respect to Dirichlet boundary conditions at  $\{a_j\} \times S^1$ . In what follows we compute  $\xi(\lambda; \Delta_g, \Delta_{0,D})$ .

Let us start decomposing the spectral shift function into its discrete and continuous parts:

$$\xi(\lambda, \Delta_g, \Delta_{0,D}) = \xi_d(\lambda) + \xi_c(\lambda).$$

For the discrete part, remember that we can decompose the operator  $\Delta_{0,D}$  as  $\Delta_{0,D} = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} (\Delta_{a_j,0} \oplus \Delta_{Z_j,1})$  where the operators  $\Delta_{Z_j,1}$  have only point spectrum. Therefore we have that

$$\xi_d(\lambda) = -N_g(\lambda) + \sum_{j=1}^m N_j(\lambda),$$

where  $N_g(\lambda) = \sum_{\lambda_i \leq \lambda} 1$  and  $\lambda_0 = 0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \ldots$  are the eigenvalues of  $\Delta_g$  and  $N_j(\lambda)$  is the counting function corresponding to  $\Delta_{Z_i,1}$ .

Now let us proceed with the continuous part. Let  $\Delta_{ac}$  denote the absolute continuous part of  $\Delta_g$  and let  $\bar{\Delta}_{a,0}$  denote  $\oplus_{j=1}^m \Delta_{a_j,0}$ . We know that for a suitable class of functions; we have that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(\Delta_{ac}) - \varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi'(\lambda)\xi_c(\lambda)d\lambda.$$
(B.1)

Let  $Y \gg \max\{a_j\}$ , let  $Z_{j,Y} = [Y, \infty)$  and let  $M_Y := M \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^m Z_{j,Y}$ . Then we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(\Delta_{ac}) - \varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})) = \lim_{Y \to \infty} \int_{M_Y} K_{c,\varphi}(z,z) \ dA_g(z) - \int_{M_Y} K_{0,\varphi}(z,z) \ dA_g(z), \tag{B.2}$$

where  $K_{c,\varphi}(z, z')$  and  $K_{0,\varphi}(z, z')$  are the kernels of the operators  $\varphi(\Delta_{ac})$  and  $\varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})$ , respectively. We use equations (B.1) and (B.2) to compute the spectral shift function explicitly. Using the spectral decomposition of the Laplacian we get:

$$K_{c,\varphi}(z,z') = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2) \sum_{j=1}^{m} E^j(z,\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda) E^j(z',\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda) d\lambda$$
$$K_{0,\varphi}(z,z') = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2) \sum_{j=1}^{m} e^j(y,\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda) e^j(y',\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda) d\lambda,$$

where  $E^{j}$  is the Eisenstein series associated with cusp  $Z_{a_{j}}$  and  $e^{j}$  is a function that satisfies the following equations in the cusp  $Z_{a_{j}}$ :

$$\begin{split} -y^2 \frac{d^2}{dy^2} e^j(y,s) &= s(1-s) e^j(y,s), \\ e^j(a_j,s) &= 0, \\ e^j(y,s) &= y^s + \psi(y,s), \end{split}$$

with  $\psi(y,s) \in L^2(\mathbb{Z}_{a_j})$ , for  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \frac{1}{2}$ . The solution to this problem is:

$$e^{j}(y,s) = y^{s} - a_{j}^{2s-1}y^{1-s}.$$

Integrating this function over the corresponding truncated cusp we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \int_{a_j}^{Y} |e^j(y, \frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)|^2 dA_g(y) &= \int_{a_j}^{Y} (2y - a_j^{2i\lambda} y^{1-2i\lambda} - a_j^{-2i\lambda} y^{1+2i\lambda}) \frac{dy}{y^2} \\ &= \left\{ 2\log(y) + \frac{a_j^{2i\lambda}}{2i\lambda} y^{-2i\lambda} - \frac{a_j^{-2i\lambda}}{2i\lambda} y^{2i\lambda} \right\} \Big|_{a_j}^{Y} = 2\log(Y) + \frac{a_j^{2i\lambda}}{2i\lambda} Y^{-2i\lambda} - \frac{a_j^{-2i\lambda}}{2i\lambda} Y^{2i\lambda} - 2\log(a_j). \end{split}$$

Now we want to compute the corresponding integral for the Eisenstein series associated to the cusp  $Z_{a_j}$ . In order to do this, define  $\widetilde{E}_Y^j$  by:

$$\widetilde{E}_Y^j(z,s) = \begin{cases} E^j(z,s) & \text{if } z \in M \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^m Z_{j,Y}, \\ E^j(z,s) - \delta_{ij} y_i^s - C_{ij}(s) y_i^{1-s} & \text{if } z \in Z_{i,Y}. \end{cases}$$

From Proposition 7.13 in [28], it follows that for 0 < Re(s) < 1,

$$\int_{M_Y} E^i(z,s) E^j(z,s') dA_g(z) = \langle \widetilde{E}^i(z,s), \widetilde{E}^j(z,s') \rangle + O(e^{-cY})$$

as  $Y \to \infty$ . Now let us use Lemma 7.23 in [28]:

$$\begin{split} \langle \widetilde{E}^{i}(z,\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda), \widetilde{E}^{j}(z,\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda') \rangle &= \delta_{ij} \frac{Y^{i(\lambda-\lambda')} - Y^{-i(\lambda-\lambda')}}{i(\lambda-\lambda')} \\ &+ Y^{-i(\lambda-\lambda')} \sum_{k=1}^{m} C_{ik}(\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda) \frac{C_{kj}(\frac{1}{2}-i\lambda) - C_{kj}(\frac{1}{2}-i\lambda')}{i(\lambda-\lambda')} \\ &+ \frac{1}{i(\lambda+\lambda')} (Y^{i(\lambda+\lambda')}C_{ji}(\frac{1}{2}-i\lambda') - Y^{-2i(\lambda-\lambda')}C_{ij}(\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda)) \end{split}$$

and let  $\lambda' \to \lambda$  to obtain

$$\begin{split} \langle \widetilde{E}^{i}(z,\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda), \widetilde{E}^{j}(z,\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda) \rangle &= \delta_{ij} 2\log(Y) + \ \left( C(\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2}-i\lambda) \right)_{i,j} \\ &+ \ \frac{1}{2i\lambda} (Y^{2i\lambda}C_{ji}(\frac{1}{2}-i\lambda) - Y^{-2i\lambda}C_{ij}(\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda)). \end{split}$$

In this way we obtain that:

$$\begin{split} \int_{M_Y} |E(z,s)|^2 dA_g(z) &= \sum_{j=1}^m \int_{M_Y} |E^j(z,s)|^2 dA_g(z) \\ &= 2m \log(Y) + \operatorname{Tr} \left( C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda) \frac{d}{ds} C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda) \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2i\lambda} \left( Y^{2i\lambda} \operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)) - Y^{-2i\lambda} \operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)) \right) + O(e^{-cY}). \end{split}$$

Put everything together for equation (B.2); we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{M_Y} K_{c,\varphi}(z,z) dA_g(z) - \int_{M_Y} K_{0,\varphi}(z,z) dA_g(z) \\ &= \int_{M_Y} \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^m |E^j(z,\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)|^2 - \sum_{j=1}^m |e^j(z,\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)|^2\right) dA_g(z) \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right) \left\{2m\log(Y) + \operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)\right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{2i\lambda} \left(Y^{2i\lambda}\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)) - Y^{-2i\lambda}\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda))\right) - 2m\log(Y) \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^m \left\{\frac{1}{2i\lambda} (a_j^{2i\lambda}Y^{-2i\lambda} - a_j^{-2i\lambda}Y^{2i\lambda}) - 2\log(a_j)\right\} + O(e^{-cY})\right\} d\lambda \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right) \left\{\operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)\right) + \frac{1}{2i\lambda}Y^{2i\lambda}(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)) + \sum_{j=1}^m a_j^{-2i\lambda}) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{1}{2i\lambda}Y^{-2i\lambda}(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)) + \sum_{j=1}^m a_j^{2i\lambda}) + \sum_{j=1}^m 2\log(a_j) + O(e^{-cY})\right\} d\lambda. \end{split}$$

Hence we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(\Delta_{ac}) - \varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})) \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^{2}\right) \lim_{Y \to \infty} \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\log(a_{j}) \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{2i\lambda} Y^{2i\lambda}(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{j}^{-2i\lambda}) - \frac{1}{2i\lambda} Y^{-2i\lambda}(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{j}^{2i\lambda}) + O(e^{-cY}) \right\} d\lambda \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^{2}\right) \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\log(a_{j}) \right\} d\lambda \\ &+ \lim_{Y \to \infty} \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^{2}\right) \left\{ \frac{1}{2i\lambda} Y^{2i\lambda}(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{j}^{-2i\lambda}) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{1}{2i\lambda} Y^{-2i\lambda}(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{j}^{2i\lambda}) \right\} d\lambda. \end{split}$$

Write  $Y^{2i\lambda} = \cos(2\lambda \log Y) + i \sin(2\lambda \log Y)$ . Then the last integral is the difference of the two following terms

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right) \left(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)) + \operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)) + \sum_{j=1}^m a_j^{2i\lambda} + a_j^{-2i\lambda}) \frac{\sin(2\lambda \log Y)}{2\lambda} d\lambda, \text{ and} \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right) \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)) - \operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)) + \sum_{j=1}^m a_j^{2i\lambda} - a_j^{-2i\lambda}}{2\lambda} \cos(2\lambda \log Y) d\lambda.$$

Taking the limit as  $Y \to \infty$  we obtain:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(\Delta_{ac}) - \varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right) \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2}) - i\lambda\right) + \sum_{j=1}^m 2\log(a_j) \right\} d\lambda + \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2})) + m}{4}.$$

Now we are ready to compute the spectral shift function. We first consider  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\varphi(1/4) = 0$ . Then the previous equation becomes:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(\Delta_{ac}) - \varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right) \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2}) - i\lambda\right) + \sum_{j=1}^m 2\log(a_j) \right\} d\lambda.$$

Now let us use the fact that the functions  $\varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right)$ , Tr  $\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda)\right)$  and the constants are even, thus so it is the integrand. Therefore we obtain:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(\Delta_{ac}) - \varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty \varphi\left(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2\right) \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2}) - i\lambda\right) + \sum_{j=1}^m 2\log(a_j) \right\} d\lambda.$$

Let us also call  $\rho(\lambda) = \text{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2}+i\lambda)\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2}-i\lambda)\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\log(a_j)$ . Then the change of variables  $\lambda' = 1/4 + \lambda^2$  and integration by parts give:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(\Delta_{ac})-\varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{1/4}^{\infty} \varphi(\lambda') \frac{\rho(\sqrt{\lambda'-1/4})}{\sqrt{\lambda'-1/4}} d\lambda' = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{1/4}^{\infty} \varphi'(\lambda') \int_{1/4}^{\lambda'} \frac{g(\sqrt{\lambda}-1/4)}{\sqrt{\lambda}-1/4} d\lambda' d\lambda',$$

where we used  $\frac{d}{d\lambda'} \int_{1/4}^{\lambda'} \frac{\rho(\sqrt{\lambda}-1/4)}{\sqrt{\lambda}-1/4} d\widetilde{\lambda} = \frac{\rho(\sqrt{\lambda'-1/4})}{\sqrt{\lambda'-1/4}}$ . In this way, we have for the spectral shift function that:

$$\widetilde{\xi}_c(\lambda') := \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{1/4}^{\lambda'} \frac{\rho(\sqrt{\lambda} - 1/4)}{\sqrt{\lambda} - 1/4} \ d\widetilde{\lambda} - \frac{(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2})) + m)}{4} & \text{if } \lambda' \ge \frac{1}{4} \\ 0 & \text{if } \lambda' < \frac{1}{4}. \end{cases}$$

Now let  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \int_{1/4}^{\infty} \varphi'(\lambda') \widetilde{\xi}_c(\lambda') d\lambda' &= \varphi(\lambda') \widetilde{\xi}_c(\lambda') \Big|_{\lambda'=1/4}^{\infty} + \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{1/4}^{\infty} \varphi(\lambda') \frac{g(\sqrt{\lambda'-1/4})}{\sqrt{\lambda'-1/4}} d\lambda' \\ &= \varphi(1/4) \frac{(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2})) + m)}{4} + \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{1/4}^{\infty} \varphi(\lambda') \frac{g(\sqrt{\lambda'-1/4})}{\sqrt{\lambda'-1/4}} d\lambda'. \end{split}$$

In the last integral, make the inverse substitution  $\lambda = \sqrt{\lambda' - 1/4}$  to get:

$$\int_{1/4}^{\infty} \varphi'(\lambda') \widetilde{\xi}_c(\lambda') d\lambda' = \varphi(1/4) \frac{(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2})) + m)}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{\infty} \varphi(1/4 + \lambda^2) \rho(\lambda) d\lambda$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}(\varphi(\Delta_{ac}) - \varphi(\bar{\Delta}_{a,0})) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi'(\lambda') \xi_c(\lambda') d\lambda'.$$

Since  $\widetilde{\xi}_c(\lambda') = 0$  for  $\lambda' < 1/4$ , for any  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{d\varphi}{d\lambda'}(\lambda')(\tilde{\xi}_c(\lambda') - \xi_c(\lambda'))d\lambda' = 0.$$

By ellipticity of  $\frac{d}{d\lambda'}$ , it follows that  $\tilde{\xi}_c - \xi_c \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  and

$$\frac{d}{d\lambda'}(\widetilde{\xi_c}(\lambda') - \xi_c(\lambda')) = 0,$$

thus  $\widetilde{\xi_c}(\lambda') - \xi_c(\lambda') = c$ , a constant function. Recall that  $\xi_c(\lambda')$  is the absolutely continuous part of the spectral shift function  $\xi(\lambda; \Delta, \Delta_0)$  and  $\sigma_{ac}(\Delta) = \sigma_{ac}(\overline{\Delta}_{a,0}) = [1/4, \infty)$ . It follows from the properties of the spectral shift function that  $\xi_c(\lambda') = 0$  for  $\lambda' < 1/4$ . Since  $\tilde{\xi}_c(\lambda') = 0$ , for  $\lambda' < 1/4$ we have that c = 0, therefore  $\xi_c(\lambda') = \widetilde{\xi}_c(\lambda')$ . Finally we obtain:

$$\xi_c(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{\sqrt{\lambda - 1/4}} \operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\tilde{\lambda})\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2} - i\tilde{\lambda})\right) d\tilde{\lambda} - \frac{(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2})) + m)}{4} - \frac{\sqrt{\lambda - 1/4}}{2\pi} \sum_{j=1}^m \log a_j,$$

if  $\lambda \geq \frac{1}{4}$ , and otherwise  $\xi_c(\lambda) = 0$ .

### **B.2** Spectral shift function for $(\Delta, \Delta_{1,0})$

Now consider the Laplacian  $\Delta_{1,0}$  that is the self adjoint extension of the direct sum of

$$-y_j^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_j^2} : C_0^\infty([1,\infty)) \to L^2([1,\infty), \frac{dy_j}{y_j^2})$$

obtained by imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions at  $y_j = 1$ , for all  $1 \le j \le m$ . In this case the kernel of  $\varphi(\Delta_{1,0})$  is

$$\hat{K}_{1,0,\varphi}(z,z') = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi(\frac{1}{4} + \lambda^2) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \hat{e}^j(y,\frac{1}{2} + i\lambda) \hat{e}^j(y',\frac{1}{2} - i\lambda) d\lambda,$$

where  $\hat{e}^j$  satisfy the following equations on  $[1,\infty)$ :

$$\begin{aligned} -y^2 \frac{d^2}{dy^2} \hat{e}^j(y,s) &= s(1-s)\hat{e}^j(y,s), \\ \hat{e}^j(1,s) &= 0, \\ e^j(y,s) &= y^s + \varphi(y,s). \end{aligned}$$

Then in the previous proof the only changes are that  $a_j = 1$ , for  $1 \le j \le m$ , and that the term involving  $\log(a_j)$  becomes null. Therefore we obtain:

$$\xi_c(\lambda; \Delta, \Delta_{1,0}) := \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{\sqrt{\lambda - 1/4}} \operatorname{Tr}\left(C(\frac{1}{2} + i\tilde{\lambda})\frac{d}{ds}C(\frac{1}{2} - i\tilde{\lambda})\right) & d\tilde{\lambda} - \frac{(\operatorname{Tr}(C(\frac{1}{2})) + m)}{4} & \text{if } \lambda \ge \frac{1}{4} \\ 0 & \text{if } \lambda < \frac{1}{4}. \end{cases}$$

## Bibliography

- [1] L. Bers, A remark on Mumford's compactness theorem. Israel J. Math. Vol. 12, 1972.
- [2] U. Bunke, *Relative Index Theory*. Journal of Functional Analysis 105, 63-76 (1992).
- [3] M. Sh. Birman and M. G. Krejn, On the theory of wave operators and scattering operators. (English. Russian original) Sov. Math., Dokl. 3, 740-744 (1962).
- [4] M. Sh. Birman and D. R. Yafaev, The spectral shift function. The work of M. G. Krein and its further development. St. Petersburg Math. J. Vol. 4 (1993), No. 5. 833-870.
- [5] D. Burghelea, L. Friedlander and T. Kappeler, *Meyer-Vietoris Type Formula for Determinants of Elliptic Differential Operators*. Journal of Functional Analysis 107, 34-65 (1992).
- [6] M. Berger, P. Gauduchon and E. Mazet, Le Spectre d'une Variété Riemanniene. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 194 Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York 1971.
- [7] G. Carron, Determinant relatif et la fonction Xi. Amer. J. Math. 124 (2002), no. 2, 307-352.
- [8] H. S. Carslaw and J. C. Jaeger, Conduction of heat in solids. Second Edition. Oxford, 1959.
- [9] I. Chavel, *Eigenvalues in Riemannian Geometry*. Academic Press, 1984.
- [10] J. Cheeger, M. Gromov and M. Taylor, Finite propagation speed, kernel estimates for functions of the Laplace operator, and the geometry of complete Riemannian manifolds. J. Differential Geom. 17 (1982), no. 1, 15–53.
- [11] S. Y. Cheng, P. Li and S. T. Yau, On the Upper Estimate of the Heat Kernel of a Complete Riemannian Manifold, Am. J. Math., Vol. 103, No. 5. (1981), pp. 1021-1063.
- [12] Y. Colin de Verdiere, Une nouvelle dmonstration du prolongement mromorphe des sries d'Eisenstein. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris, Sr. I 293, 361-363 (1981).
- [13] E. B. Davies, Pointwise bounds on the space and time derivatives of heat kernels. J. Operator Theory 21 (1989), 367-378.
- [14] H. Donnelly, Essential Spectrum and Heat Kernel. Journal of Functional Analysis 75, 362-381 (1987).
- [15] J. Dodziuk, Maximum principle for parabolic inequalities and the heat flow on open manifolds. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 32 (1983), no. 5, 703–716.

- [16] P. Gilkey, The spectral geometry of a Riemannian manifold. J. Differential Geom. Volume 10, Number 4 (1975), 601-618.
- [17] H. Iwaniec, Spectral methods of Automorphic forms. Second edition. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 53. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI.
- [18] A. Hassell and S. Zelditch, Determinants of Laplacians in Exterior domains IMRN International Mathematics Research Notices. 1999, No. 18. 971-1004.
- [19] J. Jorgenson and R. Lundelius, A regularized heat trace for hyperbolic Riemann surfaces of finite volume. Comment. Math. Helv. 72, 636-659, (1997).
- [20] M. Kac, Can one hear the shape of a drum?. Amer. Math. Monthly 73 (1966), 1-23.
- [21] T. Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators. New York: Springer, 1980.
- [22] Y-H. Kim, Surfaces with boundary: Their uniformizations, determinants of Laplacians, and Isospectrality. Duke Math. J. 144 (2008), no. 1, 73–107.
- [23] H. H. Khuri, Heights on the moduli space of Riemann surfaces with circle boundaries. Duke Math. J. Vol. 64, No. 3 (Dec. 1991), 555-570.
- [24] H. B. Lawson and M. L. Michelsohn, Spin Geometry. Princeton Mathematical Series, 38. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1989.
- [25] P. Loya and J. Park, Decomposition od the ζ-determinant for the Laplacian on manifolds with cylindrical end. Illinois J. Math. 48 (2004), no. 4, 1279–1303
- [26] R. Lundelius, Asymptotics of the determinant of the Laplacian on hyperbolic surfaces of finite volume. Duke Math. J. 71 (1993), no. 1, 211-242.
- [27] R. Melrose, The inverse spectral problem for planar domains in Instructional Workshop on Analysis and Geometry, Part I. (Canberra, 1995), Proc. Centre Math. Appl. Austral. Nat. Univ. 34, Austral. Nat. Univ. Canberra, 1996.
- [28] W. Müller, Spectral theory for Riemannian manifolds with cusps and a related trace formula. Math. Nachr. 111 (1983) 197-288.
- [29] W. Müller, Spectral geometry and scattering theory for certain complete surfaces of finite volume. Invent. math. 109, 265-303. (1992).
- [30] W. Müller, Relative zeta functions, relative determinants, and scattering theory. Comm. Math. Physics 192 (1998), 309-347.
- [31] J. Müller and W. Müller, Regularized determinants of Laplace type operators, analytic surgery and relative determinants. Duke Math. J., Vol 133, No. 2 (2006), 259-312.
- [32] W. Müller and G. Salomonsen, Scattering theory for the Laplacian on manifolds with bounded curvature. 2006.
- [33] B. Osgood, R. Phillips and P. Sarnak, Extremal of Determinants of Laplacians. Journ. Funct. Analysis 80, 148-211, 1988.

- [34] B. Osgood, R. Phillips and P. Sarnak, Compact Isospectral sets of surfaces. Journ. Funct. Analysis 80, 212-234, 1988.
- [35] B. Osgood, R. Phillips and P. Sarnak, Moduli Space, Heights and Isospectral sets of Plane Domains. Annals of Mathematics, 2nd Ser., VOI. 129, No. 2. (Mar., 1989), 293-362.
- [36] G. Salomosen, Equivalence of Sobolev Spaces. Results Math. 39 (2001), no. 1-2, 115–130.
- [37] P. Sarnark, Extremal Geometries. Extremal Riemann surfaces (San Francisco, CA, 1995), 1-7, Contemp. Math., 201, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997.
- [38] R. T. Seeley, Complex powers of an elliptic operator Singular Integrals (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Chicago, Ill., 1996) pp. 288-307. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I.
- [39] A. Selberg, Collected papers. Vol. I and II. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991.
- [40] T. Sunada, Riemannian coverings and isospectral manifolds. Annals of Mathematics, Second Series, Vol. 121. No. 1 (Jan., 1985), 169-186.
- [41] D. B. Ray and I. M. Singer, *R*-torsion and the Laplacian on Riemannian Manifolds. Advances in Mathematics 7, 145-210 (1971).
- [42] K. Richardson, Critical points of the determinant of the Laplace operator. J. Funct. Anal. 122 (1994), no. 1, 52–83.
- [43] M. E. Taylor, Partial Differential Equations I. Basic theory. Applied Mathematical Sciences, 115. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996.
- [44] M. E. Taylor, Partial Differential Equations II. Qualitative studies of linear equations Applied Mathematical Sciences, 116. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996.
- [45] S. A. Wolpert, Asymptotics of the spectrum and the Selberg zeta function on the space of Riemann surfaces. Commun. Math. Phys. 112, 283-315 (1987).
- [46] S. Zelditch, The inverse spectral problem. arXiv:math.SP/0402356 v1. 23 Feb. 2004.